# AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF NEW HAVEN

# **AND**

# NEW HAVEN POLICE UNION ELM CITY LOCAL, CACP

JULY 1, 2016 — JUNE 30, 2022

# Table Of Contents

# Page

PREAMBLE		1
ARTICLE 1	- Recognition	1
ARTICLE 2	- Union Security And Dues Deductions	2
ARTICLE 3	- Grievance Procedure	3
ARTICLE 4	- Discharge And Discipline	5
ARTICLE 5	- Sick Leave	7
ARTICLE 6	- Funeral Leave	11
ARTICLE 7	- Uniforms And Clothing Allowance	12
ARTICLE 8	- Holidays	15
ARTICLE 9	- Overtime	17
ARTICLE 10	- Vacations	20
ARTICLE 11	- Seniority	23
ARTICLE 12	- Hours Of Work	24
ARTICLE 13	- Extra Police Duty	32
ARTICLE 14	- Pensions	36
ARTICLE 15	- Rates Of Pay	47
ARTICLE 16	- Group Life & Health Plans	51
ARTICLE 17	- Residency	58
ARTICLE 18	- Management Rights	58
ARTICLE 19	- Educational Incentive	58
ARTICLE 20	- No Strike	59
ARTICLE 21	- Layoff And Recall	59
ARTICLE 22	- Prior Benefits	60
ARTICLE 23	- Personal Day	60
ARTICLE 24	- Training	60
ARTICLE 25	- General Provisions	61
ARTICLE 26	- Commanders	66
ARTICLE 27	- Substance Abuse Policy	67
ARTICLE 28	- Duration	76
MEMORANDUM	M OF UNDERSTANDING	77
APPENDIX A-1	- Plan Summaries – Current Plans	81
APPENDIX A-2	- Lumenos HDHP Plan and Century Preferred PPO Plan	89

APPENDIX B	- Health Incentive Plan (HIP)	93
APPENDIX C	- Prescription, Vision and Dental Summaries	95

#### **PREAMBLE**

This Agreement entered into by the City of New Haven, hereinafter referred to as the City, and the New Haven Police Union Elm City Local, CACP, hereinafter referred to as the Union, has as its purpose the promotion of harmonious relations between the City and the Union, the establishment of an equitable and peaceful procedure for the resolution of differences, and establishment of rates of pay, hours of work, working privileges or benefits or any other matters that come within the general meaning of the terms, working conditions or conditions of employment, as provided for in the Municipal Employee Relations Act of the State of Connecticut.

The parties agree that all Memorandums of Understanding, Labor Stipulations, Memorandums of Agreements and/or similar documents that were in existence prior to the ratification of this agreement have either been incorporated into this agreement or have been deemed void.

# **ARTICLE 1 - Recognition**

#### Section 1

The City recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all full time and permanent investigatory and uniformed members of the Police Department up to and including the rank of Commander ("employees" or "bargaining unit members" or "members" or "Police Officers").

New hires and laterally transferred police officers shall be considered bargaining unit employees upon graduation from the police academy or upon being sworn in as a permanent police officer in the case of someone who does not go through the police academy. New hires and lateral hires shall be considered to be on probation for 24 months from their date of appointment. During the probationary period of said employees, the Board of Police Commissioners may terminate the employment of any such employee if, during this period upon observation and consideration of his or her performance of duty and adherence to City, Department, and Academy rules, they shall deem him or her unfit for such appointment.

Excluded from the bargaining unit are the Assistant Chief and the Chief. The following positions may be filled with civilians or with bargaining unit members: Records Clerks, the Training Coordinator and the Superintendent of Vehicles. The following positions shall be filled by civilians: dispatch supervisors, dispatchers, auto mechanics, building maintenance employees, detail room employees, dispatch assistants, printers, property and evidence room employees, superintendent of maintenance, supply clerks and the position of chief Fiscal Officer within the Police Department.

#### **ARTICLE 2 - Union Security And Dues Deductions**

#### Section 1

All present bargaining unit employees shall either become members of the Union or shall arrange to pay the Union a monthly service fee in lieu of Union dues, as a condition of employment.

Upon the successful completion of the minimum mandated State training and certification, all new employees shall either join the Union or pay a monthly service fee as a condition of employment. Mandated training and certification shall include local training (which at present is eighty [80] hours). Said service fee shall be determined by the Union, and shall represent the employee's fair share of the cost of administering and negotiating a collective bargaining agreement. However, in no event shall the monthly service fee be greater than the monthly dues for union members.

If an employee fails to comply with this Article the Union shall certify through a written affidavit to the Director of Labor Relations that said employee has not paid the required Union dues and/or service fee. The Director of Labor Relations shall take appropriate action to terminate the employee within 30 days from the date of receipt of the written affidavit.

#### Section 2

The City agrees to deduct Union dues or service fees from the pay of employees who give written authorization to the City's Controller for such deductions and transmit dues collected to the authorized Union officer designated in writing to the Controller of the City of New Haven by the President and Treasurer of the Union, so long as this authorization is validly in effect and not revoked by the employee.

#### Section 3

Deduction shall be made no later than the second pay check of each month. If an employee who is absent on account of sickness, leave of absence, or for any other reason has no earnings due him or her during said deduction period, no deductions will be made from that employee for that period. The Union will arrange collection of dues or service fees in such instances directly from the employee.

#### Section 4

When an employee does not have sufficient money due him or her after deductions have been made for pension, social security, garnishments, or any other deductions authorized by the employee or required by law, Union dues or service fees for the deduction period will be collected by the Union directly from the employee.

#### Section 5

It is agreed that when a member is returned to the payroll of the City, the City shall reactivate the deduction of his or her dues or service fee.

The Union agrees to save the City harmless from any action growing out of this Article and commenced by any employee or other person against the City, and assumes full responsibility for the disposition of the funds so deducted once they have been turned over to the authorized responsible Union Official.

# **ARTICLE 3 - Grievance Procedure**

#### Section 1Purpose

The purpose of the grievance procedure shall be to settle employee grievances on as low an administrative level as is possible and practicable, so as to insure efficiency and employee morale.

#### Section 2Definition

A grievance shall be considered to be a dispute between an employee and/or the Union and the City, and/or any of its agents, servants, employees, officials, boards or commissions concerning the interpretation and application of any of the provisions of this Agreement, including the discharge, suspension, demotion or other discipline of an employee.

Probationary employees shall not have recourse to the Grievance Procedure arbitration provision under Article 3.

#### Section 3Procedure

Any employee may use this grievance procedure with or without Union assistance. In the event that an employee is aggrieved, he or she shall, prior to initiating a grievance at STEP ONE, discuss the subject of his or her aggrievement with the head of his or her division and a Union representative within fifteen (15) days after the event giving rise to the grievance, or within fifteen (15) days of when the employee would reasonably have had knowledge of the occurrence giving rise to the grievance. No such discussion shall be conducted in the absence of a Union representative. No grievance settlement made as a result of an individually processed grievance shall contravene the provisions of this Agreement.

Step One: If the Union and/or any employee claims to be aggrieved by the action or inaction of the City and/or of its agents, servants, employees, officials, boards or commissions, either must submit the grievance in writing to the Chief of Police or his or her designee within fifteen (15) days after when the Union and/or employee would reasonably have had knowledge of the occurrence giving rise to the grievance, or within fifteen (15) days after the discussion with the Division Head, referred to above, whichever is later. The Chief or his or her designee shall set up a meeting between the parties within ten (10) days and shall answer the grievance, in writing, within ten (10) days after receipt of said grievance, setting forth his or her decision.

Step Two: If the employee and/or the Union are not satisfied with the decision at Step One of the grievance procedure, either must submit the grievance to the Director of Labor Relations or his or her designee within ten (10) days after receipt of the decision rendered by the Chief of Police or his designee. The Director of Labor Relations, or his or her designee, shall render his

or her decision in writing within ten (10) days after he or she has met and discussed the grievance with the Union. The grievance hearing at Step Two must be held within thirty (30) days of receipt of the grievance by the Director of Labor Relations.

Step Three: If the decision of the Director of Labor Relations is not satisfactory to the Union or the employee, the Union may submit the matter to the Connecticut Board of Mediation and Arbitration or the American Arbitration Association with a copy to the Director of Labor Relations within fifteen (15) days after receipt of said decision. Within thirty (30) working days after receipt of the Union's submission to arbitration the City may, up to a limit of five (5) cases per calendar year, remove any case filed to the Connecticut State Board of Mediation and Arbitration to the American Arbitration Association. The decision of the Arbitrator(s) shall be final and binding with respect to the employee, the Union, the City, its agents, servants, employees, officials, and its boards and commissions.

#### Section 4

The Union and the City, on behalf of themselves and their agents, servants, employees, officials, boards and commissions, hereby empower and confer upon the Connecticut Board of Mediation and Arbitration and the American Arbitration Association Arbitrator the following powers and authority:

- (a) To interpret and apply the provisions of this Agreement.
- (b) In grievances involving the discharge or other discipline of an employee, to conduct a <u>de novo</u> hearing, in accordance with the rules of said Board or Association for the purpose of determining whether said discharge or discipline was for just cause, as required by Article 4 hereof, and, in connection therewith, to uphold, rescind, reverse or modify the discharge or discipline of any employee by the City or any of its agents, servants, employees, boards or commissions. Grievances concerning the discharge or other discipline of an employee are hereby acknowledged to be disputes concerning the interpretation and application of the provisions of this Agreement, including but not limited to Article 4 hereof, and to that end the parties agree that in such matters, said Arbitrator(s) is specifically empowered to receive evidence of alleged misconduct by the employee involved, as well as any defense, denial, or other evidence controverting or concerning such allegation, or relating thereto, or in mitigation thereof for the purpose of interpreting and applying the provisions of this Agreement, including but not limited to, the provisions of Article 4 hereof.
  - (c) To award the grievant and/or the Union a remedy if it sustains the grievance.
- (d) The Arbitrator(s) jurisdiction to make an award shall be limited by the submission and confined to the interpretation and/or application of the provisions of this Agreement. The Arbitrator(s) shall not have the jurisdiction to make an award which has the effect of amending, altering, enlarging or ignoring the provisions of this Agreement in effect at the time of the occurrence of the grievance being arbitrated, nor shall the Arbitrator(s) have jurisdiction to determine that the parties have amended or supplemented this Agreement, unless such amendment and/or supplemental agreement has, in fact, been made.
- (e) In addition to the above, by mutual agreement, the parties may elect to use the expedited arbitration procedures, in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Connecticut

Board of Mediation and Arbitration, for any grievances involving disciplinary actions of less than a five (5) day suspension without pay and/or any grievances concerning the interpretation and application of routine contractual issues and provisions.

#### Section 5

If any of the decisions to be rendered by the City or its agents in Steps 1-3 above are not rendered within the time limitations specified herein, said grievance shall pass to the next step.

# Section 6

Time extensions beyond those stipulated in this grievance procedure may be arrived at by the written mutual agreement of the parties concerned.

#### Section 7

Either party shall have the right to employ a public stenographer or use a mechanical recording device at any step in this procedure.

# Section 8

If a grievance is not submitted and/or appealed within the prescribed time limits herein above, said grievance shall be deemed settled.

# **ARTICLE 4 - Discharge And Discipline**

#### Section 1

No permanent employee shall be discharged, suspended, demoted or disciplined in any other manner except for just cause.

#### Section 2

A grievance concerning the discharge or other discipline of an employee shall be deemed to be a dispute over the interpretation and application of this Article and the Arbitrator(s) is specifically authorized to determine whether the facts of such a case constitute just cause.

# Section 3

The Chief shall have the power to suspend, without pay, any employee, provided, however, that no such suspension shall be continued for a period of more than fifteen (15) days without affirmative action of the Board of Police Commissioners, which action shall not be taken until after a hearing upon charges preferred in writing.

Discipline other than that described in Section 3 shall be awarded only by the Board of Police Commissioners after notice to the employee, a hearing and finding of just cause. At all such hearings, all witnesses shall be sworn and the employee shall have the right to representation of his or her choice, provided that the employee shall be solely responsible for the cost of such representation, unless the services of the Union attorney are utilized. Such hearings shall be closed to the public, including the press, unless the employee requests a public hearing. The employee and the Union shall be notified in writing of the decision rendered by said Arbitrator(s).

Employees (exclusive of the Officer charged) who are required to attend such hearings as witnesses when off duty shall be compensated for such appearance by receiving straight time pay for all hours while in attendance at the hearing.

#### Section 5

Whenever an Internal Affairs Investigation and/or a Civilian Complaint is made against a member or group of members of the Department relating to his or her or their conduct as an Officer, or the manner in which such Officer discharges his or her duties and such complaint results in a hearing or inquiry, said member shall be entitled to be represented by the Union attorney, a Union representative or an attorney of his or her own choosing at his or her own expense.

# Section 6

Any grievance brought in connection with the actions of the Chief and/or Board of Police Commissioners concerning the disciplining of a Police Officer shall be immediately instituted in writing within fifteen (15) days with the Director of Labor Relations at Step Two of Article 3, Grievance Procedure.

#### Section 7

- (A) All verbal and written warnings and reprimands shall be removed from the employee's personnel file, in accordance with existing State law, after a period of one (1) year if there has been no similar reoccurrences of the infraction and the employee has a good work record. (There shall be no right to grieve verbal warnings, written warnings or reprimands unless they are used as the basis for further discipline.)
- (B) All other disciplinary actions (i.e., suspensions) shall be removed from the employee's personnel file, in accordance with existing State law, after a period of three (3) years if there has been no reoccurrences of the infraction and the employee has a good work record.
- (C) After the removal of an employee's disciplinary record, as prescribed above, the Union agrees to withdraw such discipline from any grievance and/or arbitration proceedings.
- (D) Whenever any disciplinary and/or adverse information is placed in an employee's personnel file, said employee shall be immediately informed of such.

#### **ARTICLE 5 - Sick Leave**

#### Section 1

Sick leave shall be considered to be the absence from duty with pay for the following reasons:

- (a) Illness or injury, except where directly traceable to employment by an employer other than the City of New Haven.
- (b) When the employee is required to undergo medical, optical or dental treatment and only when this cannot be accomplished on off-duty hours.
- (c) When the serious illness of a member of the employee's immediate family requires him or her personally to attend to the sick person. It is agreed that the immediate family is the employee's spouse and children.

#### Section 2

Employees may be absent from duty without loss of sick time and with pay for the following reasons:

- (a) If the employee loses time because of sickness for which he or she is entitled to compensation under the Workers' Compensation Act, he or she shall receive benefits equal to normal full pay for the period of the disability, with the City making up the difference in the amount of such compensation received and the normal amount of weekly pay.
- (b) If an employee loses time because of an injury sustained in the line of duty for which he or she is entitled to compensation under the Workers' Compensation Act, he or she shall receive benefits equal to normal full pay for that period of disability with the City making up the difference in the amount of such compensation received and the normal amount of weekly pay
- (c) When an employee in the performances of his or her duty, is exposed to a contagious disease, and contracts this disease.
- (d) In addition to existing rights the City has or may have to recover Workers' Compensation payments from responsible third parties, the City shall have the right to recover any payment made by it to supplement said benefits pursuant to this Section, from such a responsible third party. If the employee recovers a judgment or otherwise settles his or her claim against a responsible third party, the City shall be reimbursed by the employee to the extent of the benefits paid by it under this Section.

#### Section 3 Sick Leave Allowance

(a) Sick leave allowance shall be earned by each employee at the rate of one (1) working day for each calendar month of service, the total of which shall not exceed twelve (12) working days in any twelve months.

- (b) Sick leave earned in any month of service shall be available at any time during any subsequent month.
- (c) No sick leave with pay in excess of the leave accumulated to any employee's credit may be used unless authorized in advance by the Chief of Police. Such authorization shall not exceed one year's sick leave allowance.

#### Section 4 Sick Leave Accumulation

- (a) All unused sick leave of any employee during continuous employment may be accumulated up to a maximum of one hundred fifty (150) working days. Any sick leave accumulated over one hundred fifty (150) days shall be credited in a unit wide Sick Leave Bank to be managed as specified in Section 8 below.
- (b) No credit towards accumulated sick leave shall be granted for time worked by an employee in excess of his or her normal work week.
- (c) Sick leave shall continue to accumulate during leaves of absence with pay and during the time an employee is on authorized sick leave, injury leave, or vacation time.
- (d) Sick leave shall not continue to accumulate during leaves of absence without pay or when an employee is on suspension without pay.

#### Section 5 Medical Certificate

A medical certificate, acceptable to the Chief, is required:

- (a) For any period of absence consisting of more than three (3) consecutive working days.
- (b) When it is reasonably presumed that a member of the immediate family is suffering from a contagious disease which may endanger the health of other employees of the Department.
- (c) For frequent or habitual absence from duty, and when there is reasonable cause for requiring such certificate.
- (d) Whenever a member is off-duty on sick leave under the provisions of subsection (c) of Section 1 of this Article, a certificate from the attending physician shall be acceptable.

#### Section 6 Redemption of Accumulated Sick Leave at Retirement or Death

(a) Employees who are retired under either of the Department Pension Plans who have a minimum of twenty five (25) years or twenty (20) years after January 1, 1990 of service or who retires with a service-connected disability shall be paid a lump sum of money that is equal to the number of sick days due such employee, times the prevailing day rate of pay received by such employee on the date of such retirement up to a maximum of one hundred twenty (120) days.

Payment under this Section shall be made as soon as practicable, but in no event shall payment be made later than the last day of the first full month following the date of retirement.

- (b) Upon the death of an employee, the amount of sick leave time due such employee shall be payable to his or her survivors in the same manner as provided for in (a) of this Section.
- (c) Employees who retire on a vested retirement benefit shall have their terminal leave pay prorated at the rate of four percent (4%) of his or her accumulated sick leave days, up to a maximum of one hundred twenty (120) days for each complete year of service and an additional one percent (1%) for each three (3) month period of service of less than a complete year.
- (d) Upon the death of an employee, the amount of sick leave time due such employee shall be payable to his or her survivors in the same manner as provided for in (a) of this Section.

#### Section 7 Sick Leave Records

The Department shall maintain a record for each employee of all sick leave taken and accumulated.

# Section 8

The parties mutually agree that there shall be established a Sick Leave Bank Committee for the purposes of determining the appropriate circumstances when the use of days contributed to the Sick Leave Bank may be allocated to a given employee. The Committee shall be comprised as follows:

Two (2) persons designated by the Chief of the Department and two (2) persons designated by the Union President and the Union President.

A seventy five percent (75%) favorable recommendation shall be required to advance days to an individual employee. Decision of this Committee shall be on a case-by-case basis and shall be without precedent. Said Committee shall also have the right to have additional days collected for an employee if the Sick Leave Bank doesn't have an adequate balance of Sick Time, or in extreme circumstances which the Committee feels that individual collecting for Sick Leave is warranted.

#### Section 9 Perfect Attendance

Any employee who does not invoke sick leave within a six (6) month period as hereinafter defined shall be paid a lump sum of one hundred twenty-five dollars (\$125.00) which shall not be added to pension. The time periods for measuring perfect attendance shall be January 1st to June 30th and July 1st to December 31st and payment shall be made no later than July 31st and January 31st respectively.

For the purposes of this Section, the sick leave computations for the entire Department shall be based on those figures maintained by the City.

Employees who are out on injury leave with a work connected injury shall be eligible for the perfect attendance payment.

#### Section 10

When any employee has accumulated the total of one hundred fifty (150) days of sick leave, and, thereafter, he or she has not used any sick leave for six (6) months, said employee shall be entitled to one (1) perfect attendance day. No more than two (2) employees shall be entitled to take perfect attendance leave on any one shift. Selection of perfect attendance days shall be made on each shift and in the event that there is a conflict in the selection of a perfect attendance day, the conflict shall be resolved by the perfect attendance day being granted to the employee with the greater seniority.

# Section 11 FMLA and Maternity Leave

- A) Family and Medical Leave Any employee who is an "eligible employee" as defined under the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), 29 U.S.C. SEC. 2601 et seq. Shall be granted up to the statutory allotted weeks of FMLA leave during a twelve (12) month period in accordance with the FMLA. Any accumulated paid leave time (sick, vacation and personal) must be exhausted first in situations where the leave being taken by the employee is for his/her own illness or the illness of a family member and is covered by the FMLA; however, employees taking FMLA for the birth of or adoption/foster care placement of a child shall have the option to use or not use accumulated sick days as part of the FMLA leave. Employees may continue to use accrued sick leave beyond the FMLA Leave period pursuant to this Article. A medical certificate acceptable to the City shall be required for FMLA leave situations. Nothing herein shall constitute a waiver of the just cause provision of the Collective Bargaining Agreement for employees who remain out of work beyond the FMLA Leave Period. Paid time off for Worker's Compensation shall not be considered FMLA Leave Period.
- B) While on paid FMLA leave only, employees shall continue to accumulate sick leave days. Employees on any leave without pay (including unpaid FMLA leave) shall not continue to accumulate sick leave. However, the continuity of employment shall be preserved for purposes of vacation and longevity entitlement and other benefits based upon time in service.
- C) Employees on leave of absence without pay (not including suspended employees) will be eligible to continue their health insurance coverage at the group rate. Arrangements to do so must be made in advance with the Department designated to handle such arrangements or the insurance coverage will be terminated. However, employees on FMLA leave (paid or unpaid) or suspended employees shall have their health insurance coverage maintained during such leave on the same terms as if they had continued to work. Provided, if the employee fails to return to work, the employee shall be liable for the retroactive premium payments in accordance with the FMLA.
- D) When an employee returns from an approved leave of absence, their medical insurance shall be reinstated and the City shall pick up coverage on the first day of the first full calendar month after they return.
- E) Pregnant employees are entitled, at their request, to be immediately removed from field duties. Such employees shall be assigned and shall be entitled to continue working for so long a time as the employee's physician believes that she is physically fit to perform her assigned duties. It is the obligation of each employee to immediately inform the Department upon a confirmation of her pregnancy. Appropriate clothing or uniform, to be determined by the assignment, shall be allowed upon approval of the Commanding Officer to the Division.

#### Section 12 – Fitness for Duty

When the Chief of the Department or the Board of Police Commissioners determines that an employee is unable to perform the essential functions of a police officer, a fitness for duty exam may be ordered, providing the following procedures are followed:

- a. The Union shall be notified of the employee who is subject to the exam;
- b. The Union shall be notified in writing of the reason(s) for ordering such exam;
- c. Employees ordered to submit to a fitness for duty exam shall be compensated in accordance with this Agreement;
- d. The cost of such exam shall be paid through the medical coverage plan provided under this Agreement;
- e. The employee shall be supplied a copy of the results of the exam.

# **ARTICLE 6 - Funeral Leave**

# Section 1

Special leave, with pay, of no less than three (3) working days, commencing on the date of death, shall be granted to an employee in the event of the death of his or her:

Spouse Sister
Father Brother
Mother Child

Mother-in-law Father-in-law Grandfather Grandmother

Grandchild Relative domiciled in the employee's household

The special leave between the date of death and the date of the funeral exceed four (4) working days. The City recognizes, however, that religious beliefs and/or other extenuating circumstances may require that additional time between the date of death and the date of the funeral be allowed. Such additional unpaid time may be granted at the sole discretion of the Chief whose decisions shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

#### Section 2

Special leave of one working day with pay for the purpose of attending the wake or funeral at the employee's option, shall be granted employees in the bargaining unit in the event of the death of his or her:

Sister-in-law Brother-in-law

Uncle Aunt

Spouse's Grandfather Spouse's Grandmother

#### **ARTICLE 7 - Uniforms And Clothing Allowance**

#### Section 1

Members of any plainclothes division, superintendents or employees who work continuously on a plainclothes assignment for at least 90 days shall be given a clothing allowance at the rate of one thousand four hundred dollars (\$1,400) per annum.

#### Section 2

Payment of clothing allowance shall be administered as follows:

- (a) Clothing allowance shall be paid in the amount referred to in Section 1 of this Article, and shall be paid in lump sum during the month of July, for the life of this Agreement.
- (b) Such allowance shall be earned on a <u>pro-rata</u> basis of 1/12 of the total amount of such allowance as set forth in this Agreement. Such 1/12 shall be credited to each eligible employee every month.
- (c) Employees entitled to such clothing allowance, and who leave the division prior to the last pay day in June, shall receive, within 30 days from the effective date of their leaving such division, an allowance on a <u>pro-rata</u> basis as described in Item (b) of this Section. Provided, however, any employee leaving said division on or after the fifteenth day of the month, shall be entitled to a full credit of 1/12 for that month.
- (d) Eligibility for the annual clothing allowance shall be determined by reference to the City's fiscal year July 1 to June 30.

#### Section 3

The City shall reimburse members for loss or damage to clothing and/or personal property suffered in the performance of duty provided same is not the result of his or her own negligence. Such claim for loss must be supported with reasonable proof of loss and of value of the clothing and/or property, and shall be subject to Charter provisions pertaining to the processing of such claims. While on-duty employees are strongly urged not to have on or about their persons any personnel effects (such as jewelry, expensive watches, etc.), the Board of Police Commissioners shall entertain applications for the repair or replacement of personal effects damaged or destroyed in the line of duty on a replacement basis (i.e. trade-in) up to the amount of two hundred fifty dollars (\$250.00). The decision of the Board shall be final.

# Section 4

Uniformed personnel, beginning in their third year of service, shall be provided with articles of uniform and equipment every other fiscal year in the following amount and manner (allowance shall be provided in the first and second but not the third year of service). Members not desiring their full allotment of uniform shall advise the Department of the items not desired. In the event an employee has sufficient quantity of clothing in one area, he or she may select an item(s) of equal value in another area.

- (a) 2 long sleeve and 2 short sleeve shirts annually.
- (b) 1 summer and 1 winter cap annually.
- (c) 1 blouse as needed. Such need to be determined by departmental inspection.
- (d) 3 pairs of trousers annually (summer or winter any combination).
- (e) 1 raincoat and hat cover as needed. Such need to be determined by departmental inspection.
- (f) 1 new combination coat summer/winter coat. Such need to be determined by departmental inspection.
- (g) 1 pair of winter gloves and 3 ties annually.
- (h) Service weapon, ammunition, holster, belts, etc., as needed.
- (i) Sweaters as needed. Such need to be determined by departmental inspection.

- (a) Employees assigned to two-wheel motorcycle patrol duty, or mounted duty, upon appointment to such duty, two pairs of boots; and each year thereafter one pair of such boots will be replaced on an "as needed" and exchange basis. In addition, said employees shall be issued a helmet, and in lieu of Item (f) listed in Section 4 of this Article, an appropriate jacket and gloves, both of which shall be replaced as needed. The need for replacement of the items referred to herein shall be determined by departmental inspection.
- (b) (1) Employees assigned to Mounted Patrol Unit shall receive, upon appointment to such duty, two (2) pairs of riding boots. These boots shall be uniform and identical and either stock or custom fit to accommodate.
- (2) Additionally, each Mounted Patrol Unit employee shall be issued an appropriate riding helmet, to be replaced on an "as needed" and exchange basis.

#### Section 6

In the event that a disagreement arises regarding the replacement of clothing as indicated in Sections 3 and 4 above, the matter will be resolved in an informal discussion between an authorized Union representative and an aide designated by the Chief of the Department.

#### Section 7

Members of the Department who perform their duties in work clothing, shall receive the following clothing allowances:

- 3 pairs of trousers annually.
- 3 short sleeve shirts annually.
- 1 mid-season jacket as needed. Such need to be determined by departmental inspection.
- 1 winter jacket as needed. Such need to be determined by departmental inspection.
- Appropriate rain gear as needed. Such need to be determined by departmental inspection.

### Section 8

Uniforms and police equipment damaged or destroyed in the line of duty shall be repaired or replaced by the City on a replacement basis (i.e. trade-in).

#### Section 9

The summer cap provided for in Item (b) of Section 4, shall be the standard police cap, but with a mesh top, and short-sleeve, open-neck summer shirts shall be provided for Lieutenants and Captains.

#### Section 10

All items listed in this Article shall be exchanged and/or replaced <u>annually</u> in accordance with the schedule set forth herein above to the extent possible.

Those members failing to report to be measured for uniform articles, as per a predetermined schedule, without a valid excuse, shall waive their right to these articles until their next scheduled allotment.

The Department shall be responsible for issuing two advance announcements of the schedule date(s). The first announcement shall be issued four weeks in advance and the second announcement to be one week in advance and both announcements shall be conveyed to the employees by way of memo attached to the pay checks.

#### Section 11

Recruits shall receive an initial uniform issuance consisting of six (6) shirts (3 long-sleeve and 3 short-sleeve) and 4 pairs of trousers (any combination of summer and winter) in lieu of Items (a) and (d) of Section 4. The uniform allotment required by this Section shall only be applicable to the initial uniform issuance to recruits.

#### Section 12

- A. Effective upon the signing of this Agreement, the City shall commence with the implementation of providing and paying for a bullet proof vest for any employee who desires to have one. Such employee shall be mandated to wear the City bought vest when performing uniform duties, including extra duty. An employee may also elect to buy his/her own bullet proof vest, in which case the usage of such shall be discretionary.
- B. The Department shall promulgate a work-rule policy on the issuance, training, inspection, care, maintenance and use of bullet proof vests. Said policy shall have the approval of the Union before implementation of such.

# Section 13

Employees assigned to the Bicycle Patrol shall receive, upon appointment to such assignment, the following items:

- five (5) pairs of bicycle patrol pant combination (summer/winter);
- two (2) pairs of bicycle patrol shorts; and
- five (5) bicycle patrol shirt combination (long sleeve/short sleeve).

Each year thereafter the following items will be replaced on an "as needed" and exchange basis:

- One (1) patrol jacket with liner;
- One (1) high visibility rain coat;
- One (1) pair of bicycle patrol shoes;
- One (1) bicycle helmet;
- One (1) pair of bicycle gloves (summer); and
- One (1) pair of bicycle gloves (winter).

The need for replacement of the items referred to above shall be determined by departmental inspection.

# **ARTICLE 8 - Holidays**

#### Section 1

In accordance with the City's 1994 conversion to a new holiday schedule, effective upon ratification of the Agreement the following holidays shall be granted to all members in the form of compensatory time off as provided for hereinafter:

New Year's Day\*

Martin Luther King's Birthday

President's Day

Good Friday

Memorial Day

Flag Day

Fourth of July\*

Labor Day

Columbus Day

Veteran's Day

Thanksgiving Day\*

Flag Day

Christmas Day\*

\*Employees working the Fourth of July, Thanksgiving, Christmas and New Years Day shall be paid two times their regular base rate for all hours worked between 12:00 a.m. and 11:59 p.m. on the day of the holiday.

Sections 1 through 4 of this Article shall apply to all employees who are not working the 5-2, 5-3 work schedule as specified in Article 13, Section 1 (c); Section 5 of this Article shall apply to all employees; Section 6 of this Article shall apply to those as specified therein.

# Section 2

Employees shall be afforded such time off within thirty (30) days of the date of the holiday, and such time off shall be in conjunction with such employee's regular days off. However, should an employee desire such time off other than in conjunction with his or her regular days off, such may be permitted with the approval of the Department.

Employees entitled to a compensatory day off, shall, if required to work on any such holiday, be granted another compensatory day off. Employees afforded such time off will be granted such time off, as soon as practicable, and if possible, in conjunction with such member's regular days off.

#### Section 4

Employees who are off duty on any of the approved holidays by reason of sick leave, vacation, regular days off or other approved leave, shall receive a compensatory time off day.

#### Section 5

- (a) Whenever an employee retires, and such employee has holiday time due him or her, he or she shall be paid a lump sum of money that is equal to the number of days due him or her times the prevailing day rate of the pay received by such employee at the time of retirement.
- (b) In the event that termination results from death, any sum of money that is due the employee shall be paid to said employee's survivor.

#### Section 6

All employees working the 5-2, 5-3 work schedule as specified in Article 13, Section 1 (b), shall be entitled to six (6) C Days in the form of compensatory time off, with pay, to be taken within the time period provided below:

- 1 C Day between January 1st and February 28th or 29th
- 1 C Day between March 1st and April 30th
- 1 C Day between May 1st and June 30th
- 1 C Day between July 1st and August 31st
- 1 C Day between September 1st and October 31st
- 1 C Day between November 1st and December 31st

Effective upon signing, one (1) additional "C" Day to total seven (7) C Days per calendar year.

Such C Days shall be scheduled in the same manner as the procedure for scheduling H Days for those employees covered by Sections 1 through 4 of this Article.

# Section 7

In the event that the number of employees who request a holiday or c day as defined under this section compromises the activities of a Department or a Division due to the number of individuals requesting a particular day, the Department or Division may deny the request in order to not disrupt the normal activities in such Department or Division. In such circumstances of conflict, seniority by shift (A, B, C, D and E) shall prevail.

#### **ARTICLE 9 - Overtime**

#### Section 1

All overtime shall be paid at time and one-half (1-1/2) for all hours worked, or any portion thereof, in excess of eight (8) hours per day or the employee's scheduled work week. For purposes of this Article the straight-time hourly rate shall be computed by dividing by 1,950 hours the annual base rate of pay.

When an employee is sick or injured for his or her regularly scheduled department tour of duty, then that employee will not be eligible or ordered-in for an overtime assignment until eight (8) hours after their regular scheduled department tour of duty would have been completed had they worked.

All overtime must be entered and approved through the Telestaff System immediately upon hire.

#### Section 2

Employees required to work on their day(s) off shall be paid not less than four (4) hours pay at time and one-half; provided, however, that when an employee voluntarily accepts an overtime assignment consisting of a work period other than the shifts established in Article 13, and such overtime assignments extend over two different calendar days, both of which are his or her normal days off, said employee shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half the hours actually worked, or a minimum of eight hours pay at time and one-half, whichever is greater. For the purpose of this Section, a day off shall be an entire 24-hour period commencing at Midnight, during which the employee is not scheduled for a tour of duty. This provision shall not apply to personnel required to report for duty on the 11 p.m. to 7 a.m. shift on the evening of their second day off, nor shall it apply to personnel on the 4 p.m. to Midnight shift who may be required to work beyond Midnight and into their regular day off when such overtime is necessary for the completion of investigation that originated prior to Midnight or for any assignment requiring additional manpower which was unanticipated by the Department. This Section shall not apply to work assignments related to states of emergency if so declared by the Mayor.

#### Section 3

Employees who may be required to return to duty to perform overtime duties on a regular working day, and when such hours are not continuous with the initial or terminal hour of the regular shift hours, shall be paid not less than two (2) hours pay at time and one-half. For the purpose of this provision, a regular working day shall be an entire 24-hour period, commencing at Midnight, during which the employee is scheduled for a regular tour of duty. This provision shall include personnel on the 11 p.m. to 7 a.m. shift.

#### Section 4

Overtime pay shall not be subject to the minimum hour provisions when such overtime results from extending a tour of duty on any shift to properly complete an investigation or work assignment.

All employees taking part in departmental training programs shall not receive overtime rates for overtime resulting from such participation. However, such employee shall receive compensatory time off, at time and one-half, for such overtime. The Chief, or his/her designee, shall be given written notification a minimum of seventy-two (72) hours in advance of any request to take compensatory time off on a Sunday.

In the event that the number of employees who request compensatory time defined under this section compromises the activities of a Department or a Division due to the number of individuals requesting a particular day, the Department or Division may deny the request in order to not disrupt the normal activities in such Department or Division. In such circumstances of conflict, seniority shall prevail. The creation of overtime shall not be a valid reason to deny a request for compensatory time.

#### Section 6

- (a) Overtime which results from other employees being absent from duty shall be distributed as equally as practicable among qualified employees within each segment in which the absence occurred. In addition, with respect to the Investigative Services Unit, such distribution shall be distributed within the specific Investigative Services Unit in which the absence(s) occurred. Inequities in any one week shall be rectified at the next overtime opportunity, and as subsequent overtime opportunities become available, if necessary.
- (b) Employees who are excused from such overtime assignments shall be charged with the overtime for purposes of equalizing the distribution.
- (c) When absences occur and the Department elects to fill the vacancies created by such absences, such vacancies shall be filled with members of the same rank in the uniform segment in which the absence occurred or with members of the same rank from the specific Investigative Services Unit in which the absence occurred; provided that nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed as requiring the Department to fill such a vacancy with an employee who is thereby entitled to overtime pay or as prohibiting the Department from reassigning an employee previously assigned to a "relief" slot to perform the work affected by the absence; provided further, however, that no more than five (5) such reassignments from relief slots shall be made during any single work shift (Squads A, B, C and/or D).

The bargaining unit shall be considered as being comprised of two segments, the uniformed segment and the non-uniformed segment. A vacancy in the uniformed segment shall be filled by an employee normally assigned to the uniformed segment and a vacancy in the non-uniformed segment shall be filled by an employee normally assigned to the non-uniformed segment. For these purposes, the "uniformed segment" shall be comprised of the patrol division, the training division, communications, records, the armorer, the metro unit and the detail room and the "non-uniformed segment" shall be comprised of the remainder of the bargaining unit. Overtime for all qualified non-uniformed employees shall be equally distributed within the specific Investigative Services Unit in which he/she is assigned to. The Department shall maintain an overtime distribution list which shall be made available to the Union upon request.

(d) When absences occur in the positions occupied by supervisory personnel of the uniform segment and the Department elects to fill the vacancies created by such absences, such vacancies shall be filled with supervisory employees of any rank from the uniform segment in which the absence occurred.

When absences occur in the positions occupied by supervisory personnel within a specific Investigative Services Unit and the Department elects to fill the vacancies created by such absences, such vacancies shall be filled with qualified supervisory employees of any rank from the specific Unit in which the absence occurred.

# Section 7

When employees are required to work overtime, overtime shall be given to volunteers first. If no employee wishes to stay for the overtime, then employees shall be ordered to work overtime in inverse order of seniority (least senior first, etc.).

#### Section 8

Whenever an employee of the Department is required to appear in any court or administrative proceeding, and for such time necessary for trial preparation therein, he or she shall be paid in the following manner:

- a. At time and a half with a two (2) hour minimum if the appearance and/or preparation takes place during a scheduled work day when the employee is not on his or her regular shift; and
- b. At time and a half with four (4) hour minimum if the appearance and/or preparation takes place on his or her day off.

The only exception to the above is when the employee is a defendant in a court proceeding or is called upon as a witness by the City of New Haven in an arbitration hearing. In such cases, he or she shall be paid at time and a half on an hour by hour basis when the appearance and/or preparation takes place on his or her day(s) off/time off. Absent specific unforeseen circumstances, the City of New Haven shall not require the attendance of an employee for preparation purposes on his or her day(s) off. Furthermore, nothing contained herein shall conflict with the provisions set forth in Article 4 - <u>Discharge and Discipline</u>, Section 4 concerning employee(s) required to attend disciplinary hearings in front of the Board of Police Commissioners. Any employee required by the Union to attend an arbitration hearing or a court proceeding as a witness shall receive no payment for such appearance.

In all matters concerning this Section, the Department reserves the right to change an employee's shift to accommodate his/her appearance in court or at an arbitration hearing.

The employee shall have a Clerk of the Court time stamp the times of the employee's arrival at and departure from the courthouse on a form provided by the employer. With respect to trial preparation and arbitration preparation and attendance at such hearing, the arrival and departure times shall be authenticated by the appropriate City official in charge of the trial preparation and/or the arbitration hearing on said form.

Employees shall immediately notify the supervisory official of their day off or time off status whenever ordered by that supervisory official to work while on such day or time off status.

#### **ARTICLE 10 - Vacations**

#### Section 1

Employees shall be granted time off, with pay, for vacation according to the following schedule:

After one (1) year continuous service	10 working days
After five (5) years continuous service	15 working days
After ten (10) years continuous service	20 working days
After twenty (20) years continuous service	25 working days
After twenty one (21) years continuous service	26 working days
After twenty two (22) years continuous service	27 working days
After twenty three (23) years continuous service	28 working days
After twenty four (24) years continuous service	29 working days
After twenty five (25) years continuous service	30 working days

# Section 2

The vacation period shall be between January 1st and December 31st of each year and each employee shall be afforded the opportunity to be off on vacation within the calendar year.

# Section 3

Vacation selections forms shall be distributed to the employees not later than September 1st of the year immediately preceding the calendar year in which the vacation will be taken. Vacation selections forms shall be completed and returned to the proper Department official not later than September 30th and any employee failing to return the form by this date will forfeit vacation choice by seniority for that year. The Department shall compile the choices of the members and post a copy of the vacation schedule showing employees names and the vacation periods allotted not later than November 1st.

#### Section 4

Departmental seniority shall prevail in the selection of vacation periods. Competitive bidding shall, however, be on a Divisional basis with the members of the given Division being awarded their vacation preferences on the basis of the relative departmental seniority of the members of the Division. In the event that the number of employees desiring a given vacation period would result in an excessive number being scheduled off from a given squad, employees desiring the vacation period in question shall be given preference based on their departmental seniority within the Squad affected.

Vacation time must be taken in at least one (1) consecutive one (1) week block, except as follows: (a) members entitled to two weeks of vacation may take up to 5 vacation days as either single days or consecutive days. (b) members entitled to three or four weeks, may take up to 10 vacation days either as single vacation days or consecutive days, (c) members entitled to more than four weeks vacation may also take the days over 20 either as single days or consecutive days.

The Department shall not be required to approve single vacation days off if such approval results in the payment of overtime.

In the event that the number of employees who request vacation time as defined under this section compromises the activities of a Department or a Division due to the number of individuals requesting a particular day, the Department or Division may deny the request in order to not disrupt the normal activities in such Department or Division. In such circumstances of conflict, seniority by shift (A, B, C, D and E) shall prevail.

#### Section 6

The following quotas in subsection (a) of this Section shall apply to non-command personnel. The Department may exceed the quotas herein, but shall not reduce them.

All other units shall be allowed the following quotas:

1 to 8 Personnel Assigned
9 to 20 Personnel Assigned
21 to 33 Personnel Assigned
34, plus
1 Officer in each period.
3 Officers in each period.
4 Officers in each period.

The number of personnel in each unit shall be determined as of September 30th of the year immediately preceding the calendar year in which the vacation will be taken.

For the purposes of this Article only, Quality Control, Warrant Services and Auto Theft Squad shall be deemed as separate units for vacation selections.

#### Section 7

The following quotas and provisions shall apply to command personnel:

#### (a) Patrol Captains:

There shall be a Captain's vacation schedule, separate and apart from the Lieutenant's and Sergeant's schedules. The Chief shall determine the number of Captains that may be allowed off in each vacation period.

#### (b) Patrol Lieutenants And Sergeants:

There shall be one vacation schedule for Lieutenants and one for Sergeants and they shall bid their vacation preferences separately as separate units, and in accordance with Section 4 of this Article. Whenever several members of each unit seek the same vacation period, at least three (3) in each unit shall be allowed off during the same period, but no more than one from each squad. The Chief shall have the authority to allow more than three (3) off whenever he or she may feel this is practicable.

# (c) Divisions:

Supervisory personnel in the four (4) divisions shall not be included in the schedule provided for all other members of the division.

#### Section 8

Employees who are off-duty by reason of sick leave, which is to be supported by a medical certificate, injury leave, or other approved leave, except leave of absence, at the time they are regularly scheduled to be on vacation, shall be granted vacation time upon their return to duty. The time period of such vacation time shall be at the discretion of the Department.

# Section 9

- (a) Whenever an employee retires from the Department and such employee has vacation time due him or her, such time not to exceed accrued vacation time of a two year period, he or she shall be paid a lump sum of money that is equal to the number of days due him or her times the prevailing day rate of pay received by such employees at the time of retirement.
- (b) In the event that termination of employment results from death, any sum of money that is due shall be paid to said employee's survivor.

#### Section 10

Any employee who wishes to receive vacation pay in the week prior to commencement of his or her vacation shall receive such advanced pay, provided, however, that a minimum advance notice of at least thirty (30) days of the first day of said vacation is given in writing to Support Services.

Employees selecting advance vacation pay pursuant to this Section shall only be allowed to request their entire vacation pay. For example, if an employee is taking a three (3) week vacation and requests advance vacation pay, then he/she will receive all three (3) weeks vacation pay in advance, no splitting of the weeks to advance and regular payroll shall be allowed.

#### Section 11

Employees on vacation days may be allowed to work those days for additional straight time pay. Employees willing to work shall give notice during vacation selection. An employee may notify the Chief if he or she does not wish to work during any specific scheduled vacation week provided he or she gives notice of this desire at least thirty (30) calendar days before said week.

Employees may also add specific vacation weeks to their list at any time during the year provided the Chief has at least thirty (30) days notice. Employees shall be given two (2) weeks notice before the assignment. Assignments shall be equitably distributed.

#### Section 12

Requests for H-Days, C- Days and single vacation days shall be granted on a seniority basis, subject to the following procedure (and Section 5 of this Article for V-Days):

- (a) For requests for time off (H-Days, C- Days and single vacation days) made more than ten business days prior to the requested day off, seniority shall prevail.
- (b) The Department shall notify the individual requesting such time off at least ten business days prior to the requested date whether the time off is granted.
- (c) For time off requests made less than ten days prior to the requested day off, seniority shall not prevail. This shall not preclude a member from requesting a C, H or single V-Day with less than ten business days. Such time off requests may be granted by the Department.
- (d) Other than single V-Days, all other vacation days shall be bid in accordance with this Article.

#### **ARTICLE 11 - Seniority**

#### Section 1

The seniority rights of all sworn personnel of the Department shall be based upon length of service only, and shall be determined from the first day they begin to receive compensation from the City as a probationary Police Officer.

#### Section 2

Whenever more than one person is appointed to the Department on the same day, the seniority of each individual as it relates to others appointed the same day, shall be determined by their relative positions on the civil service list, with the greatest seniority being granted to the individual standing highest on the list among those appointed and so on down in that order; provided, however, that individuals who are "tied" on the list and are, therefore, listed in alphabetical order, shall have their relative seniority established by a random computer selection.

# Section 3

Seniority shall not be broken by vacations, sick time, suspensions, or any authorized leave of absence or any call to military service for the duration.

Employees who may resign voluntarily, or who may be discharged for just cause, or who may take a leave of absence without pay for the purpose of working at another occupation shall lose all seniority.

#### Section 5

Employees who return within one (1) year pursuant to Civil Service Rules, including bargaining unit members who returned between January 1997 to the present, shall be entitled to the following:

- a) seniority for purposes of vacation entitlement and bidding for vacations to be taken in 2000 and thereafter;
- b) seniority for purposes of longevity payments in January 2000 and thereafter; and
- c) restoration of sick leave which they had accrued at the time of their resignation.

# **ARTICLE 12 - Hours Of Work**

#### Section 1

- (a) The regular work week shall be forty (40) hours per week, eight (8) hours per day, five (5) consecutive days per week with two (2) consecutive days off at the end of each forty (40) hour work week.
- (b) Employees assigned to the Patrol Unit, Detention, Communications, Records Desk, Narcotics Unit, Street Interdiction Unit and Investigators assigned to ISU General Investigations whose days off shall advance every week and who are not working steady days work the following work schedule:
- Eight (8) consecutive hours per day for five (5) consecutive days on-duty, followed by two (2) consecutive days off, followed by five (5) consecutive days on-duty, followed by three (3) consecutive days off, and then the cycle repeated.

ISU Sergeants and B. of I. personnel, who rotate, shall be included in the 5-2, 5-3 work schedule.

(c) Members assigned to the Internal Affairs Unit shall work the following schedules: The Officer in Charge (OIC) of the Unit shall work a 5-2 work schedule, Monday through Friday, between 0900 and 1700 hours;

Detectives and other supervisors assigned to the "A" squad shall work a 5-2/5-3 work schedule between 0900 and 1700 hours;

The interviewing of bargaining unit members shall take place when members of the Executive Board are scheduled to work, absent extenuating circumstances.

(d) The remaining units not mentioned above shall not work the 5-2, 5-3 work schedule, but shall continue on the work schedule that they are working prior to the date of this Agreement as scheduled by the Department.

- (e) Employees may volunteer to work any one of their three scheduled days off. During each cycle of the work schedule set forth above, the employer may assign those volunteering employees to work an eight hour shift (during the hours of the day the employee normally works) on any one of their "three (3) consecutive days off" set forth in Section 1 (b) of this Article; provided, however, that the employer shall pay to each employee so assigned eight hours pay at the employees straight time, regular hourly rate. The parties understand that no employee so assigned shall be entitled to overtime pay for such hours worked and that such hours shall be exempt from the provisions of Article 10, hereof (except that all such hours beyond eight hours on a single day shall be compensated at time and one-half). The parties also understand that employees so assigned on major holidays or in such a manner that the employee will work six days within a Sunday through Saturday calendar week shall be paid time and one-half their regular hourly rate. For these purposes, the major holidays shall be defined as New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Fourth of July, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day. The assignments provided for by this Section must be equitably distributed. The parties understand that the provisions of the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act require overtime pay for law enforcement employees under a variety of circumstances; therefore, nothing contained herein shall be construed as requiring the Department to assign to work a volunteering employee under any circumstances which would require that employee to be paid at an overtime rate.
- (f) Employees volunteering will give one (1) months notice prior to the month in which they are volunteering to be assigned. The employer will give at least two (2) weeks notice prior to making an assignment under this Section. Assignments shall be equitably distributed.

#### Section 2 Patrol Unit

(a) The Patrol Unit shall maintain eight (8) work shifts with each shift encompassing the following hours and designated in the following manner:

Squad A	0800 hours to 1600 hours
Squad B	1600 hours to 2400 hours
Squad C	2400 hours to 0800 hours
Squad D	1900 hours to 0300 hours
Early Squad A	0700 hours to 1500 hours
Early Squad B	1500 hours to 2300 hours
Early Squad C	2300 hours to 0700 hours

Patrol Unit Supervisors shall work a half (1/2) hour earlier than the Early Squad hours.

- (b) Assignment to the Patrol Unit work shifts shall be based on a seniority bid-shift selection system. For the purpose of this Article, seniority is defined as the number of consecutive years of service with the Department.
  - (c) Shifts shall be bid in the following prescribed manner:
  - (1) 60 days prior to the implementation of the bid shifts, shift selection forms shall be distributed to all eligible members. All eligible members shall return the shift selection

forms within 30 days; 15 days prior to the implementation of the new shift, details shall be posted accordingly.

- (2) Eligible members who fail to return their bid selection form within the time frame specified above (30 days) shall be assigned to a shift at the discretion of the Chief or his or her designee.
- (3) The number of slots available for each work shift shall be determined by the Chief of Police, or his or her designee.
- (4) Shift assignments shall re-open for bid at the discretion of the Department, but in no event shall bids be opened less than twice (2) per calendar year or more than four (4) times per calendar year.

#### Section 3

Employees hired after January 31, 2012 shall be excluded from the provisions concerning Hours of Work for a period of 24 months from their date of appointment. Upon successful completion of the 24 months period, said employees shall be eligible to bid for a work shift as described in Section 2 of this Article. Notwithstanding the forgoing, a police officer hired by the City of New Haven who (a) has prior police experience (hereinafter "lateral transfer") (b) has successfully completed his/her probationary period and (c) has not had a break in law enforcement service for more than twelve (12) months from the date they were hired by the City of New Haven, may work the 5-2, 5-3 work schedule set forth in Article 13, Section 1(b).

It is the intent of the parties to this Agreement that the hours worked and days off of the employees described in this Section are to be totally flexible and at the complete discretion of the Chief or his or her designee, provided they shall receive two (2) consecutive days off per week and shall not work in excess of forty (40) hours per week, except on an overtime basis. During the first 36 months of employment, employees shall be granted a minimum of seven (7) hours off in between shifts.

It is also the intent of the parties to this Agreement that those employees referred to in this Section will not be utilized by the Department in such a manner as to remove members of the Patrol Unit from consideration for assignment to any work shift other than Squad D.

Effective upon ratification and approval of the Contract, the Patrol Division shall bid for their start time within each (A, B, C, D) shift of the Patrol Division based on seniority.

#### Section 4

#### (a) Neighborhood Enhancement Unit

The Department shall have the right to assign no more than forty (40) Officers, including the District Managers, to the Neighborhood Enhancement Unit, for assignment therein among the Police Districts. Within the Neighborhood Enhancement Unit there shall be no more than ten (10) District Managers assigned by the Chief at his/her complete discretion; however, these District Managers shall be allowed to bid out into another assignment by seniority. Said Officers shall bid by seniority into this Unit for the first ten (10) slots made available for the work hours

of 10:00 to 18:00, Monday through Friday. Thereafter, additional bids may be conducted for the hours of 11:00 to 19:00, Monday through Friday and 10:00 to 18:00, Monday through Friday. Except that upon the completion of such bids the Chief can assign officers (less than two (2) years seniority) to fill any vacant slots at his/her discretion upon the completion of each bid described above. Days off shall be Saturday and Sunday.

It is the intent of the parties to this Agreement that the additional bidding described herein shall not be utilized for the purpose of significantly decreasing Squad A. Furthermore, any reduction in Squad A shall not be considered a per se violation of this Section. Nothing herein shall be considered a minimum manning clause.

#### (b) Traffic Unit

Within the Patrol Unit, there shall be a Traffic Unit consisting of the following: the Mounted Unit, the Motorcycle Unit; Tow Officer; one (1) Extra Duty Assignment Officer; Patrol K-9 Officer(s); and one (1) Detail Room Supervisor. Assignments to the Traffic Unit shall be at the complete discretion of the Chief.

The following shifts are those that may be employed by the Traffic Unit:

0700 hours to 1500 hours 0800 hours to 1600 hours

Additionally, officers assigned to the Motorcycle Unit may be assigned to the following shift:

1500 hours to 2300 hours

When a vacancy occurs in the Motorcycle Unit on Squad A, a bid will be issued to B squad motorcycle unit officers to fill the vacancy. In the event no officer submits a bid, the vacancy shall be filled by a qualified bargaining unit employee.

The following 40 hour work schedules are those that shall be employed by Officers assigned a Patrol K-9:

Four (4) nine (9) hour work days (36 hours) – 1600 hours until 0100 hours having Sunday, Monday and Tuesday's off duty OR Thursday, Friday and Saturday's off duty.

Four (4) nine (9) hour work days (36 hours) – 2300 hours until 0800 hours having Sunday, Monday and Tuesday's off duty OR Thursday, Friday and Saturday's off duty.

The remaining four (4) hours of straight time is to compensate officers for the at home care of the K-9.

Patrol K-9 Officers shall be assigned to a shift based on seniority through a quarterly bid process. Days off, however, shall rotate between quarters.

#### Section 5ISU - General Investigations

Officers and Detectives assigned to the slotted positions within the Investigative Services Unit for the purposes of General Investigations shall work under the seniority bid-shift system designated in Section 2 (c) of this Article. Members of this unit shall bid their preferences in the manner as established in this Section; but will submit their selection forms to the Captain of Investigative Services.

- (a) The number of slots available for General Investigations and the numbers of personnel assigned to each work shift shall be determined by the Chief of Police or his or her designee.
- (b) Only Investigators assigned to General Investigations on the date the bids are posted shall be eligible to bid a shift preference.
- (c) Personnel assigned a shift, based on the bid-shift system, who are assigned as the primary investigating Officer of a homicide, rape or serious robbery investigation, can be placed on the Squad A shift for the purpose of furthering this investigation, provided, however, that upon completion of this investigation, this Officer shall be returned to the shift that he or she was assigned.

It is the intent of the parties to this Agreement that any vacancy created by this change in work shifts will be filled, when necessary, by overtime duty only.

Members of the Investigative Services Unit, General Investigations shall work the following shifts:

Squad A	0800 hours to 1600 hours
Squad B	1600 hours to 2400 hours
Squad C	2400 hours to 0800 hours
•	
Early Squad A	0700 hours to 1500 hours
Early Squad B	1500 hours to 2300 hours
Early Squad C	2300 hours to 0700 hours

#### Section 6 Sexual Assault & Bias Unit

Members assigned to the Special Investigations Unit shall work the following schedules:

- (a) The Officer in Charge ("OIC") of the unit shall work a 5-2 work schedule, Monday through Friday, between 0800 hours and 1600 hours.
- (b) Detectives and other supervisors assigned to the "A" Squad shall work a 5-2 work schedule, Monday through Friday, between 0800 hours and 1600 hours.
- (c) Detectives assigned to the sex offender registry and/or missing persons division within the Unit shall work a 5-2 work schedule, Monday through Friday, between 0800 hours and 1600 hours.
- (d) Supervisors and Detectives assigned to the "B" Squad shall work a 5-2/5-3 work schedule between 1600 hours and 2400 hours. If a B Squad is added, there shall be

- equal staffing on each of the A & B Squads, which shall be bid by seniority, unless the parties agree otherwise.
- (e) In the event the City, in its sole discretion, chooses to deploy a "B" squad, said squad shall be filled first on a volunteer basis followed by bidding based on seniority if necessary.

## Section 7 Firearms Unit

Members assigned to the Firearms Unit shall work a 5-2/5-2 work schedule, Monday to Friday, between 8:00 a.m. and 4:00 p.m. with weekends off.

#### Section 8SRO/PAL Officers

- (a) School Resource Officers (SRO's) and PAL officers shall be assigned to the ISU and shall be treated as uniformed officers as well as in accordance with this Article 12, Section 8 as applicable. SROs shall remain eligible for patrol overtime and shall not be eligible for ISU/Plainclothes overtime.
- (b) The work schedule for officers assigned to a SRO/PAL assignment for the academic year shall be a 5-2/5-2 schedule, Monday through Friday, 0700 hours to 1500 hours OR 0800 hours through 1600 hours. The number of officers assigned to each shift shall be at the City's discretion.
- (c) The work schedule for officers assigned to a SRO/PAL assignment for the summer months (school recess) shall be a 5-2/5-2 schedule, Monday through Friday, having one shift coinciding with "A" squad hours. However, SRO/PAL officers may make a written request to the Chief to work B, C, or D squad hours. A denial of said request shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.
  - (d) Time off requests for SRO/PAL Officers shall be bid within the unit.
- (e) SRO/PAL Officers are encouraged to take vacation during the summer months (school recess) or during other school breaks. Time off shall be granted by seniority.
- (f) During the summer months (school recess), after a discussion between the SRO/PAL Officer Supervisor and the Patrol Supervisor, SRO/PAL Officers may be assigned to patrol duties.
- (g) The SRO/PAL Supervisor shall be a uniformed supervisor assigned to the regular working hours of 0700 hours through 1500 hours, Monday through Friday.
  - (h) The SRO/PAL Supervisor shall be entitled to a take home vehicle.

#### Section 9 Narcotics Unit

Members assigned to the Narcotics Unit shall normally work the A Squad (8 a.m. -4 p.m.) on a 5-2/5-3 work schedule. The City may, with 48 hours notice, change the working hours of Narcotic Unit members provided said change to work hours does not occur more than two (2)

times in any one work week. Narcotics Unit will have the option to have an A and B Squad or a B Squad only. There must be at least 30 days notice for any change in shift.

#### Section 10 Robbery Unit

Members assigned to the Robbery Unit shall work the A Squad, (8 a.m. - 4 p.m.) on a 5-2/5-3 work schedule.

#### Section 11 Domestic Violence Unit

Members assigned to the Domestic Violence Unit shall work an A Squad, on a 5-2 work schedule, Monday through Friday, with Saturday and Sunday off. There may be a B Squad also, and if there are an A and a B Squad, there shall be equal staffing on each and it shall be bid by seniority unless agreed to otherwise by the parties.

# Section 12 Cold Case Unit

- a. During the term of this Agreement there shall be established a Cold Case Unit.
- b. The Department must maintain between 50 and 55 (final figure must be agreed to by the parties) permanent detectives. If the staffing falls below the 50 to 55 threshold the City shall have 30 days within which to restore staffing to the agreed upon level or cease operation. The current detective list expected to be populated shortly must be exhausted, though future lists shall not be subject to this requirement.
- c. The Cold Case Unit shall be populated by retired NHPD personnel, not exclusive to former detectives. There shall be five (5) part time (no more than 19 hours per week, no more than 8 hours in a 24-hour period) retired NHPD personnel assigned to such unit, who shall work on cold cases only (cold cases are defined as cases at least 2 years old and no longer being actively worked on), along with an active Detective Bureau Supervisor and active Detective.
- d. School Resource Officers shall not count towards the threshold articulated in #12b above.
- e. Cold Case squad shall sunset at the expiration of the contract, absent agreement to the contrary.

#### Section 13

Each unit that has not maintained the work shifts and rotation described in Section 2 shall continue to maintain the same hours of work and days off in effect for such units prior to the effective date of this Agreement. For the purposes of this Section, the hours of work and days off in effect for such units prior to the effective date of this Agreement shall be deemed to be the shift hours and days off applicable to the employees in such units during the twelve month period immediately preceding the effective date of this Agreement, provided, however, that fluctuations in shift hours and days off during said twelve month period shall be considered only if such fluctuations have been a regular part of the employee's schedule during the twelve month period, with the exclusion of street crime, crime prevention and training. Employees assigned to crime

prevention and training can have their shift changed, but shall not have their days off changed for any reason.

#### Section 14

Employees shall only be required to work the hours of the shift to which they are assigned except as otherwise provided in this Article or in Article 27, General Provisions. Personnel who are being transferred to another division or promoted shall be an exception to this Section. Overtime duty shall also be an exception to this Section.

# Section 15

During each eight-hour tour of duty, all employees shall be allowed one-half hour for lunch. The Department shall prescribe the lunch periods for all beats and cars.

#### Section 16

Once designated, and in the manner provided for in Section 1 of this Article, an employee's regular days off shall not be changed during the work period, without the express approval of the employee except that the Chief (or his/her designee) may change the Patrol Division days off (platoon schedule) one time per calendar year at his/her discretion. Said changes shall be made by volunteers first and then by inverse order of seniority.

#### Section 17

The Department shall have the right, once in each calendar year, to change an employee's days off, subject however, to the employee's approval of such a change, and provided further that the Department shall give not less than 30 days notice prior to seeking any such change.

#### Section 18

- (a) Any employee who is temporarily transferred to a different division, upon termination of such temporary assignment, shall be returned to the shift from which he or she was transferred.
- (b) Someone who is reassigned during the course of a shift bid in effect would be subject to assignment of a shift by the Chief until the next shift bid takes place.

# Section 19

Any employee that is working under the bid-shift selection system who is classified as "light-duty" by the Police Physician shall be placed on whatever shift needed for the duration of his or her light-duty period. Upon return to full-duty all such personnel shall be returned to the shift they had been assigned as a result of the bid-shift selection schedule.

#### **ARTICLE 13 - Extra Police Duty**

#### Section 1

The term, "Extra Police Duty" for the purpose of this Article shall mean police duty for which an employee is paid directly or indirectly by some party other than the City.

#### Section 2

- (a) Employees desiring Extra Police Duty shall file his or her name, address, phone number and rank with the person assigned the obligation of allocating Extra Police Duty. Such person shall be referred to as the "Extra Duty Officer".
- (b) The person designated to assign Extra Police Duty shall establish and maintain whatever records are necessary to accurately reflect the allocations of Extra Police Duty in conformance with the provisions of this Article. Such files shall become permanent record of the Department and shall be subject to inspection by the President of the Police Local or a person designated by him or her.
- (c) Employees who desire Extra Police Duty on their regular day off, or off-duty time, shall notify the Extra Duty Officer not later than 1300 hours on the day prior to his or her seeking such duty. Employees who desire Extra Police Duty while on vacation, shall notify the Extra Duty Officer not later than three (3) days prior to the day(s) that he or she is seeking such duty. Any employee who shall refuse an assignment shall not be considered for Extra Police Duty on the days such refusal was made.
- (d) In cases of emergency, defined as unforeseen and/or not planned, the Extra Duty Officer shall have the right to change the assignment up to one-half (1/2) hour prior to the start of the original assignment.
- (e) When an employee is off-duty, sick or injured for his or her regularly scheduled department tour of duty, then that employee will not be eligible for an extra duty assignment, including hold-down extra duty assignments, until eight (8) hours after their regular scheduled department tour of duty would have been completed had they worked.
- (f) Uniformed employees, on indoor extra assignments of less than four (4) employees, shall not be required to wear a hat.

#### Section 3

For the purpose of this Article and this Section, a "day off" is defined as that entire 24-hour period commencing at Midnight, during which time the employee is not scheduled for a tour of duty.

Priority of assignment of Extra Police Duty shall be in the following order:

1) Police Officer

Vacation Days

2) Detective or Officers receiving Plainclothes differential Vacation Days Sergeants 3) Vacation Days Police Officer Days Off 4) Detective or Officers receiving 5) Plainclothes differential Days Off Sergeants Days Off 6) Police Officer Time Off 7) Detective or Officers receiving Plainclothes differential Time Off

An employee's regularly scheduled day off shall not be affected as a result of swapping, for extra duty priority purposes.

Time Off

For the purposes of this Article, H and C Days shall be treated as days off. No employee shall be entitled to Extra Police Duty until all of those persons who are on vacation, on their days off (H & C Days) and who have complied with Section 2 (c) of this Article have been exhausted.

#### Section 4

9)

Sergeants

Whenever four or more non-supervisory personnel are assigned to Extra Police Duty for the same hours of work, a supervisor shall also be assigned whose function shall be to supervise only. Whenever ten or more employees are assigned to Extra Police Duty, a Sergeant and a Lieutenant or Captain shall be assigned and one additional supervisor shall be assigned for each unit of ten employees thereafter. Assignment of supervisory personnel shall be in accordance with the provisions of this Article. All off duty, extra duty employment, shall be offered to employees covered by this Agreement through Telestaff and direct hiring before engaging flagmen. "Extra Police Duty" includes the following areas but is not limited to: All traffic control required by street opening permits, all sporting events and public gatherings, all security at public and Board of Education buildings and grounds, and all other security and traffic control functions as they become available. All work ultimately paid for by the City including but not limited to road paving, street repair, catch basin replacement, Board of Education events, street light/traffic signal maintenance, etc.

#### Section 5

(a) Effective upon ratification and approval of the Contract, employees working all Extra Police Duty shall be paid at time and one half  $(1 \frac{1}{2})$  the Police Officer rate of pay with the following minimums:

Minimum of four (4) hours, if in excess of four (4) hours, then Minimum of six (6) hours, if in excess of six (6) hours, then Minimum of eight (8) hours, if in excess of eight (8) hours, then Minimum of ten (10) hours, if in excess of ten (10) hours, then Minimum of twelve (12) hours. Computation of time shall commence at the starting hour of the assignment and shall conclude at the termination of the assignment and shall include any lunch or break period that may be afforded employees by his or her employer.

Effective upon ratification and approval of the Contract, extra duty assignments scheduled during the following holiday hours shall receive double the regular extra duty rate for all hours worked between 12:00 a.m. and 11:59 p.m.:

Thanksgiving Christmas New Years Day Fourth of July

(b) Notwithstanding the above, extra duty assignments of Officers coming from off time, not immediately following a tour of duty, to liquor establishments shall be compensated at the extra duty rate for actual hours worked.

The City will bill a surcharge to employers utilizing Extra Duty Police Officers, to cover administrative costs. An additional surcharge to the vendor is described in Article 15, Pension, Section 1 (I). The City may, at its option, discontinue extra duty assignments for anyone who has accounts payable to the City in excess of thirty (30) days and the City may establish bonding requirements as deemed necessary. The City agrees that before it discontinues extra duty assignments for the reasons set forth above it shall consult and meet with the Union. The City reserves the right to charge interest at a rate of up to 1-1/2% per month on all billed amounts outstanding more than 30 days. The assigned bargaining unit member is not responsible to collect payment for work assignment; it is the responsibility of the City to arrange payments. The assigned officer shall not be held liable for non-payment by the contractor and be paid for hours worked in the next payroll check.

Effective upon ratification and approval of the Contract, all Extra Duty Security Jobs shall include the time necessary to process an arrest, subject to supervisor approval.

Effective upon ratification and approval of the Contract, if an employee receives notice of cancellation of a weekday assignment between seventy (70) minutes prior to the start time of the weekday Extra Duty assignment and the start time of said assignment, said employee shall receive four (4) hours' pay at the Extra Duty rate. For notice of cancellation of weekend Extra Duty assignments received by the employee after 11:00 pm on the Friday before the weekend, or on weekdays after the start time of the Extra Duty assignment, the employees shall be paid the full amount for the time scheduled for the Extra Duty assignment.

## Section 6

Whenever a member performs Extra Police Duty for more than eight (8) hours in any one day and for the same employer, he or she shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half the hourly rate as set forth in Section 7 of this Article and for any such hours or portion thereof.

#### Section 7

(a) Extra Police Duty that falls within the job classification of a Uniform Police Officer

shall be paid at his or her rate of pay regardless of the rank of the person who may be assigned.

- (b) Extra Police Duty that falls within the job description of a Detective shall be paid at time and one half  $(1\frac{1}{2})$  of the rate of pay of a Detective regardless of the rank of the person who may be assigned.
- (c) Extra Police Duty that falls within the job description of a supervisor as defined in this Article shall be paid at time and one half  $(1\frac{1}{2})$  of the rate of pay commensurate with the rank held.

Extra duty will merge into the employee's regular payroll check and be disbursed on a weekly basis with sufficient identification of the amount of hours worked attributable to said extra duty noted thereon. In order to satisfy the system requirements, processing deadlines, and ensure payment on a timely weekly basis, extra duty will represent a period of seven (7) calendar days which covers Sunday through Saturday of the full calendar week prior to the scheduled payment date. Extra duty tickets that are received at the Police Department during this pay period, should be forwarded to the Controller's Office on a daily basis in the work week prior to scheduled payment to expedite processing, however, all pertinent extra duty tickets must be received at the Controller's Office by Monday 12:00 p.m. of the week in which payment is to be issued.

Example: Payment will be issued on June 25, 1999 for extra duty job tickets for the pay period of Sunday, June 13, 1999 through Saturday, June 19, 1999. Job tickets pertinent to this pay period are to be submitted to the Controller's Office by the Police Department on a daily basis during the work week prior to the scheduled payment, however, all job tickets inclusive of Saturday, June 19, 1999, must be received by the Controller's Office no later than Monday, June 21 at 12:00 p.m. to accommodate payment on Friday, June 25. In the event of a Monday holiday when the Controller's Office is scheduled to be closed, all extra duty tickets for completed assignments must be submitted to the Controller's Office no later than 2:00 p.m. on the Friday prior to the Monday holiday. Extra duty worked after 2:00 p.m. On such Fridays and on the Saturday or Sunday following that Friday will be paid in the following pay cycle. Tardy ticket submissions will be included in the next regular weekly payment. Each officer shall be responsible to submit his/her Extra Duty tickets within seven (7) days of performing the Extra Duty assignment.

#### Section 8

Nothing in this Article shall prevent a supervisor of a higher or lesser rank from being assigned to Extra Police Duty when a supervisor of a higher or lesser rank is not available to fill a supervisory assignment.

# Section 9

Extra Police duty shall fall within the meaning of "Line of Duty" appearing in Item (b) of Section 3 of Article 6, Sick Leave.

If, during the duration of this Agreement, it is found that the fair distribution of Extra Police Duty is not being accomplished due to the provisions of this Article, the Union and Management may mutually agree to make whatever change is necessary to accomplish that end.

#### Section 11

Lighting shall be supplied for all night extra duty traffic assignments.

#### Section 12

For the purpose of this Article and this Section, a "private job" is defined as any Extra Police Duty assignment for which an Officer is requested by name for security work, by any person, firm, corporation or other entity in and works in excess of 24 hours during any one-week period, commencing from 2400 hours Sunday to 2400 hours the following Sunday. Any Police Officer who falls within the definition of a "private job" shall be ineligible for any more Extra Police Duty during the "private job" week unless no other Officer is available after exhausting the hiring list.

#### **ARTICLE 14 - Pensions**

#### Section 1

Police Pension Plan #2, and all amendments thereto, shall be the Police Pension Plan for all members of the Department.

Effective July 1, 1994, Special Act 531 (1957), known as Police Pension Plan #2 shall be amended as follows:

- (A) Section 1. All persons appointed to the Police Department of the City of New Haven shall belong to the Policemen's and Firemen's Pension Fund.
- (B) The management and administration of the pension plan are hereby vested in a Pension Board, which shall consist of seven members: Two members of the Board of Police Commissioners, two members of the Board of Fire Commissioners, two employees' representatives, one from each department (Police and Fire) appointed by vote of the membership of each department, and the Mayor, who shall be President of said Board. Vacancies to the Board shall be filled by the Mayor with the exception of the employee members, which shall be filled by vote of the membership of the respective department in which the vacancy occurred. The term of each Commissioner shall be for two years.
- (C) The Pension Board shall be trustees of said Fund and may invest and reinvest the principal and income of said Fund in bonds and other investments which at the time of purchase constitute legal investments as the laws relating to trust funds may permit. The City Treasurer shall be its treasurer and the clerk of said Fund shall be appointed by the Board. All orders on said Fund shall be signed by the clerk and countersigned by the President.

- (D) The Pension Board shall submit annually to the Board of Aldermen's Finance Committee, prior to the first of September, a schedule of its estimated expenses necessary to carry out the purpose of the Fund and said Committee shall include said estimate in the estimate to be submitted to the full Board of Aldermen in accordance with Charter requirements relative to annual estimates and appropriations for the City of New Haven. The Pension Board shall report annually to the Board of Aldermen the financial condition of the retirement plan including at least every three years, an actuarial valuation of the Fund, and setting forth such other facts, recommendations and data pertinent to maintaining the Fund on a sound actuarial basis.
- (E) (1) Each Police Department member of said Policemen's and Firemen's Pension Fund who (a) graduated from the Police Academy before 12/18/12 and (b) has completed twenty (20) or more years of service with the Police Department (service defined as sworn service plus any combined buyback time), upon his or her written application to the Pension Board, shall be entitled to retirement regardless of age.
- (2) Each Police Department member of said Policemen's and Firemen's Pension Fund who (a) was graduated from the Police Academy after 12/18/12, and (b)(1) has completed twenty-five (25) or more years of service with the Police Department (service defined as sworn service plus any combined buyback time), or (2) has attained a minimum age of 52; upon his or her written application to the Pension Board, shall be entitled to retirement.
- (3) Each Police Department member of said Policemen's and Firemen's Pension Fund who: (a) was hired after Class 24, and (b)(1) has completed twenty-five (25) or more years of service (does not include any combined buyback time), or (2) has attained a minimum age of 52; upon his or her written application to the Pension Board, shall be entitled to retirement.
- (F) Any member who shall have attained the age of sixty seven (67) shall be retired on the day following attainment of such age.
- (G) Any member shall be eligible for retirement from active service who shall have completed five (5) or more years of continuous service, upon a certificate of the medical examiners appointed by the Board showing that such member is permanently disabled, physically or mentally, so as to be unfit for duty.
- (H) If such disability is shown to the satisfaction of the Board to have arisen out of and in the course of his or her employment by the City as defined by the Workers' Compensation Act, a member of the Fund shall be eligible for retirement irrespective of the duration of his or her employment.
- (I) Effective upon ratification of this Agreement, the contribution for Pension Plan #2 members shall be increased from 10% to 12%. Employees shall also separately contribute 4.8% of their total extra duty earnings to the Plan. The City shall bill the extra duty vendors an additional surcharge, which shall be contributed directly to the Plan on a quarterly basis. The Pension Plan shall become qualified and the employee's total contribution shall be tax deferred.
- (J) After retirement, in accordance with the provisions of this Article 14, each member shall receive an annual allowance, payable monthly during his or her lifetime and terminating at his or her death. For members who graduated from the Police Academy prior to October 20, 2012, such allowance shall be in an amount equal to two and one half percent (2-1/2%) of his or

her average total annual earnings of his or her four (4) highest years of earnings up to a maximum of eighty percent (80%) of his or her average total earnings of such four (4) highest years of earnings. For members who graduated from the Police Academy after October 20, 2012, such allowance shall be in an amount equal to two percent (2%) of his or her average total annual earnings of his or her four (4) highest years of budgeted salary up to a maximum of seventy percent (70%) of his or her average total earnings of such four (4) highest years of budgeted salary; except, however, those recruits who graduated between 10/20/12 and 12/18/12 shall be permitted an 80% maximum pension benefit. Provided, however, that such allowance for permanent and total disability arising out of and in the course of employment as defined in the Workers' Compensation Act shall not be less than one-half (1/2) of the member's annual rate of pay at the time of disability; and further provided that such allowance for permanent and total disability as the result of causes which are not related to his or her employment with the Police Department shall consist of an annual pension, payable monthly, in an amount equal to fifty percent (50%) of his or her average total annual earnings of his or her four (4) highest years not to be lower than his/her budgeted salary.

For employees hired prior to November 1, 2009, the terms "pay", "rates of pay", "annual rate of pay", "earnings" and "total annual earnings" shall be deemed to mean wages or salary, including increases or decreases thereof, payments on account of overtime worked, and the value of maintenance, if any; and shall also include fifty percent (50%) of extra duty compensation earned on or after July 1, 1994.

For employees hired after November 1, 2009, the terms "pay", "rates of pay", "annual rate of pay", "earnings" and "total annual earnings" shall be deemed to mean base wages or salary, including increases or decreases thereof. Four and Eight tenths percent (4.8%) of payments received on account of overtime and extra duty compensation shall be subject to mandatory contribution into the City's Defined Contribution plan.

Notwithstanding the above, average total annual earnings shall in no event be less than the member's budgeted annual salary at the time of retirement. For the purposes of calculating average total annual earnings, for an employee who was hired prior to November 1, 2009, the earnings during his or her final year of service shall be the greater of the actual gross earnings or the budgeted earnings in the fiscal year in which the employee retires. Credit for service shall be determined by the time actually worked as a full time employee in full and fractional years of service calculated on a daily basis. Credit for service shall be determined by the time actually worked as a full-time employee, except that credit for a full year of service shall be given where absences without pay within the year do not exceed ninety days. For purposes of service credit, absences due to work-related injuries shall be considered time actually worked. Employees who graduated from the Police Academy prior to October 20, 2012 who receive such credit shall make such contribution as required under the Plan based upon the amount paid by the City to make up the difference between the amount of Worker's Compensation pay and the normal amount of weekly pay. In the event that there is no amount paid by the City to make up such difference, the employee shall make such contribution as required under the Plan as if the employee had received differential pay. Employees who graduated from the Police Academy after October 20, 2012 who receive such credit shall make such contribution as required under the Plan based upon the total compensation received.

(K) For members who graduated from the Police Academy prior to October 20, 2012, in calculating the percentage of salary to be awarded as a pension to an employee who is otherwise

eligible for a pension, the retiring employee shall be awarded two and one-half percent (2.5%) for each year of employment for the first twenty (20) years of employment; and for each additional year from the 21st through the 30th year of employment, the employee shall be given three percent (3%), but in no event shall the total amount of the pension, as otherwise calculated under Pension Plan #2 exceed eighty percent (80%). For members who graduated from the Police Academy after October 20, 2012, in calculating the percentage of salary to be awarded as a pension to an employee who is otherwise eligible for a pension, the retiring employee shall be awarded two percent (2%) for each year of employment for the first twenty (20) years of employment; and for each additional year from the 21st year of employment and each year thereafter, the employee shall be given two and a half percent (2.5%), but in no event shall the total amount of the pension, as otherwise calculated under Pension Plan #2 exceed seventy percent (70%), except however those recruits who graduated between 10/20/12 and 12/19/12 shall be permitted an 80% maximum pension benefit.

- (L) DEATH WHILE AN ACTIVE MEMBER OR RETIRED MEMBER: If an employee dies while an active member, the surviving spouse shall receive fifty percent (50%) of the rate of pay of the employee at the time of death until the spouse's death or remarriage, or sixty five (65%) of the monthly pension received by such member at the time of his or her death if retired. For one (1) dependent child, an additional 10%, for two (2) or more dependent children, an additional 20%. In any of the above cases, upon the death of such a widow/widower, before or after remarriage, the Pension Board may cause to be paid monthly, to the legally appointed guardian of the child or children of such widow/widower for whom or to whom benefits are payable in accordance with Section (M), for the use and benefits of such child or children, a sum or sums not exceeding in total the amount herein before provided to be received by such widow/widower, and may, from time to time, apportion such sums between such children as it may deem best, provided as each child reaches the age or the condition when he or she no longer qualifies for benefits in accordance with said Section (M), the payment to or for such child shall cease. The term, "widow/widower" as used in this Section, shall be limited to (1) the surviving spouse of such member who was married to him or her prior to his or her retirement from the Department, if retired, and who was living with him or her at the time of his or her death, or, if not so living with him or her, was absent by reason of his or her fault or (2) the surviving spouse of such member who married him or her subsequent to his or her retirement from such Department, if retired, and lived with him or her continuously thereafter until the time of his or her death but not less than five years or, if not so living with him or her at the time of his/her death, was absent by reason of his or her fault.
- (M) The term, "child" or "children" as it is used in Section (L) shall mean the child or children born before or after the death of a Police Department member of said pension fund, to such member and spouse to whom he or she was married prior to his or her death, if an active member at the time of his or her death, and/or the child or children who was or were legally adopted by such member and such spouse prior to the date of his or her death, and prior to the date of his or her retirement, if retired. Benefits which are payable from said pension fund on account of or to each child of a member of said pension fund, in accordance with Section (L) shall be paid on account of or to each such child until he or she reaches eighteen (18) years of age, except that such benefits shall be paid on account of or to each such child, regardless of age, if such child is physically or mentally disabled to the extent that he or she is unable to secure gainful employment, subject to certification of the existence of such disability by the medical examiners appointed by the Pension Board.

- There shall be paid to a widow/widower, as designated in Section (L) of this Article 14, of any member of the Police Department, including supernumeraries, who shall be killed while in the actual performance of duty or shall die from the proximate effects of any injuries received while in the actual discharge of such duty, irrespective of the length of service of such member at the time of his or her death or failure to contribute to the P&F fund, a weekly compensation equal to the difference between the maximum weekly compensation to which a widow/widower of any deceased member is entitled and receives under the provisions of the general statutes relating to Workers' Compensation and the weekly earnings of his or her deceased spouse at the time of his or her death as aforesaid. Such weekly compensation shall be paid to a widow/widower as aforesaid for so long a period as he or she shall be entitled to pursuant to the Workman's Compensation Commission and shall receive a weekly compensation under the provisions of the general statutes relating to Workers' Compensation. The benefits provided for under this Section shall be deemed to be benefits in addition to any otherwise granted. This Section shall not be interpreted as affecting in any way the pension provision of this Article 14 with respect to Police Officers, and the benefits provided in this Section shall be paid by appropriation from the general funds of the City of New Haven. After the benefits under Workers' Compensation have been exhausted, a widow/widower may continue to receive benefits as provided for under Section (L) of this Article 14. The benefits of this Section shall be deemed waived by the widow/widower if the widow/widower or his or her representative or the representatives of the estate of his or her deceased spouse shall bring any action for money damages for the death of his or her spouse against the City of New Haven, officials of the City of New Haven, or against any fellow employee of his or her deceased spouse whom the City of New Haven must indemnify by law. In the event that any money damages are recovered by suit, settlement or otherwise by a widow/widower, as designated in said Section (L) or by his or her representative or by the representative of the estate of his or her deceased spouse, for the death of his or her deceased spouse, the City of New Haven shall be entitled to reimbursement from said money damages for any benefits it shall have paid under this Section to said widow/widower.
- (O) If a member of the fund shall terminate his or her service with the City before retirement the total amount of his or her contributions shall be repaid to him or her. If a member shall die before retirement from active service and prior to the completion of ten years of continuous service, the total amount of his or her contributions shall be paid to the beneficiary designated by him or her. If no designated beneficiary shall survive the member, said amount may be paid, in the discretion of the Board, to the surviving widow/widower, in equal shares to the surviving parents or parent or, if there be no surviving parent, in equal shares to the member's surviving brothers and sisters; if said amount is not so paid, it shall be paid to the member's executor or administrator. If a member shall die after retirement from active service and before he or she shall receive payments on account of his or her retirement allowance at least equal to the total amount of his or her contribution to the date of retirement, the difference between said payments and said contributions shall be paid to the beneficiary designated by him or her. If no designated beneficiary shall survive the members, said amount shall be paid as herein before provided.
- (P) The Pension Board shall have the power to make reasonable rules and regulations for carrying out the provisions of this Article 14 and may employ such assistance as is necessary for the purpose. Such cost shall be borne by the City in its annual appropriation.
- (Q) If a member of the fund shall terminate his or her service with the City before retirement, the total amount of his or her contributions shall be repaid to him or her unless he or

she is a Police Officer who qualifies for a vested benefit. Pension rights for members of the Police Department shall become vested after ten (10) years of continuous service, conditioned upon the member leaving his or her contributions in the pension fund. Such deferred vested pension shall become payable on the date when such member would have first become eligible for retirement if he or she had remained in service, upon his or her completion of twenty (20) years of continuous service (for members who graduated from the Police Academy prior to 12/18/12]), or twenty-five (25) years of continuous service (for members who graduated from the Police Academy after 12/18/12]). The amount of such vested pension shall be equal to two percent (2%) of his or her average rate of pay for his or her final ten full years of actual service for each full year of actual service as a Police Officer.

# (R) <u>Cost Of Living Adjustment</u>

All members who retire on normal retirement, or on service-connected disability retirement after 20 or more years, and their eligible survivors, shall receive the following benefits.

- 1. A cost of living adjustment in pension benefits if they have received at least six monthly pension payments prior to said date or have been credited with six monthly pension benefits prior to said date.
- 2. Thereafter on January 1st of each odd-numbered year the pension benefit payable to each member or his or her eligible survivors who have received at least six monthly pension payments or have been credited with six monthly pension payments prior to said January 1st of each odd-numbered year shall be adjusted.
- 3. The adjustment will be made based upon the increase or decrease in the cost of living as indicated by the Federal Consumer Price Index, Urban Wage Earners & Clerical Workers, All Cities(CPI-W).
  - 4. The adjustment will be computed as follows:
- (a) The index number for the two calendar years immediately preceding the effective date of the adjustment shall be compared.
- (b) From the index number for the calendar years immediately preceding the effective date of the adjustment there shall be subtracted the index number for the calendar year immediately preceding the calendar year prior to the effective date of the adjustment.
- (c) The percentage increase or decrease in the index numbers applicable to said two calendar years shall be computed by dividing the difference by the index number applicable to the first calendar year in said two year period.
- (d) Said percentage so determined shall be applied so as to increase or decrease the monthly pension benefit paid or payable to the member or his or her eligible survivors during the month immediately prior to the effective date of the adjustment.
- (e) Pension benefits shall be increased by the amount of the percentage determined in (4) but not to exceed (a) 4% (for members who have completed fifteen (15) or more years of service as of March 28, 2012) or (b) 2% (for members who have completed fewer than fifteen (15) years

of service as of March 28, 2012), or (c) 1.5% (for members who graduated from the Academy after October 20, 2012) to correspond to an increase in the cost of living as determined by said computation.

- (f) Pension benefits shall be decreased by the amount of the percentage determined in (4) but not to exceed (a) 4% (for members who have completed fifteen (15) or more years of service as of March 28, 2012) or (b) 2% (for members who have completed fewer than fifteen (15) years of service as of March 28, 2012) or (c) 1.5% (for members who graduated from the Police Academy after October 20, 2012), to correspond to a decrease in the cost of living as determined by said computation; provided that no adjustment as a result of a decrease in the cost of living shall reduce the pension benefit payable to a member or survivor below the original amount which said member or survivor received upon retirement or death of the member, whichever is applicable.
- (g) If the percentage increase or decrease for the appropriate two year period is less than one-quarter of one percent (.25%), no adjustment will be made.
- (h) No member who retires after July 1, 2011 shall have his or her pension adjusted to an amount that exceeds (a) 125% (for members who have completed fifteen (15) or more years of service as of March 28, 2012) or (b) 110% (for members who have completed fewer than fifteen (15) years of service as of March 28, 2012), of the monthly pension benefit which he or she was entitled to receive at the time of his or her retirement.
- (i) The adjustments referred to above shall be fully applicable to the survivors of deceased members.
- (j) If a member dies before receiving the maximum adjustment referred to above, his or her survivors shall be entitled to receive bi-annual adjustments as provided above in an amount not to exceed 125%, or 110%, as applicable, of the survivor's benefits less the percentage of increases granted to the member during his or her lifetime.
- 5. Upon retirement, a member may elect to forgo the benefits provided by the Section (R) in exchange for a buyout of all future cost of living adjustments (COLAs) at the rate of forty percent (40%) of the actuarial value of the benefits.

#### (S) Disability - Earnings Adjustment

Any employee who retires on a service-connected or non service-connected disability who has not completed thirteen years of service prior to the effective date of his or her retirement, and who, after retirement, receives earnings from employment or self-employment, shall have his or her pension benefit adjusted as follows:

1. If the amount of money earned by employment or self-employment after retirement plus the amount of pension exceeds the amount of salary in the Contract applicable to employees holding the same rank or position held by the retiree at the time of his or her retirement, the pension benefit shall be reduced by an amount equal to the excess of said outside earnings over the amount of salary applicable to employees in the same rank or position held by the retiree at the time of retirement.

- 2. Said retirees pension payment shall be discontinued and/or withheld unless he or she files with the Pension Board annually before April 30th a sworn statement of such earnings for the preceding calendar year as shown in his or her federal tax return. The reduction in his or her disability annuity shall equal one hundred percent (100%) of any excess of his or her earnings including his or her pension in the preceding calendar year over the sum of money specified in the Labor Agreement for the position that the employee held just prior to disability retirement.
  - 3. No adjustment will be made for earnings after age 65.
- 4. The Pension Board shall have the sole discretion to waive the provisions of (S), (1), (2) and (3) above, upon certification by the Chief that the disability was service-connected and occurred while the employee was affecting an arrest, while participating in departmental training, while responding to calls for Police Service or while handling calls for Police Service of a hazardous nature. In such case, the disability pension shall not be subject to such cap on earnings nor to any cost of living increase.
  - (T) Sick Leave, Military Service, Prior City Service Buy Back:
  - (1) Sick Leave Buyback and Combined Buyback Caps:

Tier I: All current employees, including those who graduated from the Police Academy prior to October 20, 2012, and who have 20 years of City of New Haven service (service defined as sworn service plus any combined buyback time) may elect to exchange up to one hundred and fifty (150) days of accumulated sick leave which may be exchanged for no more than five (5) years of credited service (thirty [30] sick days shall equal one [1] year of credited service) pursuant to the guidelines herein. (These employees may also purchase prior city service time and/or military time for additional years of service for a total cap [sick, military, prior city service] of 9 years of service.)

Tier II: Employees who graduated after the October 20, 2012 Academy Class and who have 25 years of City of New Haven service (service defined as sworn service plus any combined buyback time) may elect to exchange up to one hundred and fifty (150) sick days for no more than five (5) years of credited service (thirty [30] sick days shall equal one [1] year of credited service) pursuant to the guidelines herein. (These employees may also purchase prior city service time and/or military time for additional years of service for a total cap [sick, military, prior city service] of 8 years of service.)

Tier III: Employees hired after the ratification and approval date of this contract may elect to exchange up to one hundred and fifty (150) sick days for no more than five (5) years of credited service (thirty [30] sick days shall equal one [1] year of credited service) pursuant to the guidelines herein. (These employees may also purchase (within 6 months of hire) prior city service time and/or military time for additional years of service for a total cap [sick, military, prior city service] of 6 years of service.)

A cap of 20 Employees in the ratification calendar year may elect to utilize the

sick leave buyback and shall have until November 30, 2019 to elect this buyback for the 2019 calendar year. The 20 most senior employees (based on time as a sworn New Haven officer plus any prior City time purchased) who provide a written notice of their intent to retire and use this benefit shall be eligible. Any employee who submits an application by November 30, 2019 and is not among the top 20 employees in seniority doing so, may revoke their election.

Thereafter, a cap of 20 employees per calendar year may elect to utilize the sick leave buyback within a window period from January 1 through February 28 of each year of the contract to elect this buyback for that current year. The 20 most senior employees (based on time as a sworn New Haven officer only) who provide a written notice of their intent to retire and use this benefit shall be eligible.

Process for Utilization of Sick Leave Buyback: (Takes place in the Pension office)

- Employee must sign up during the window period of January 1 through February 28 of the year in which he/she desires to retire;
- Employee must identify, at sign up, a retirement date certain within the remainder of that calendar year (no later than December 31);
- No later than two months prior to the identified retirement date, employee must notify the pension office to either irrevocably confirm the identified retirement date or irrevocably rescind his/her retirement application;
- Should an employee choose to rescind his/her retirement application, the pension office shall notify the next eligible person on the retirement list, who then will be able to irrevocably file his/her retirement application, with a date certain no later than December 31.

# (2) Military Buyback:

Any current sworn police officer who has served in a branch of the United States Armed Forces (Army, Navy, Air Force, Marines, Coast Guard or Space Force; active call up time only for National Guard or Reserves) prior to becoming a New Haven Police Officer, shall have the opportunity to purchase pension time for each year of active service (1 year of military service - 1 year of service for pension purposes) and have said time credited for pension purposes, up to a maximum of four (4) years. This section is applicable and available to all members as outlined in the Combined Pension Buyback in (1) above. If a member has already purchased military buyback, they do not need to do so again.

There shall be a four-year total cap on military leave buyback. There shall be a one-time six-month window from the ratification and approval of the contract for current employees to apply for this buyback. Once the window has been closed, there shall be no military buyback benefit. New employees have the option for military buyback only in the first six months after their hire. Employees opting for the buyback shall pay an amount equal to their annual salary at the date of hire times 5%, multiplied by the number of years of credit being purchased. Employees may make this payment in a lump sum or over up to three (3) years by payroll deduction at employee's option.

(3) Prior City Service Buy Back: Any current sworn police officer who has prior paid service with the City, shall have the opportunity to purchase pension time for each year of active City service and have said time credited for pension purposes, up to a maximum of four (4)

years. This section is applicable and available to all members as outlined in the Combined Pension Buyback in Subsection (T) (1) above. There shall be a one-time six-month window from the ratification and approval of the contract for current employees to apply for this buyback. Once the window has been closed, there shall be no prior city service buyback benefit. New employees shall have the option for prior service buyback within the first six months after their hire. Prior City service buyback shall be in accordance with the collective bargaining agreement.

NOTE: Employees who have previously purchased more than four years of prior City service time as of July 1, 2019, shall maintain those purchased years, but shall still be subject to the combined buyback cap for their applicable Tier as outlined in (1) above.

- (4) The number of sick leave days exchanged must have a value of at least one (1) year of service. Upon an employee's application for this benefit, said employee's retirement shall be considered at the Pension Board's next regularly scheduled meeting.
- (5) An employee who has completed ten (10) or more years of service as of July 1, 2011, and who works at least 30 years as a City of New Haven employee without the benefit of participating in any buyback program, may cash in 30 sick days from the sick leave payout maximum in Article 6, Section 6(a), at retirement to increase their maximum pension to 83%. Buybacks shall be subject to the following conditions:
  - (i) The number of sick leave days exchanged must have a value of at least one year of service;
  - (ii) The employees who provide a written notice of their intent to retire and use this benefit shall be eligible, and shall submit a pension application within 30 days of the date on which they provide such notice.
- (6) Tax Liability: The determination of the purchased years of additional pension service credit will be predicated upon the corresponding gross case equivalence of the accrued leave time utilized. The appropriate Federal and State withholding taxes will be deducted from the respective employee's gross cash equivalence and will be considered the employee's cost for purchase of these additional pension years of credited service. The employee's annual W-2 wage statement will reflect the gross cash equivalence of all accrued leave days of service as taxable compensation. The appropriate Federal and State Tax liabilities on the gross cash equivalence will be reported as taxes paid.
- (U) References herein to the male gender shall be deemed to include the female gender where appropriate.
- (V) The Fund shall accept rollover contributions, but solely from a Member or former Member of the Fund whose rollover contribution consists of Member contributions previously refunded to him which were tax deferred as "pick up" contributions under Section 414 (h)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code, and were held from the time of refund, or within sixty (60) days of refund, by an Individual Retirement Account which meets the requirements for a "conduit IRA" under Section 408 (d)(3)(A)(ii) of the Internal Revenue Code.

Such rollover contributions shall be in the amount of the previous refund, plus an amount equal to the calculated interest payment under interest rates established by the Pension Board. Such rollover contribution shall be utilized solely to credit prior service with the City for

calculation of benefits under the Fund Plan; it shall not be held in a separate account but shall be commingled with all other Fund contributions as if they were current "pick up" contributions from active Members.

If a prior Member of the Fund is again hired by the Police Department, and becomes eligible to be a Member of the Fund, and has prior credited service with the City with respect to which Member contributions were refunded to him or her, such Member may elect to reinstate such prior credited service with the Fund within six months of his or her return to City service. If the Member elects to reinstate such prior credited service, the Member shall then cause a rollover or repayment of refunded Member contributions to be made to the Fund, as set forth below.

If tax deferred contributions were previously refunded to the Member, and then rolled over into an Individual Retirement Account which qualifies as a "conduit IRA", under Internal Revenue Code Section 408(d) (3) (A) (ii), said tax deferred contributions shall be rolled over back into the Fund. If a Member has received a refund of contributions and has paid taxes thereon, or holds contributions in an Individual Retirement Account which is not a "conduit IRA", said Member shall repay the full amount of those contributions to the Fund. The Member must pay the full amount of the latest refund, in either case, together with interest, in order to credit his or her prior service with the City for the calculation of a benefit under the Fund Plan. The interest rate will be established by the Pension Board. The total amount of returned contributions may be paid in lump sum or by payment of equal monthly installments of at least \$10.00 over a period not to exceed 36 months. Any installment arrangement will be required to be paid in full before prior credited service is granted, and a failure to make an installment shall constitute a breach of the agreement, which shall eliminate credit for any prior credited service for such Member, and shall require the Pension Board to refund to the Member all installments previously paid (without interest)."

(W) In consideration for those employees hired in or prior to 1990 who at the time of retirement have a four (4) year average that is not more than the employee's base salary, said employee's total annual earnings shall be the equivalent of the annual salary of an employee's holding the next higher rank to that held by the retiring employee prior to retirement. For purposes of calculating the four (4) year average, only plainclothes differential pay, overtime and extra duty pay will be added to the regular pay.

# Section 2Optional Transfer Of Pension Credits In Event A Member Changes To, Or From, Permanent Employment Covered By The Policemen's And Firemen's Pension Fund

In the event of such change of employment within the City of New Haven the member can elect that the period of prior service for which he or she made contributions to the first Fund shall be included in determining the amount of his or her pension benefits under the second Fund to which he or she has transferred his or her participation. Such transfer of credits shall be contingent on a transfer of cash between the Funds equal to the actuarial reserve for his or her participating service in the first Fund, including both the employee's and the City's contributions therefore, and all rights to pension or other benefits under the first Fund will be terminated by such transfer.

## Section 3

An Ordinance of the City of New Haven entitled: "An Ordinance Merging Police & Fire Pension Plans Nos. 1 and 2" is hereby incorporated into this Agreement.

#### Section 4

If any Member in the course of employment with the City commits any act of dishonesty or fraud which leads to a criminal conviction, a plea of guilty or nolo contendere and the termination from employment for the same offense(s), the Board of Police Commissioners shall have the right to revoke or reduce said Members retirement benefits including pension, retiree health care, and accrued payouts. Such revocation or reduction of benefits shall not include his/her contributions with Credited Interest. Any revocation or reduction under the provisions of this Section shall be forfeited to the City and treated thereafter as amounts contributed by the City in the current or next succeeding year. In determining that portion to be revoked or reduced, the Board shall give due consideration to the needs and interests of innocent beneficiaries of the payments and benefits, including spouses and children who would otherwise be unduly harmed by forfeiture. Additionally, the Board shall take into consideration the severity of the act of fraud or dishonesty, and the cost to the City resultant from the act of fraud or dishonesty.

In the event the member's benefits are reduced or revoked, the Board of Police Commissioners shall notify said Member, the Union and the Pension Board, in writing, of the reduction or revocation and the reason or reasons therefore. The Union may, within thirty (30) days of the date of such notice, in writing, request arbitration on the issue of the revocation or reduction of his/her Retirement Benefits. Any request for arbitration shall be submitted to the American Arbitration Association (AAA) for adjudication. AAA's selection procedures shall control the selection of a single arbitrator.

Connecticut contract law shall control. Chapter 909 of the General Statutes shall be applicable as it relates to any dispute from the appeal procedure including appeals.

#### **ARTICLE 15 - Rates Of Pay**

#### Section 1

- A. The wage schedules on June 30, 2016 shall be increased by two and one-quarter (2.25%) percent to be effective and retroactive to July 1, 2016.
- B. The wage schedules on June 30, 2017 shall be increased by two (2%) percent to be effective and retroactive to July 1, 2017.
- C. The wage schedules on June 30, 2018 shall be increased by two (2%) percent to be effective and retroactive to July 1, 2018.
- D. Effective July 1, 2019 the wage schedules on June 30, 2019 shall be increased by two and one-quarter (2.25%) percent to be effective and retroactive to July 1, 2019.
- E. Effective July 1, 2020 the wage schedules on June 30, 2020 shall be increased by two and one-quarter (2.25%) percent.

- F. Effective July 1, 2021 the wage schedules in effect on June 30, 2021 shall be increased by two and three-quarters (2.75%) percent.
- G. The retroactive wages for 2016-17, 2017-18, 2018-19 and 2019-20 shall be paid as follows: calculated at 100% of base pay and overtime pay only. To be disbursed as follows: 1/3 of the retroactive amount paid on November 14, 2019; 1/3 of the retroactive amount paid July of 2020; and 1/3 of the retroactive amount paid July of 2021. In order to be eligible for these payments, members must be an active employee on the date of distribution. Retroactive payments shall be issued in a separate check and shall not be included in the members' regular paycheck. The new wage rates will go into effect with the November 15, 2019 paycheck.

Any officer hired by the City of New Haven who has prior police experience will be paid at the following starting rates of pay:

Up to five (5) years of police experience, the starting salary will be at the Police Officer 2 rate of pay  $(2^{nd} \text{ year})$ .

7/1/14 6/20/17

More than five (5) years of police experience, the starting salary will be at the Police Officer rate of pay.

	7/1/16 - 6/30/17	
	<u>Annual</u>	
Commander	\$99,544	
Captain	\$96,132	
Chief Investigator	\$91,307	
Superintendent	\$88,852	
Lieutenant	\$87,570	
Sergeant	\$78,569	
Detective	\$74,418	
Police Officer	\$69,834	
Police Officer 2nd (1st year)	\$45,403	
Police Officer 2nd (2nd year)	\$53,915	
	7/1/17 - 6/30/18	
	<u>Annual</u>	
Commander	\$101,535	
Captain	\$98,055	
Chief Investigator	stor \$93,133	
Superintendent	\$90,629	
Lieutenant	\$89,321	
Sergeant	\$80,140	
Detective	\$75,906	
Police Officer	\$71,230	
Police Officer 2nd (1st year)	\$46,311	

	7/1/18 - 6/30/19	
	<u>Annual</u>	
Commander	\$103,566	
Captain	\$100,016	
Chief Investigator	\$94,996	
Superintendent	\$92,442	
Lieutenant	\$91,108	
Sergeant	\$81,743	
Detective	\$77,424	
Police Officer	\$72,655	
Police Officer 2nd (1st year)	\$47,237	
Police Officer 2nd (2 <sup>nd</sup> year)	\$56,094	
	7/1/19 - 6/30/20	
	<u>Annual</u>	
Commander	\$105,896	
Captain	\$102,266	
Chief Investigator	\$97,133	
Superintendent	\$94,522	
Lieutenant	\$93,158	
Sergeant	\$83,582	
Detective – Tier 1	\$79,166	
Detective – Tier 2	\$80,353	
Detective – Tier 3	\$82,362	
Police Officer	\$74,290	
Police Officer 2nd (1st year)	\$48,300	
Police Officer 2nd (2 <sup>nd</sup> year)	\$57,356	
	7/1/20 - 6/30/21	
	<u>Annual</u>	
Commander	\$108,279	
Captain	\$104,567	
Chief Investigator	\$99,319	
Superintendent	\$96,648	
Lieutenant	\$95,254	
Sergeant	\$85,463	
Detective – Tier 1	\$80,947	
Detective – Tier 2	\$82,161	
Detective – Tier 3	\$84,215	
Police Officer	\$75,961	
Police Officer 2nd (1st year)		
Police Officer 2nd (2nd year)	\$58,646	
	7/1/21- 6/30/22	

	Annual
Commander	\$111,257
Captain	\$107,443
Chief Investigator	\$102,050
Superintendent	\$99,306
Lieutenant	\$97,873
Sergeant	\$87,813
Detective – Tier 1	\$83,173
Detective – Tier 2	\$84,421
Detective – Tier 3	\$86,531
Police Officer	\$78,050
Police Officer 2nd (1st year)	\$50,745
Police Officer 2nd (2nd year)	\$60,259

## **Detective Tier Pay**

Effective upon ratification and approval of the Contract, there shall be three (3) tiers of Detective pay as follows:

A mm.r.a1

- **Tier 1:** This is the pay Tier upon first making the rank of Detective and is shown as "Detective" pay in the wage scale preceding this paragraph.
- **Tier 2:** Upon completion of four (4) years in the rank of Detective the pay rate will increase to one and one-half (1.50%) percent over the above Tier 1 Detective pay.
- **Tier 3:** Upon completion of eight (8) years in the rank of Detective the pay rate will increase to two and one-half (2.50%) percent over the above Tier 2 Detective pay.

Note: While the payment is not retroactive, time in Detective rank prior to ratification/approval of the Contract counts toward Tier 2 and 3. For example a Detective with eight or more years of service on the effective date of the Contract would receive Tier 3 pay. However, any time spent as a Detective in a temporary capacity (non-promotional) does not count toward "years in rank of Detective".

#### Section 3

No temporary assignments shall be made to Silver Badge (Plainclothes Division/Detectives) for longer than one hundred eighty (180) days per employee in any twelve (12) month period. The twelve (12) month period shall commence on the first day of the assignment. Longer periods of time may be agreed to by the Department and Union. However, after 90 days the employee shall receive the Detective differential pay. In addition, beginning after ninety (90) days in the assignment, individuals shall receive clothing allowance on a pro rated basis for so long as they remain in the assignment. At the expiration of 180 days, the

assigned officer must return to Patrol or to his original shift and cannot be assigned again for one year from the date of his return.

## Section 4

- (a) All personnel who are assigned to the Units in Emergency Services consisting of Special Weapons, Tactics Unit, Hostage Negotiating Team, Hazardous Devices Unit and/or Underwater Search and Recovery Team, who serves on such Unit for a minimum of six (6) months in any contract year, shall receive an annual one hundred twenty five dollars (\$125.00) lump sum payment, not added to pensions or subject to any deductions.
  - (b) Said payment shall be made no later than July 31st of each year for the preceding year.
- (c) The Chief of Police shall have the right to determine the number of employees who are on each Unit in Emergency Services.
- (d) Employees who cannot physically participate in the Unit shall be removed from said Unit.
- (e) Employees who are on more than one (1) Unit shall receive an additional fifty dollars (\$50.00) for each additional unit.
- (f) Training for such Units shall be mandatory. Training under most circumstances shall be on company time. However, if employees are required to attend training other than on company time they shall receive compensatory time off at time and one-half. Employees who do not attend all of the training without being excused by the Chief's office shall not be eligible to receive the annual payment.
- (g) Employee numbers shall not be used to identify employees for promotional examinations.

# **ARTICLE 16 - Group Life & Health Plans**

## Section 1

The City shall make available to all employees scheduled to work twenty (20) hours per week or more and their eligible dependents, one of five medical care programs known as the Lumenos High Deductible Plan, the CompMix Plan, the Blue Care POE Plan, the Century Preferred PPO Plan and BC-1. These plan summaries are outlined in Appendix A-1 to this Agreement. Prescription coverage for the Comp/Mix, POE, PPO and BC-1 programs shall be as stated on the attached Medical Benefits Matrix.

Effective December 1, 2019, in lieu of the health plans referred to above, the City shall make available to all employees scheduled to work 20 hours per week or more, and their eligible dependents at the employee's election, the following plans:

#### (a) Lumenos

The Lumenos high deductible health plan (HDHP) with a health savings account (HSA) with deductibles of \$2,000/\$4,000 shared in and out-of-network, with in network medical covered 100% after the deductibles are met, and Rx copays after the deductibles are met, and \$4,000/\$6,850 in-network out of pocket maximums; out-of-network coinsurance of 70%/30% after deductible, and out-of-pocket maximums of \$4,000/\$8,000, as described more fully in Appendix A-2. The City shall fund the deductibles as follows:

2019-20 fiscal year 65% / funded in full December 1, 2019 60% / funded 1/2 on July 1, 2020; 1/2 on January 1, 2021 50% / funded 1/2 on July 1, 2021; and 1/2 on January 1, 2022

Funding for retirees shall be as set forth in the Contract under which they retire (e.g. someone retiring in June of 2020 would receive 60% for 2020-21 and 50% for 2021-22).

- (b) The Century Preferred PPO 2018 summarized in Appendix A-2.
- (c) The BlueCare POE-2018 summarized in Appendix A-2.

There shall be an open enrollment period prior to December 1, 2019 for employees to select a new plan. Each year, at a schedule established by the City, the City may hold a required reenrollment for all bargaining unit members and their eligible legally married spouses and dependents. At this time all members will be required to re-enroll in their choice of the City's offered medical benefit plans pursuant to the regulations prescribed by the Human Resources Department. Any individual not participating in this re-enrollment will not be eligible for continuation of medical benefits until such time as they re-enroll pursuant to this section. During the course of this Agreement, the City may require continuing proof of spouse and/or dependent eligibility. New employees shall not be eligible for medical benefits until such time as they provide documentation acceptable to the Human Resources Department. Subsequent to reenrollment or enrollment, any changes in dependent or spouse status must be communicated to the Human Resources Department immediately upon such change taking place. Claims or copayment amounts improperly paid shall be promptly reimbursed to the City by the employee.

Effective upon ratification and approval of the Contract, members will be required to participate in the City's Health Incentive Plan, which is described in Appendix B. As set forth in the plan, non-compliance will result in a monthly penalty of \$50/single, \$75/two person and \$100 family to the employee.

## Section 2

The City will make available to eligible employees, as defined above, a Full Service Dental Plan for individual employees and all eligible legally married spouses and dependents, including the unmarried dependent children rider ages 19-26 and Dental Riders A (additional basic

benefits), B (Prosthetics), C (periodontics) and D (orthodontia) which are summarized in Appendix C.

## Section 3

Employees shall continue to be offered the fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000) life insurance coverage.

## Section 4

The City will provide the Vision Care Rider summarized in Appendix C to all eligible employees and their eligible legally married spouses and dependent children covered by one of the above-referenced medical plans, regardless of the medical plan chosen.

## Section 5 – Retiree Medical

- A. To help offset the cost of retiree medical coverage, effective upon ratification each active member shall contribute 1.25% of their base pay via payroll deduction per pay period.
- B. The following terms shall be applicable to members who retire prior to July 1, 2014:
- (a) Each employee who has 20 years of actual City of New Haven service and who is otherwise eligible for full retirement, and each employee who, on and after said date, retires as a result of a service-connected disability, established through a functional capacity test and any other examination deemed necessary by the Police and Fire Pension Board shall be provided with insurance coverage for himself or herself and his or her dependents in accordance with the insurance coverage provided by the City to active employees. Insurance coverage for retirees hired after November 1, 2009 shall be subject to change based upon corresponding changes in coverage provided to active employees.

Eligible employees who retire on or after the effective date of this agreement shall contribute, through a monthly deduction, a fixed portion of the medical insurance premiums for the level of coverage. Retirees hired before November 1, 2009 may select from Blue Care POE, Century Preferred PPO, the Century Preferred Comp Mix Plan or BC-1 for the retiree and spouse until such time as the retiree becomes eligible for Medicare. Retirees hired on or after November 1, 2009 shall be eligible only for the Century Preferred Comp Mix Plan for the retiree and spouse until such time as the retiree becomes eligible for Medicare. In the event the retiree does not become eligible for Medicare, then the City shall continue the coverage listed above. For retirees who are eligible for Medicare the City shall pay for coverage under Medicare Supplemental Plan C with unlimited pharmaceutical coverage until such time as the retiree would have reached age 70. In addition, the City shall have the ability to pursue, with the cooperation of the retiree and/or covered individual, any and all appropriate riders and other forms of collateral coverage, which may serve to offset costs to the City.

In the event the retiree's spouse is not eligible for Medicare at the time the retiree becomes eligible for Medicare, the City shall provide the spouse insurance coverage through any current retiree plan until such time as the spouse becomes eligible for Medicare or until the retiree reaches age 70. The spouse's copay will be equivalent to the single rate for such plan.

Retirees eligible for coverage under this section may change their participation in the plan only during the City-sponsored open enrollment period. The cost sharing rates shall be fixed at the following monthly rates through June 30, 2014:

CP PPO Single \$50, Couple \$105, Family \$140 BC POE or BC-1 Single \$45, Couple \$85, Family \$135 LUMENOS Single \$45, Couple \$85, Family \$135 COMP MIX Single \$45, Couple \$85, Family \$135

- C. The following terms shall be applicable to members who retire on or after July 1, 2014:
- (a) Each employee who graduated the police academy prior to December 18, 2012, and who has 20 years of City of New Haven service at the time of retirement (service defined as sworn service plus any combined buy back time) and who is otherwise eligible for full retirement, and each employee who, on and after said date, retires as a result of a service-connected disability, established through a functional capacity test and any other examination deemed necessary by the Police and Fire Pension Board shall be provided with insurance coverage for himself or herself and his or her legally married spouse and dependent children in accordance with the insurance coverage provided by the City to active employees. Insurance coverage for such retirees and dependents shall be subject to change based upon corresponding changes in coverage provided to active employees, provided that the coverage remains substantially equivalent.

Eligible employees who retire on or after ratification and approval of this agreement shall contribute, through a monthly deduction, the same percentage of the medical insurance premiums for insurance coverage for himself or herself and his/her eligible dependents as was paid by that retiree in his/her last year of employment with the City. Such percentage shall remain fixed; however, the actual amount paid in one year pursuant to this paragraph shall not exceed one hundred and six percent (106%) of the amount paid in the previous year and shall never exceed the following caps:

20 or more years of service as of 7/1/19 \$525 per month 19 years of service as of 7/1/19 \$700 per month All other current employees as of the date of ratification and approval \$850 per month

Such coverage shall be provided for the retiree and eligible dependents until such time as the retiree reaches the age of Medicare Part A without cost eligibility, at which time coverage shall be for the retiree and spouse only. For retirees who are eligible for Medicare Part A without cost the retiree must apply for Medicare Parts A and B, and pay for Part B. The City shall pay for coverage under Medicare Supplemental Plan C with unlimited pharmaceutical coverage until such time as the retiree would have reached age 70, subject to the retiree paying the cost-share contribution set forth above. In the event the retiree does not become eligible for Medicare Part A without cost, then the City shall continue the coverage listed above for the retiree and spouse only. In addition, the City shall have the ability to pursue, with the cooperation of the retiree and/or covered individual, any and all appropriate riders and other forms of collateral coverage, which may serve to offset costs to the City.

In the event the retiree's spouse is not eligible for Medicare Part A without cost at the time the retiree becomes eligible for Medicare Part A without cost, the City shall provide the spouse insurance coverage through any current retiree plan until such time as the spouse becomes eligible for Medicare Part A without cost or until the retiree reaches age 70. The spouse's copay will be equivalent to an active employee's single rate for such plan.

(b) Each employee who graduated from the Police Academy after December 18, 2012, but was hired on or before ratification and approval, and who has 25 or more years of service at the time of retirement (service defined as sworn service plus any combined buy back time), or attains age 52, and who is otherwise eligible for full retirement, and each such employee who, on and after said date, retires as a result of a service-connected disability, established through a functional capacity test and any other examination deemed necessary by the Police and Fire Pension Board, shall be provided with insurance coverage for himself or herself and his/her spouse, in accordance with the insurance coverage provided by the City to active employees. Such retirees shall be required to re-enroll during open enrollment period, including after the execution of each new successor contract, along with the active members of New Haven Police Union Elm City Local, CACP. Such employees shall be entitled to choose among the medical insurance plan options offered to active members, at the same rate paid by such active employees.

Such eligible employees shall contribute, through a monthly deduction, the same percentage of the medical insurance premiums for insurance coverage for himself or herself and his/her spouse as is paid by active employees in that medical plan. The percentage shall remain fixed at the time of retirement; however, the actual amount paid in one year pursuant to this paragraph shall not exceed the following caps:

20 or more years of service as of 7/1/19 \$525 per month 19 years of service as of 7/1/19 \$700 per month All other current employees as of the date of ratification and approval \$850 per month

Such coverage shall be provided for the retiree and spouse until such time as the retiree reaches the age of Medicare eligibility Part A without cost. For retirees who are eligible for Medicare Part A without cost retiree must apply for Medicare Parts A and B, and pay for Part B. The City shall pay for coverage under Medicare Supplemental Plan C with unlimited pharmaceutical coverage until such time as the retiree reaches age 70, subject to the retiree paying the above cost-share contribution. In the event the retiree does not become eligible for Medicare Part A without cost, then the City shall continue the coverage listed above for the retiree only until the retiree would have reached the age of 70. In addition, the City shall have the ability to pursue, with the cooperation of the retiree and/or the covered individual, any and all appropriate riders and other forms of collateral coverage, which may serve to offset costs to the City.

(c) Each employee hired after ratification and approval of this Agreement, and who has 25 or more actual years of service (defined as sworn service only) at the time of retirement, or attains age 52, and who is otherwise eligible for full retirement, and each such employee who, on and after said date, retires as a result of a service-connected disability, established through a functional capacity test and any other examination deemed necessary by the Police and Fire Pension Board, shall be provided with insurance coverage for himself or herself and his/her spouse, in accordance with the insurance coverage provided by the City to active employees.

Such retirees shall be required to re-enroll during open enrollment period, including after the execution of each new successor contract, along with the active members of New Haven Police Union Elm City Local, CACP. Such employees shall be entitled to choose among the medical insurance plan options offered to active members, at the same rate paid by such active employees.

Such eligible employees shall contribute, through a monthly deduction, the same percentage of the medical insurance premiums for insurance coverage for himself or herself and his/her spouse as is paid by active employees in that medical plan. Such coverage shall be provided for the retiree and spouse until such time as the retiree reaches the age of Medicare eligibility Part A without cost. For retirees who are eligible for Medicare the Part A without cost retiree must apply for Medicare Parts A and B, and pay for Part B. The City shall pay for coverage under Medicare Supplemental Plan C with unlimited pharmaceutical coverage until such time as the retiree reaches age 70, subject to the retiree paying the above cost-share contribution. In the event the retiree does not become eligible for Medicare Part A without cost, then the City shall continue the coverage listed above for the retiree only until the retiree would have reached the age of 70. In addition, the City shall have the ability to pursue, with the cooperation of the retiree and/or the covered individual, any and all appropriate riders and other forms of collateral coverage, which may serve to offset costs to the City.

Retirees eligible for coverage under sections (a), (b) or (c) may change their participation in the plan only during the City-sponsored open enrollment period.

(d) An employee who suffers a catastrophic and dramatically life altering injury which renders him/her totally and permanently disabled from performing police work and which occurred while the employee was affecting an arrest, participating in performance or training, responding to calls for police service or handling calls for police service of a hazardous nature, and who is otherwise eligible for full retirement, and retires as a result of such service-connected disability, established through a functional capacity test and any other examination deemed necessary by the Police and Fire Pension Board, shall be provided with insurance coverage in accordance with the insurance coverage provided by the City to active employees. Insurance coverage for such retiree shall be subject to change based upon corresponding changes in coverage provided to active employees, provided that the coverage remains substantially equivalent.

Such retirees shall contribute, through a monthly deduction, the same percentage of the medical insurance premiums for insurance coverage for himself or herself (and his/her spouse and dependents, as applicable) as was paid by that retiree in his/her last year of employment with the City. Such percentage shall remain fixed; however, the actual amount paid in one year pursuant to this paragraph shall not exceed one hundred and six percent (106%) of the amount paid in the previous year, and shall never exceed \$525 per month.

The provisions of this Section 5(d) shall not apply and/or shall cease to apply in the event that the employee becomes eligible by virtue of other employment for comparable insurance coverage.

## Section 6

The City shall implement and maintain a Section 125 pre-tax wage deduction plan in accordance with applicable provisions of Section 125 of the Internal Revenue Code (and in

accordance with any amendments to said provisions) so long as said provisions allow for such a plan. Said plan will be designed to permit exclusion from taxable income of the employees' share of health insurance premiums for those employees who complete and sign the appropriate wage deduction form. The City shall incur no obligation to engage in any form of impact bargaining in the event that a change in law reduces or eliminates the tax exempt status of the employee insurance premium contributions. Neither the Union nor any employee covered by this Agreement shall make any claim or demand nor maintain any action against the City or any of its members or agents for taxes, penalties, interest or other costs or loss arising from the use of the wage deduction form or from a change in law that may reduce or eliminate the employee tax benefits to be derived from this plan. Further, the parties agree that the health insurance benefits and the administration of those benefits shall continue to be governed by the collective bargaining agreement and the carrier's terms and conditions.

#### Section 7

The City may change insurance carriers; however, the benefits enjoyed under the current plans will not be diminished. The Union will be notified prior to any change and if the Union wishes, the City will fully discuss any changes with them prior to their implementation. If a change of carriers is made, the amount that an employee is contributing for coverage in the program shall not be changed for the duration of this Agreement. The Human Resources Department maintains all plan documents and applicable riders.

## Section 8

In the event there is a change in Connecticut Law which has the effect of divesting health care benefits from employees in same sex marriages, the parties agree to meet to discuss a resolution of the issue.

#### Section 9

The health insurance benefits for retirees and dependents specified in this Article, Section 5 shall cease when the retiree expires, or when the retiree who has expired would have attained the age of 70, whichever comes later.

#### Section 10

Employees shall become eligible for coverage under the insurance plans listed above on the first day of the month following or coincident with 60 days of continuous employment provided, however, that such coverage shall exclude pre-existing conditions for the first full year of the employee's employment.

Active Employees, including new hires, shall be enrolled in either Lumenos High Deductible Plan, the CompMix Plan, the Blue Care POE Plan, the Century Preferred PPO Plan and the BC-1 Plan with cost sharing based on the applicable Fully Insured Applicable rates as follows:

Lumenos	Comp Mix	BC POE	CP PPO	BC-1
15%	18%	22%	28%	

Effective December 1, 2019: (i) employees shall contribute 15.5% of the Fully Insured Equivalent Rate ("FIER") for the HDHP plan; and (ii) Employees electing the PPO or POE shall pay the full buyup from the cost of the HDHP plan, defined as the difference between the FIER for the HDHP together with the City contribution to the HSA, and the FIER for the PPO or POE. The employee selecting the PPO or POE will also pay the employee contribution (15.5%) of the FIER for the HDHP/HSA.

Employees who elect the dental benefits mentioned in Section 16.2 herein shall be responsible for paying fifteen percent (15%) of the cost, based on the Fully Insured Equivalent rate of the single, couple, or family plan selected.

# **ARTICLE 17 - Residency**

All employees shall, as a condition of employment, reside in New Haven or in a Connecticut town, a boundary of which is within twenty (20) miles of a boundary of the City of New Haven within six (6) months of their original date of hire which shall be considered as the date of graduation from the Police Training Academy and Certification as a Police Officer.

## **ARTICLE 18 - Management Rights**

Except where the right of the employer to direct the work force is specifically relinquished, modified, or abridged by the terms of this Agreement or the State of Connecticut Municipal Employee Relations Act, the City shall have and retain the exclusive right to exercise all functions of management including, but not limited to, directing the activities of the Department, determining the levels of service and methods of operation and the introduction of new equipment, the right to hire, layoff, transfer and promote, to discharge and otherwise discipline employees for just cause, to determine work schedules and assign work.

#### **ARTICLE 19 - Educational Incentive**

#### Section 1

(a) Upon satisfactory completion of a degree program in Police Science or Administration at an accredited institution, eligible employees shall receive the following payments once annually. These payments shall not be cumulative for employees with more than one degree.

Associate Degree in Police Science or	\$200.00
Administration	
Bachelor's Degree	\$350.00
Master's Degree	\$450.00

The above rates shall be paid annually.

#### Section 2Eligibility

(a) In order to be eligible for the educational incentive, employees who are enrolled in degree programs must notify the Department at the beginning of the academic year in which they expect to receive their degree.

- (b) Upon successful completion of a degree program, the employee must provide proof of same to the Department in order to receive payment.
- (c) Employees who already possess a degree shall present acceptable documentary evidence of same to the Department.

Educational incentive pay shall be made in a lump sum during the month of July and such lump sum shall be the amount due each eligible employee for the preceding year. Any employee who is discharged shall not be entitled to the educational pay he or she would otherwise have received subsequent to the date of the discharge.

#### Section 4

Employees who resign shall receive a <u>pro rata</u> amount of educational incentive monies based upon the time actually worked during the preceding contract year.

## **ARTICLE 20 - No Strike**

During the term of this Agreement, neither the Union, nor any employees shall induce or engage in any strikes, slowdowns, work stoppages, or other concerted refusal to render services.

## **ARTICLE 21 - Layoff And Recall**

- (a) For the purpose of layoffs, seniority shall mean the amount of continuous service in the employee's classification.
- (b) If the City determines it is necessary to make layoffs, employees shall be laid off in the inverse order of their seniority. However, employees who possess special job skills need not necessarily be laid off if they do not otherwise have sufficient seniority, if in the reasonable determination of the City such special skills must be retained by the Department.
- (c) Any employee who would otherwise be laid off pursuant to (b) shall be offered a position in a lower classification regardless of his or her seniority as it relates to the seniority of the other employees in said lower classification.
- (d) At the time of layoff, employees shall undergo a complete physical examination. Employees shall be recalled from layoff according to their seniority in the classification from which the employee was laid off, provided the employee's physical condition is substantially the same at the time of recall as it was at the time of layoff, unless the City reasonably determines that special skills are required for the position being filled.
- (e) The right to be recalled shall continue for a period not in excess of two years from the date of layoff. The seniority of any employee recalled within said two year period, shall be the most recent period of continuous service in the classification immediately prior to the layoff, including the time spent on layoff status.

- (f) In the event that an employee is laid off prior to taking the vacation to which he or she is entitled in any calendar year, the employee shall receive payment determined by the portion of the contract year he or she had worked at the time of the layoff, in relation to his or her total vacation entitlement for that calendar year.
- (g) Any employee on layoff shall not be entitled to contract benefits unless specifically provided for herein.

## **ARTICLE 22 - Prior Benefits**

The City agrees to continue in force all benefits of whatever nature presently enjoyed by the members, not covered by the terms of this Agreement.

## **ARTICLE 23 - Personal Day**

#### Section 1

Each Police Officer who works the work schedule per Article 13, Section 1(c) shall be entitled to three (3) Personal Days per calendar year. Such days shall be with pay, shall not be charged against sick leave, shall not be cumulative and shall not be taken on any of the holidays specified in Article 9, Section 1 of this Agreement.

## Section 2

A Police Officer intending to utilize a Personal Day, per Section 1 above, shall notify his or her Unit Commander at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to taking such leave unless such notification is impossible due to circumstances beyond the Officer's control.

In the event that during the period of time from Thanksgiving through New Year's Day the number of employees who request personal leave defined under this section compromises the activities of the Department or Division due to the number of individuals requesting a particular day, the Department or Division may deny the request in order to not disrupt the normal activities in such Department or Division. In such circumstances of conflict, seniority shall prevail. The creation of overtime shall not be a valid reason to deny a request for a personal day.

## **ARTICLE 24 - Training**

#### Section 1

Each employee shall be required to attend training as the Department deems necessary. The purpose of such training shall be to provide all personnel with the needed skills to maintain their professionalism and to comply with State Training regulations. The parties recognize that employees who bid shifts in accordance with Article 13 shall have their shifts changed to accommodate training.

Any officer involved in an on-duty shooting who has been placed on restricted duty by the Chief of Police may attend training. The City, however, may review its decision to send an officer on restriction to training on a case by case basis and, if determined by the Chief, notify the Union that it has decided not to send an officer on restricted duty to training. If training is denied, the Union may request an explanation for the denial from the Chief.

## **ARTICLE 25 - General Provisions**

## Section 1

Whenever the regular weekly pay checks are available to the Department on the day before pay day, the checks of personnel assigned to Squad C (2300 to 0700 and 2400 to 0800) shall be made available for distribution to such employees during the period of their tour of duty and in no case later than the terminal hour of their tour of duty.

#### Section 2

All members shall be provided with an identification card and a leather carrying case for the card and badge.

## Section 3

Employees shall not be required to transport persons, who are not under police jurisdiction, when it is known that such persons are suffering from serious communicable diseases and whenever such persons are under police jurisdiction, and employees of the Department are required to be in close proximity to such persons, said employee shall be provided with protective equipment and the Department shall use its best efforts to take any and all necessary steps to safeguard the health of said employees.

#### Section 4

The Union shall continue to enjoy the privilege of placing ballot boxes in the Division, whenever the Union is engaged in conducting a referendum or Union election. The Union will be responsible for manning the boxes and for conducting the balloting in such a way as not to interfere with police business in the Division. The Union shall notify the Chief of its desire to conduct such balloting and the date as well as the names of the tellers responsible for conducting the balloting.

# Section 5

The Union shall be permitted to place notices in the Daily Bulletin and an announcement through dispatch and read at Roll Call shall be permitted.

- (a) Any member of the Department injured or otherwise disabled while making or attempting to make an arrest, or in the performance of any police duty, during his or her off-duty time shall be entitled to the benefits provided for and in the same manner as in Article 5, Section 2, Item (b), to the extent that the City has made a determination of Workman's Compensation compensability, which shall be done on a case-by-case basis.
- (b) Time spent receiving medical treatment shall not entitle any union member for overtime for injuries suffered while off duty in other jurisdictions.

#### Section 7

All supplies and equipment used in the Department In-Service Training Program shall be provided by the City at no cost to the members attending.

# Section 8

The City agrees that whenever any City department has a desire or need of police service at any activity or function conducted by said department, the Chief of the Police Department shall determine whether such desire or need shall be met by assigning policemen on duty at the time of the activity or function in question, or whether such need or desire would be more properly met by assigning employees in accordance with the provisions of Article 14.

# Section 9

If any Article or any Section of this Agreement is declared invalid for any reason, such declaration of invalidity shall not affect the other Articles and Sections or portions thereof which shall be valid.

#### Section 10

Union officers and delegates of the Union shall be allowed time off to attend meetings, conferences, and conventions without loss of pay provided that at no time shall more than three employees of the Department be granted this privilege without loss of pay.

## Section 11

The City agrees to effectively assist any member in collecting any witness fee or fees due such member by reason of his or her response to a subpoena, issued by an attorney in connection with a civil court case, and when the attorney issuing each subpoena fails, neglects or refuses to pay such member the witness fee or fees due him or her as provided by law.

#### Section 12

(a) The Chief, or his or her designee, shall have the right to schedule a staff meeting of the Heads of the Operational Units irrespective of rank on a monthly basis at a time and date determined by the Chief.

- (b) Heads of Operational Units attending such meetings at other than during their regular working hours shall not be paid. However, such meetings will be scheduled, insofar as practical, as to cause a minimum of inconvenience for the employees involved.
- (c) Attendance of Heads of Operational Units at said staff meetings shall be mandatory except when a staff member is on vacation, sick leave, holidays or is excused by the Chief or his or her designee.

Employees have the right to petition the Board of Police Commissioners for the removal of any disciplinary or other adverse information from their personnel files. Such petition should be processed through the Chief of Police. Each petition shall be reviewed upon its individual merits. It is understood by the parties that the documents removed from a personnel file shall be retained in a sealed file maintained by the Chief of Police until such time as permission is granted for the destruction of such document(s) by the Public Records Administrator of the State of Connecticut. It is understood that the "personnel file" referred to above includes an employee's personnel file and his or her internal affairs file.

#### Section 14

Once an Internal Affairs Investigation is turned over to the Chief of Police, the Chief shall, within ninety (90) days, either prefer charges, if any, or remove the complaints from the employee's files.

#### Section 15

The City of New Haven shall give local pistol permits to all employees who are New Haven residents, free of charge, who request such a permit.

#### Section 16

The parties agree that the Health Department shall be allowed to pay the Police Officer assigned as a Dog Warden a stipend out of their department as long as it is subject to pension deductions and credited as salary for pension purposes.

## Section 17

Each employee within his or her division may be permitted to swap up to five (5) work days or shifts per calendar year with a fellow employee, provided his or her Division Commander has been notified in advance. Such swap or swaps shall exclude the City from any payment of overtime as a result of such swap or swaps. The employee who obtains another employee to work for him or her shall be required to report to work or obtain another person to work in his or her place if the person he or she swapped with is unable to report to work for any reason.

In the event that an employee swaps his/her shift with another employee and the employee who agreed to swap does not report to work for any reason, except for a job related injury, the following shall occur:

- a) The employee who initiated and obtained the swap of the affected shift shall be required to report to work on that shift or to obtain another person to work in his or her place;
- b) If the above cannot be accomplished, the employee who agreed to the swap shall be charged for the entire shift not worked;
- c) This employee shall have the option of having said charge credited against any of his/her accumulated paid leave accounts, except for his/her sick leave accumulation account unless the absence is actually due to reasons covered under the contractual provisions for sick leave. Written notification as to which accumulated paid leave account is to be credited against shall be given to the Chief of Police, or the authorized designee, no later than forty eight (48) hours after the date in which the employee returns to duty. If no written notification is given within the specified time frame, the Chief of Police, or the authorized designee, shall make the decision as to which paid leave account is to be credited.

In the event that an employee swaps his/her shift with another employee and then books off sick <u>after</u> reporting to work, the following shall occur:

- a) The employee who reported to work and then books off sick shall be charged with paid sick leave for all hours remaining in the shift that are not worked;
- b) Said charge shall be credited against this employee's sick leave accumulation account.

#### Section 18

Upon completion of a normal tour of duty, members shall be privileged to appear at the Station Desk and shall be relieved of duty, not later than the terminal hour of their shift. Locker Room Facilities shall be immediately available to employees upon the hour of termination of their tour of duty.

#### Section 19

Employees hired after January 31, 2012 who voluntarily leave the Department for employment in a law enforcement agency before he/she has completed a full thirty-six (36) months of employment from the employee's original date of appointment shall reimburse the Department in full for any and all training and certification costs in the amount of \$4,000.00. The City agrees to save the Union harmless from any action arising out of this Section.

#### Section 20

There shall be a "Hardship Committee" comprised of the following:

The Chief or his designee and two (2) non-bargaining unit members appointed by him on an annual basis and filled as needed.

The Union President or his designee and two (2) members appointed by him on an annual basis and filled as needed.

The Committee shall determine the criteria for approval. Such approval of any and all hardship cases which results in any alterations to an employee's work, paid leave and/or days off shall be determined on a case-by-case basis and no approval shall be considered as setting any precedent or past practice on either party.

# Section 21 – Field Training Officers

Effective upon ratification and approval of the Contract, employees who serve in the capacity of a Field Training Officer (FTO) shall receive one (1) hour of time allowed, for every four (4) hours worked as a Field Training Officer. The terms of usage of TA time is still capped at a maximum of 480 hours as per the FLSA. The City does not concede that the issue of increased FTO time is a mandatory subject of bargaining.

The Chief of Police, or his/her designee, has the sole discretion to assign any Officer(s) to the Field Training Officer Training Program.

#### Section 22 – East Rock Park

East Rock Park shall be patrolled exclusively by members of New Haven Police Union Elm City Local, CACP from 4:00 p.m. thru 8:00 a.m. as part of a regularly assigned beat patrol. Clearing and closing East Rock Park shall be the exclusive responsibility of New Haven Police Union Elm City Local, CACP members.

## Section 23 – Interviews

## 1. Members shall:

- (a) Have the right to the presence of a union official whenever they are requested or required to give a statement which could result in discipline or discharge. If the member fails to request the presence of a union official, this right shall be deemed waived.
- (b) Prior to, or during an interrogation, review any reports or statements they may have previously made on the subject of the interrogation.
- (c) Prior to an interrogation, be entitled to review any civilian complaints made against them.
- (d) During the interrogation, consult with their Union representative in the absence of the interrogator.
- (e) Not be required to answer any questions concerning their off-duty conduct during the interrogation, unless the off duty conduct involves action in the members capacity as a police officer.
- (f) Prior to or during an interrogation, may invoke the Fifth Amendment. The Fifth Amendment, however, cannot be used as a defense to discipline imposed upon a member for

refusing to answer pertinent questions strictly and narrowly confined to the performance of the member's police duty.

- 2. The Union President shall not be required to provide any type of statement to the City concerning the subject of conversations between New Haven Police Union Elm City Local, CACP Members and the Union President in his/her official capacity on matters related to collective bargaining.
- 3. The Union may, at its own expense, audiotape the interviews of its members when said interviews are recorded by Internal Affairs.
- 4. The City does not concede that anything contained in this section is a mandatory subject of bargaining.

## Section 24 – Task Force

The general definition of a "task force" for assignment purposes shall be:

A task force is a coordinated multi-regional and/or multi-jurisdictional law enforcement unit to which one (1) or more New Haven Police Union Elm City Local, CACP bargaining unit member(s) are assigned; such member(s) having the express authority to exercise full police power in and out of the City of New Haven.

# **ARTICLE 26 - Commanders**

## Section 1

The working conditions, salaries and benefits of the Commanders shall be as specified in the previous Articles of this Agreement except as superseded by the provisions of this Article. Prior to the signing of this Agreement the Commanders conditions of employment shall be determined by the practices that existed prior to the signing.

## Section 2

The work schedule of the Commanders shall be flexible, however, the work day shall be eight (8) consecutive hours. The Chief shall have the right to change a Commander's hours of work provided he or she gives the employee 24 hours notice.

#### Section 3

Commanders work week shall be a 5-2, 5-2, 40 hours work schedule. Said schedules shall coincide with those work schedules recognized in this Agreement. Said weekly work schedule may be changed by the Chief provided he or she gives one (1) calendar week notice.

#### Section 4

Commanders vacation schedule shall be separate and apart from that of Captains, Lieutenants and Sergeants. No more than one (1) Commander shall be allowed on vacation at any one time unless authorized by the Chief.

## Section 5

Commanders shall work in uniform unless designated by the Chief of Police to work in plainclothes.

## Section 6

Commanders shall not be subject to a minimum (4) hours call-in pay if called back to work within two (2) hours of the end of their shift.

## Section 7

Commanders shall not be entitled to overtime unless authorized in advance by the Chief of Police.

## Section 8

Commanders shall be allowed to work extra duty only in a Supervisory capacity.

## **ARTICLE 27 – Substance Abuse Policy**

## Section 1: Purposes

The purposes of this policy are as follows:

- A. To establish and maintain a safe, healthy working environment for all sworn employees and to protect the public;
- B. To insure the reputation of the City of New Haven Police Department and its police officers as good, responsible citizens worthy of public trust;
- C. To demonstrate a clear expectation and understanding that a drug test shall be an integral part of any regular physical exam required by the Department and shall be considered a condition of entry/application to any promotion to a higher rank within the Department;
- D. To reduce the incidents of accidental injury to person or property;
- E. To reduce absenteeism, tardiness and indifferent job performance; and
- F. To provide assistance toward rehabilitation for any employee who seeks help in overcoming any addiction to, dependence upon, or problem with alcohol or drugs.

## Section 2: Definitions

A. Alcohol or Alcoholic Beverages – means the intoxicating agent in beverage alcohol, ethyl

- alcohol or other low molecular weight alcohol, including methyl and isopropyl alcohol
- B. Drug means any substance (other than alcohol) capable of altering the mood, perception, pain level or judgment of the individual consuming it.
- C. Prescribed Drug means any substance prescribed for the individual consuming it by a licensed medical practitioner.
- D. Illegal Drug means any drug or controlled substance, the sale possession or consumption of which is illegal.
- E. Ranking Supervisor means any officer with the rank of Sergeant or above who is the employee's immediate supervisor in the chain of command, or the Chief of Police or his designee.
- F. Employee Assistance Program means Employee Assistance Program provided by the City of New Haven or any agency/entity with whom the City has contracted to provide said program.
- G. Union President means President of New Haven Police Union Elm City Local, CACP or his designee.
- H. Refusal to Submit to Drug and Alcohol Testing The refusal by an officer to submit to a drug or alcohol screening test based on Rule 15 and General Order 87-1 shall constitute insubordination and shall subject the employee to subsequent disciplinary action.

# Section 3: Voluntary Disclosure and Policy Provisions

# A. Voluntary Disclosure and Employee Assistance:

- 1. An employee who has completed his or her initial probationary period with the City and has engaged in substance abuse and voluntarily discloses this issue to the Chief of Police and requests treatment and rehabilitative assistance shall be given assistance under the City's Employee Assistance Program. Access of this type shall be limited to two occasions. An employee referred to the program shall not be disciplined for the substance abuse disclosed. However, failure to comply with the terms of this program shall subject the employee to discipline.
- 2. In addition, an employee who has completed the initial probationary period and voluntarily admits there is cause for reasonable suspicion under Section 9, Step 4(c) of this Policy shall be entitled to one opportunity to enroll in the Employee Assistance Program of the City and avoid discipline, provided that he or she has not already engaged in that program twice prior, and provided further that the employee has not previously failed to comply with the requirements of that program during a prior enrollment.

- 3. Any employee who returns to employment following completion of a program under the Employee Assistance Program shall be subject to follow-up testing as determined by the EAP provider.
- B. <u>Basis for Testing</u>: The testing authorized under this policy shall be consistent with the rules of the Department, including but not limited to Rule 15 and General Order 87-1 as amended.
- C. <u>Preservation of Rights</u>: This policy does not constitute a waiver of the rights of members of the bargaining unit regarding drug testing protection provided by United States or Connecticut Constitution or statutes.
- D. <u>Confidentiality</u>: Records of the process used to order a test and test results shall be maintained along with other employee medical records, and shall be handled consistent with the policies respecting such records. In addition, an employee who elects participation in the Employee Assistance Program shall be required to authorize the release of these records to the personnel utilized in that program.
- E. <u>Cost of Required Tests</u>: The City shall pay for the following tests:
  - Pre-employment drug testing;
  - Random testing;
  - Rule 15/General Order 87-1;
  - Return to duty testing; and
  - Follow up testing.

The employee shall be responsible to pay for the following tests:

- Split analysis testing
- F. <u>Transportation</u>: The City will provide transportation for the employee to the testing facility when the employee is being tested under Rule 15 and General Order 87-1 procedures. The City shall provide transportation for an employee to the employee's home when the employee tests positive under these procedures.

## Section 4: Random Testing

- A. Employees performing safety-sensitive functions will be tested for controlled substances at a minimum annual rate of fifty percent (50%) of the average number of positions.
- B. Random selection shall be performed independently by the City's third-party program administrator utilizing a computer based scientifically valid method of selection. The selection process shall give each employee an equal chance of being selected each time a selection is made.
- C. The City shall conduct a minimum of four (4) selections annually, spread reasonably throughout the calendar year.
- D. Each employee upon notification of selection for controlled substances testing shall proceed immediately to the designated testing site.

## Section 5: Return to Duty Testing

If an employee has engaged in prohibited conduct regarding alcohol and/or drug misuse, the employee must undergo a return to duty test prior to returning to the job. The test must indicate a breath alcohol concentration of less than the recognized legal limit or a verified negative result for drug use. When an employee engages in prohibited conduct, the City must advise the employee of the resources available to evaluate and resolve drug and/or alcohol problems through the EAP program. In addition, each employee who engages in prohibited conduct must be evaluated by a substance abuse professional (SAP) who shall determine what assistance, if any, the employee needs in resolving drug and/or alcohol problems.

On a first offense for a positive alcohol test, if the SAP determines that the employee requires assistance in handling an alcohol problem, the employee must properly follow the prescribed rehabilitation program. If the rehabilitation program requires time off, said time off will be granted with or without pay for up to sixteen weeks without a loss of seniority or benefit eligibility. During the period of rehabilitation the employee may elect to use any accrued vacation or sick time. Any paid time off (vacation or sick time) used in accordance with this provision shall be subtracted from the sixteen-week entitlement referred to herein.

On a first offense for a positive drug test, if the SAP determines that the employee requires assistance in handling a drug problem, the employee must properly follow the prescribed rehabilitation program. If the rehabilitation program requires time off, said time off will be granted with or without pay for up to sixteen weeks without a loss of seniority or benefit eligibility. During the period of rehabilitation the employee may elect to use any accrued vacation or sick time. Any paid time off (vacation or sick time) used in accordance with this provision shall be subtracted from the sixteen-week entitlement referred to herein. The remaining period of treatment shall be considered an unpaid leave of absence for a maximum of fifty (50) days without a loss of seniority or benefit eligibility.

When an employee has properly followed the prescribed rehabilitation, the employee must then be reevaluated by the substance abuse professional. If the SAP determines that the employee has properly followed the rehabilitation program, then the employee must undergo a return to duty test with a negative result as prescribed herein before being allowed to return to the performance of his job. Failure to comply with the defined rehabilitation program and/or failure to pass a return to duty test may be considered grounds for further discipline.

# Section 6: Alcoholic Beverages

- A. No alcoholic beverages will be brought onto Police Department premises, or consumed while on Police Department premises, except in the performance of an officer's official duties. The Police Department will invoke appropriate disciplinary action for any violations.
- B. Drinking or being under the influence of alcoholic beverages while on duty is cause for discipline.
- C. Officers are excused from this provision under special written arrangements authorized by the Chief or his designee.

## Section 7: Prescription Drugs

- A. No prescription drug shall be brought upon Police Department premises by any employee other than the employee (or members of the employee's immediate family) for whom the drug is prescribed by a licensed medical practitioner, and shall be used only in the manner, combination and quantity prescribed.
  - This Section shall not apply to prescription drugs which are brought into the Police Department by an officer(s) in the official performance of his/her duties for drugs which are logged as evidence in a timely manner.
- B. Where the employee has been informed that the use of a prescribed drug may pose a risk to the employee or others, the employee shall so advise the shift supervisor.

# Section 8: Illegal Drugs

- A. The use or possession of an illegal drug or controlled substance by an employee, on or off duty, is cause for suspension or termination, and/or referral for criminal prosecution.
- B. The sale, trade or delivery of illegal drugs or controlled substances by an employee, on or off duty, to another person is cause for suspension or termination, and/or referral for criminal prosecution.
- C. Special consideration shall be given to officers who have been assigned undercover work and may have developed an addiction through such service. In such case, referral to a rehabilitation program shall be required for the first offense.
- D. This Section shall not apply to illegal drug or controlled substance which are brought into the Police Department by an officer(s) in the official performance of his/her duties for drugs which are logged as evidence in a timely manner.

## Section 9: Testing Procedures

The procedures of the City of New Haven's Police Department in regard to an employee using, possessing or under the influence of alcohol, drugs or chemicals while on duty are as follows:

- A. An employee shall report to his place of assignment fit and able to perform his required duties and shall not by any improper act render himself unfit for duty.
  - <u>STEP 1:</u> Any Supervisor who has cause to suspect that Rule 15 or General Order 87-1 is applicable to a situation because an employee is under the influence of alcohol, drugs or chemicals shall immediately inform the employee of this preliminary determination and relieve said employee from duty with pay in order to protect said employee, fellow employees and the public from harm. The employee shall be entitled to <u>Weingarten</u> representation rights by a bargaining unit representative. Supervisors shall receive training by certified drug and alcohol experts on how to detect and process substance abuse cases.

STEP 2: The Supervisor shall immediately notify the Police Chief, or in his absence, the ranking supervisor. Any officer being interviewed/tested may consult with and be accompanied by a representative of the Union and/or an attorney. The Union representative and/or attorney may confer with and advise the officer before and after the testing process, but shall not participate in the process in any way except as an observer. The interview/testing process will not be unreasonably delayed simply because a Union representative and/or attorney is unable to be present.

<u>STEP 3:</u> The Police Chief, or in his absence, the ranking supervisor shall interview the employee concerning alleged alcohol or controlled substance abuse. Such interview shall be conducted in order to document the reasons and observations of the interviewer and to ascertain from the employee any recent use of prescribed drugs or non-prescribed drugs, or any indirect exposure to drugs that may result in a positive test.

<u>STEP 4:</u> If the interviewer documents cause, then the employee will be given the following option(s):

- a) The employee may resign or retire, if eligible, without penalty or prejudice.
- b) The employee can claim that he/she is not under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs.
- c) If there is no criminal investigation pending the employee can, in a manner consistent with Section 3,A,2 of this Policy, admit there is cause for reasonable suspicion of alleged alcohol or substance abuse, and shall, within 24 hours, enroll in an Employee Assistance program (EAP).

<u>STEP 5:</u> If the employee chooses paragraph (b) in Step 4, the test procedures set forth below may be ordered by the Chief or, in his absence, the ranking supervisor. It is expected that the test will be administered within two (2) hours following the preliminary determination.

A positive test shall result in the following discipline:

- 1. The first offense shall result in an immediate two (2) day suspension without pay.
- 2. Second offense shall result in an immediate five (5) day suspension without pay.
- 3. Third offenses shall result in immediate termination.
- 4. Violations of this article shall be removed from an employee's record after ten (10) years from the date of the violation.
- B. The employee shall have the right and shall not be denied the right to the presence of a Union Representative during any part of these procedures.
- C. <u>Testing Procedures</u>: The testing procedures shall be in accordance with those set forth below. Test results shall not be used for disciplinary purposes unless they have been obtained in accordance with the procedures outlined in this section.
- D. <u>Consequences of Refusal to Take a Test</u>: The consequences for refusal to take a required drug or alcohol test are the same as if the employee had tested positive for drug or

alcohol use, as listed in Section 9 of this Policy. In addition, the refusal shall constitute insubordination and the employee shall be subject to discipline.

- E. <u>What Constitutes a Refusal to Take a Test</u>: The following actions may constitute a refusal to take a drug or alcohol test:
  - Blatant refusal to submit to the testing procedure or engaging in any conduct that clearly obstructs the testing process; including being unavailable for testing;
  - Failure to provide an adequate amount of breath for an alcohol breath test without a valid medical reason;
  - Failure to sign the alcohol testing form;
  - Failure to submit to a confirmation test for alcohol after a positive result;
  - Failure to endorse items to verify chain of custody for any specimen;
  - Failure to provide sufficient amount of urine for a drug test without a valid medical reason;
  - Failure to provide necessary identification before submitting to test;
  - Failure to remain available for such testing.

# SUBSTANCE ABUSE POLICY TESTING PROCEDURES

What are the testing procedures for drugs?

All drug testing will be done from urine specimens collected under highly controlled conditions at the following location: St. Raphael's Occupational Health & Rehabilitation Services at 789-3530. Any bargaining unit member normally assigned to D Squad may be tested during his/her regular working hours on site at the New Haven Police Department. Personnel of St. Raphael's Occupational Health will administer the test and adhere to all protocols associated with the random drug testing program, except for the change of location. The person collecting the urine sample will be the same gender as the employee submitting the sample. The collection site will be secured to prevent any tampering or switching of samples. The City reserves the right to change and/or add providers.

Any D Squad bargaining unit employee may undergo random drug testing on any date during the fiscal quarter in which his/her name appears on a monthly generated random list.

When the employee has submitted a specimen, the collection person will determine whether there is a sufficient amount of urine for testing. If there is not enough, the employee may be asked to drink fluids and wait until the employee is able to provide a sufficient amount of urine to test. The urine collected from each employee will be divided into two different sample containers. This is known as a split specimen collection. The person collecting the specimen will divide the specimen into the two containers in the presence of the employee and will label both accordingly. The employee must ensure that the split samples are both accurately marked with the correct identification.

The primary sample is then tested for the presence of drugs, while the second or "split" sample is stored in a secured, refrigerated location. The initial test is the immunoassay test, which screens the sample for usage of the five (5) classes of drugs. The second test is a

confirmation test. The labs that perform the tests must be certified by the Federal Department of Health & Human Services.

The testing program is limited to five (5) drug types: Marijuana, Cocaine, Opiates, Amphetamines, and Phencyclidine (PCP). The positive levels for the five (5) classes of drug tests are in the table below:

Drug	Initial Test Levels	Confirmation Test
	(ng/ml)*	Levels (ng/ml)*
Marijuana	50	15
Cocaine	300	150
Opiates	2000	2000
Phencyclidine (PCP	25	25
Amphetamines	1000	500

\*ng/ml means nanograms per milliliter. A nanogram is one billionth of a gram. A milliliter is one thousandth of a liter.

If the results of the initial test are negative, the testing laboratory will so advise the Medical Review Officer (MRO). The MRO is a licensed physician not employed by the testing laboratory who interprets the drug test results. The MRO's role includes making determinations that other factors besides drugs may be affecting a particular test result, and the MRO may conduct sessions with individual employees to learn more about their medical histories and other factors which might influence a test result.

If the results of the initial test exceed the test levels for any of the five (5) drug classes, a second (confirmation) test is performed. This test is done differently by using gas chromatography/mass spectrometry techniques. Only specimens that are confirmed positive on the second or confirmatory test are reported positive to the Medical Review Officer for review and analysis.

If the test result of the primary specimen is positive, you may request the Medical Review Officer to send the second (or split) specimen to a different certified lab for testing. The testing of the split specimen will be for the presence of drugs with the same criteria for the primary specimen being applicable. If the result of the test of the split specimen is "negative", the MRO shall cancel the test. If an employee wants the split specimen tested, he or she must advise the MRO within seventy-two (72) hours of being notified of the positive test result of the primary specimen.

The City will keep a record in the employee's file showing the type of test (preemployment, periodic, etc.); date of collection; location of collection; entity performing the collection; name of the lab; name of the MRO; and the test results.

What are the testing procedures for alcohol?

Alcohol testing is done by testing breath, using a device called an Evidential Breath Testing Device (EBT). The EBT is a scientific instrument that determines the concentration of alcohol in the bloodstream by analyzing a specific amount of exhaled breath. The test result is a number representing the blood alcohol concentration (BAC), which is

expressed in grams of alcohol per 210 liters of breath. The EBT prints out numbered copies of the test results. A BAC in excess of the statutory limit shall constitute a violation of the Policy.

People who have been trained and certified as breath alcohol technicians (BAT) will conduct the tests, check the EBT prior to testing to ensure its accuracy, and conduct the tests. Testing should be conducted in an area that allows the employees as much privacy as is feasible. The tester will remain present at all times during the testing procedure.

First, in the employee's presence the BAT makes sure that the EBT is responding accurately. Then, a sealed mouthpiece is opened and placed into the device. The employee is required to blow into the mouthpiece for at least six seconds or until the EBT indicates that it has obtained a sufficient amount of air to test. The EBT will then print the test results, with a copy given to the employee.

If the initial test shows a reading in excess of the statutory legal limit a confirmation test will be conducted, after a fifteen (15) minute interval has passed, to make sure that the sample was not tainted by recent use of food, tobacco, or other products. The confirmation test is done on the same EBT as the first test. If the two results are different, the confirmation test results are controlling. At this point, the breath alcohol test is completed; the employee must sign the testing form and be provided with a copy.

The parties understand that the testing means and methods defined herein represent the current standard in the industry for such testing. As such, any testing defined in Department Rules or General Orders that are not consistent with the means and methods defined herein shall be considered updated to conform with this policy. The parties recognize that industry standards may change during the life of this policy. The parties agree to review the means and methods defined herein at reasonable intervals and to update such methods when required. The goal of the parties shall be to promote the most efficient, effective and accurate methods available.

# **ARTICLE 28 - Duration**

# Section 1

By:

Thomas McCarthy, Director of Labor Relations

By:

Jonathan Lambe, Vice President

City of New Haven
And
Local 530
AFSCME, Council 15

RE: Technical Assistant Associate

August 1, 2011

## MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

WHEREAS, The City of New Haven (hereinafter the "City") and Local 530, AFSCME, Council 15 (hereinafter the "Union") are parties to a collective bargaining agreement;

WHEREAS, The parties have met and had discussions surrounding the issue of finding a successor from within the bargaining unit to perform the technical non-supervisory duties of retired Lieutenant Robert Muller; and

WHEREAS, The parties have agreed to certain terms and conditions of employment concerning this matter.

# NOW, THEREFORE, The following shall apply:

- 1. The aforementioned Technical Assistant Associate position shall be open to any bargaining unit member who has at least five years on the job;
- 2. The Department will post for the position, and interested candidates will supply memoranda and resumes to be reviewed by the Chief of Police;
- 3. The position shall be a uniformed assignment;
- 4. The work schedule for this position shall be 0800 1600 hours, Monday through Friday, but subject to call backs;
- 5. This position will fall under the supervision of Assistant Chief of Administrative Services (currently Tobin Hensgen);
- 6. The Chief of Police, in his sole discretion, shall select the candidate of his choice for this assignment, and the duration of the assignment will be at the discretion of the Chief;
- 7. The Chief of Police will determine what training, if any, is necessary to perform the duties of this position, initially and on an ongoing basis, and the person selected shall attend any such training;
- 8. The Technical Assistant Associate shall be provided with an unmarked, take home vehicle to be utilized for call-back responsibilities;

- 9. The issue of a stipend for this position shall be discussed during upcoming contract negotiations;
- 10. This assignment entails the maintenance and oversight of the Department's expanding technical infrastructure. Illustrative job duties currently anticipated in this assignment are enumerated in greater detail on the page attached to this Agreement;
- 11. The terms of the Collective Bargaining Agreement shall govern any issue not specifically addressed by this memorandum of understanding;
- 12. Neither this memorandum of understanding nor the terms of this memorandum of understanding shall set a precedent with respect to any other Local 530 bargaining unit member nor shall it constitute any form of a past practice on either party;
- 13. Neither this memorandum of understanding nor the terms of this memorandum of understanding shall be used in any other matter or proceeding(s) other than to enforce the terms of this particular agreement; and
- 14. This memorandum of understanding represents a mutually complete, final and binding resolution in its entirety of any and all issues relating to this instant matter and shall act as a complete bar from any other proceedings, pending or implied, in any other forum, provided the terms and conditions set forth herein are met.

In witness whereof, the parties have caused their names to be signed on this \_\_\_\_ day of August 2011.

	City of New Haven		Local 530 AFSCME, Council 15	
By:	/s/	By:	/s/	
	Craig L. Manemeit		Ofc. Arpad Tolnay	
	Director of Labor Relations		President	

## JOB DUTIES FOR TECHNICAL ASSISTANT ASSOCIATE

The following list of job duties is meant to be illustrative in nature.

- Maintain inventories of radio batteries for Motorola handheld equipment
- Issue batteries as needed
- Exchange damaged radio equipment as needed
- Replace or repair radio equipment when viable
- Become familiar with equipment and functionality used in assignment, and guide other personnel in its proper use
- Contact vendor(s) with questions regarding specific problems
- In conjunction with City IT personnel, ensure working status of mobile MDT in car devices and their connectivity to police headquarters
- In conjunction with Sprint contracted technicians, ensure wireless connectivity is maintained and serviced as needed
- Install Sprint software to MDTs for wireless applications
- In conjunction with vendor, ensure in-car camera equipment (Arbitrator 360 or similar equipment) is functioning properly
- Activate personnel ID RF cards as needed; maintain list
- Serve as Department liaison to Omni Data or similar vendors regarding remote camera installations
- Serve as Department liaison on other citywide initiatives involving the use of cameras tied into police operations
- Attend PSAP advisory group meetings
- Obtain working knowledge of the best practices employed by other Departments in the region
- Other tasks as required conforming to the expanding technology needs of the Department

City of New Haven
And
Local 530
AFSCME, Council 15

RE: Use of Part Time Employees

For Fingerprinting

July 13, 2012

## **MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING**

WHEREAS, The City of New Haven (hereinafter the "City") and Local 530, AFSCME, Council 15 (hereinafter the "Union") are parties to a collective bargaining agreement;

WHEREAS, Due to retirements, there are no longer any members in the bargaining unit who at present are trained and capable of reading fingerprints; and

WHEREAS, The parties have met and had discussions surrounding the temporary utilization of part time employees to read fingerprints;

NOW, THEREFORE, The following shall apply:

- 1. The City may hire up to two (2) part time employees to work up to nineteen (19) hours per week to read fingerprints and train and monitor current bargaining unit members in this area. These non-bargaining unit members shall not collect fingerprints in the field.
- 2. This utilization is intended to be temporary and may not extend beyond two years from the date of signing without the approval of the parties. During this time, existing bargaining unit members will be trained to perform fingerprinting duties independently.
- 3. Neither this MOU nor the terms of this MOU shall set a precedent with respect to any other Local 530 bargaining unit member, nor shall it constitute any form of a past practice on either party;
- 4. Neither this MOU nor the terms of this MOU shall be used in any other matter or proceeding(s) other than to enforce the terms of this particular agreement; and
- 5. This MOU represents a mutually complete, final and binding resolution in its entirety of any and all issues relating to this instant matter and shall act as a complete bar from any other proceedings, pending or implied, in any other forum, provided the terms and conditions set forth herein are met.

In witness whereof, the parties have caused their names to be signed on this  $\_\_$  day of July 2012.

	City of New Haven		Local 530 AFSCME, Council 15	
By:	/s/	Ву:	/s/	
_	Marjan Mashhadi, Esq.		Sergeant Richard Miller	
	Labor Relations Director		Vice President	

# **APPENDIX A-1**

	Century Preferred Comp Mix	Bluecare POE	Century Preferred PPO	Lumenos HDHP
Cost Shares	In Network Deductible-\$1000/2000	In Network Services Only	In Network services subject to copays	\$2,000 Ind /\$4,000 family snared in and out of network
	Coinsurance-20% up to 3000/6000 Out of pocket maximum	Subject to Copays	Out-of- Network services subject to	covered at 80% after deductible in network
	Following Services Deductible Waived-		deductible and consurance	covered at 60% after deductible out of network
	\$20 Medical Office Visit/\$0 Preventative Care	20 Medical Office Visit/S0 Preventative Care Copay-\$15 PCP Office Visit/\$25 Specialist OV		\$5,600/\$10,000 cost snare maximum in
	\$100 Emergancy Room\\$75 High Cost	\$100 Emergency Room/Ambulatory Services \$100	Copay-\$15 PCP Office Visit/\$25 Specialist OV	\$10,000/\$20,000 cost share maximum out of network
	\$75 Urgent Care/Walk In Center \$20	\$200 Outpatient Surgery, \$250 Hospital Admission	\$100 Emergency Room/Ambulatory Services \$100	Lifetime Maximum - Unlimited
	Lietime Max in-Niwrk Unimited/Out- Niwrk 1 000,000	Lifetime Maximum in Network-Untimited	\$200 Outpatient Surgery, \$250 Hospital Admission	
Out of Network Benefit				
	CON Network Deductible-\$2000/4000	No Out of Network Benefits	OON Network Deductible-\$2000/4000	OON Network Deductible shared with In network-\$20004000
	Coinsurance-40%	Members Must Use the Bluecare Provider Nelwork to	Coinsurance-20°.	Coinsurance-60%440%
;	Out of Pochet Maximum-\$5000/\$12,000 Lifetime Max In-Niwrk Untimited/Out-Niwrk- Untimited	Receive Payment on Services Lifetime Maximum for in network Services is Unlimited	Out of Pocket Maximum-\$6000/\$12000 Lietume Max In-Niwrk Unlimited/Out-Niwrk- Unlimited	Out of Pocket Maximum-\$10,000/\$20,000 Lifetime Max In-Niwrk Unimited/Out-Niwrk- Unimited
Out of State Benefit				
	Uses the National Network and Bluecard PPO		Out of State Benefits are Covered Only in an Uses the National Network and Bluecard PPO Uses the National Network and Bluecard PPO Emergency or Urgan Situation	Uses the National Network and Bluecard PPO
In State Nelwork				
	Uses the Cent Preterred Network for In- Network	Members Must Use the Bluecare Provider Network to	Uses the Cent Preferred Network for In- Network	Uses the Cent Preferred Network for In- Network
	Benelits for any other providers would be an	Receive Payment on Services	Benefits for any other providers would be an	Benefits for any other providers would be an
To a contract of	Out of Network Benelit		Out of Network Benefit	Out of Network Benefit
PHEVENIVE CARE				
Pediatric Age based schedule	No Copay 7 usans Birth to One 7 exams 1-5 years 5-22 years-Preventative oxans allowed once	No Copay 7 exams Birth to One 7 exams 1-5 years 7 exams 1-5 years 5 -22 years-Preventative exams allowed once	No Copay	Deductible Warved-No Copay 7 exams Brith to One 7 exams Brith 15 years 5-22 years-Preventuive exams allowed once
	a year	а уеаг	а уеаг	ā ybar
Adult	No Copay	No Copay	No Copay	Deductible Waived-No Copay
Age Based Schedule	22 and over-Preveniative exams allowed once a year	22 and over-Prevenlative exams allowed once a year	22 and over-Preventative exams allowed once a year	22 and over-Preventative exams allowed once   22 and over-Preventative exams allowed once   22 and over-Preventative exams allowed once   32 and over-Preventative exams allowed once   3 and over-Preventative exams allowed once   3 year
Immunizations	As part of Preventative Exam	As part of Preventative Exam	As part of Preventative Exam	As part of Proventulive Exam

Page 1

Medical Benefits Matrix for 15 concurs.

_
5
rd
₹.
_
33
Ξ
75
ς.
•
മ
_
3
g
ä
m
€.
~

Benefit	Century Preferred Comp Mix	Bluecare POE	Century Preferred PPO	Lumenos HDHP
Gynelogical/Obstetrics	\$0 Copay for annual exam	\$0 Copay for annual exam	\$0 Copay for annual exam	Deductible waived-\$0 Copay for annual exam
	\$20 Copay Matemity-First Visit Only	\$25 Copay Maternity-First Visit Only	\$25 Copay Maternity-First Visit Only	20% after dedouctible for maternity
Маттодгарну	Age 35-39 Base Line Screening	Age 35-39 Base Line Screening	Age 35-39 Base Line Screening	Age 35-39 Base Line Screening
,	40 and over once a year	40 and over once a year	40 and over once a year	40 and over once a year
	(Add'i Exams Available if Recommended by Doctor)	(Add'i Exams Available if Recommended by Doctor)	(Add'l Exams Available il Recommended by Doctor)	(Add'l Exams Available il Recommended by Doctor)
Hearing	S0 Copay (once a every 2 years)	No Copay (once every 2 calendar years)	No Copay (once every 2 calendar years)	No Copay (once every 2 calendar years) Deductible Warved
Vision	\$0 Copay (once a every 2 years)	No Copay (once every 2 calendar years)	No Copay (once every 2 calendar years)	No Copay (once every 2 calendar years) Deductible Warved
MEDICAL SERVICES				
Medical office visits	\$20 Copay	\$15 Copay PCP	\$15 Copay PCP	
	Unimited Visits	\$25 Specialist	\$25 Specialist	20% after deductible up to out of pocket maximum
Physical or Occupational	\$20 Copay	\$25 Capay	\$25 Copay	20% after deductible
Therapy	30 Combined Visits for pt, ot st	30 Combined Visits for pt, of st	30 Combined Visits for pt, of st	up to a \$3000 per member por calendar year maximum
	20 visit for chiro-Pnor auth required on pt/ot	20 visit for chiro-prior auth is required on pivot	20 visit for chiro-prior auth is required on pVol	
Speech Therapy	\$20 Copay	\$25 Copay	\$25 Copay	20% after deductible
	30 Compuned Visits for pt, ot st	30 Combined Visits for pt. ot st	30 Compined Visits for pt, ot st	up to a \$3000 per member per calendar year
	20 visit for chiro-Prior auth required on pl/ot	20 visit for chiro-prior auth is required on pt/ot	20 visit for chiro-prior auth is required on pt/ol	
Chiropractic Services	\$20 Capay	\$25 Copay	\$25 Copay	20% after deductible
	30 Compined Visits for pt, ot st	30 Combined Visits for pt, at st	30 Combined Visits for pt. of st	up to a \$3000 per mornber per calendar year maximum
	20 visit for chiro-Prior auth required on pVol	20 visit for chiro-prior auth is required on pt/ot	20 visit for chira	
Altergy Services	\$20 Copay for office visit	\$25 Copay	\$25 Copay	20% after deductible up to out of pocket
	Injections-20% after deductible 80 visits in 3 years	80 visits in 3 years	60 visits in 3 years	palimlun
	20% after deductible	Covered	Covered	20% after deductible up to out of pocket
Diagnostic, Lab & X-ray	High Cost Diagnostic (MRI, MRA, CAT, CTA, PET, Speci) requires prior auth and a \$75 copay per sorvice up to a \$375 colarted calendar year maximum	Hign Cost Diagnostic (MRI, MRA, CAT, CTA, PET, Speci) requires prior auth and a \$75 copay per service up to a \$275 cate catendar year maximum	High Cost Diagnosiic (MRI, MRA, CAT, CTA, PET, Spect) requires pror auth and a \$75 copay per service up to a \$375 capay per service up to a \$375 capay.	
Outpatient Mental Health &	\$20 Copay	\$25 Copay	\$25 Copay	20% after deductable up to out of pocket
Substance Abuse (Biologically Based)	Untimited Visits Prior auth required	Unimited Visits Prior auth required	Unlimited Visits Prior auth required	Unimited Visits Prior auth required
				Office of the state of the state of the state of
Outpatient Mental Health & Substance Abuse	\$20 Copay Unlimited Visits	\$25 Copay Unlimited Visils	\$25 Copay Unlimited Visits	20% after deductible up to out of pocket maximum Unlimited Visits
(Non Biologically Based)		Prior auth required	Prior auth required	

Benefit	Century Preferred Comp Mix	Bluecare POE	Century Preferred PPO	Lumenos HDHP
EMERGENCY CARE				
Emergency Room	\$100 Copay (waived if admitted)	\$100 Copay (waived if admitted)	\$100 Сорау (магусд л адпицед)	20% after deductible up to out of pocket maximum
Urgent Care	\$75 Copay Not Covered Out of Network	\$50 Copay	\$75 Copay Not Covered Out of Network	20%, uter deductible up to out of pocket maximum
Waik-in Centers	\$20 Copay	\$15 Copay	\$15 Copay	20% after deductible up to out of pocket maximum
Ambulance	20% atter deductible in or out of network	Unimited for Land and Air	Unlimited for Land and Air	20% after deductible up to out of pocket maximum
INPATIENT HOSPITAL-				
Inpatient- General/Medical/Surgical/ Maternity (Semi-Private)	All Hospital Agmission Require Pre-Cort 20% after deductible up to the out of pocket maximum	All Hospital Admissions Require Pre-Cert \$250 Per Admission Copay	All Hospital Admissions Require Pre-Cert \$250 Per Admission Copay	All Hospital Admissions Require Precent 20% after deductible up to out of pocket maximum
Ancillary Services-Medications and Supplies	20% after deductible up to the out of pocket maximum	Cavered	Сочегед	20% after deductible up to out of pocket maximum
Mental Health (Biologically Based)	20% atter deductible up to the out of pocket maximum	\$250 Per Admission Copay Unlimited Days	\$250 Copay Per Admission Copay Unlimited Days	20% after deductible up to out of pocket maximum Unimited Days
Mental Health (Non-Biologically Based)	20% alter docuciole up to the out of pocket maximum Unlimited Days	\$250 Copay Per Admission Copay Unimited Days	\$250 Copay Per Admssion Copay Unimited Days	20% after deductions up to out of packet maximum Unlimited Days
Substance Abuse	20% after deductible up to the out of pocket maximum Unlimited Days	\$250 Per Admission Copay Unitmited Days	\$250 Per Admission Copay Unlimited Days	20% alter deductible up to out of pocket maurinim Unimited Days
Rehabilitative Services	20% attar deductible up to the eut of pocket naxmum 60 Days Per Calendar Year	\$250 Per Admission Copay 60 Days Per Calendar Year	\$250 Per Admission Copay 60 Days Per Calendar Year	20% after deductible up to out of pocket maumm 100 Days Per Calendar Year
Skilled Nursing Facility	20% atter deductiole up to the out of pocket maxemun: 120 Days Per calendar Year	\$250 Per Admission Copay 120 Days Per calendar Year	\$250 Per Admission Copay 120 Days Per calendar Year	20% after deductible up to cut of pocket maximum 100 Days Per Calendar Year
Outpatient Surgery (Facility Charges)	Prior Autrorzation Required 20% atter deauctiole up to tre out of pocket maximum	Pror Authorzation Required \$200 Copay Ambulatory surgery (in a hospital setting) \$100	Pror Authorization Required \$200 Copay \$200 Copay Ambulatory surgery (in a hospital setting) \$100	Prior Authorization Required 20% atter deductible up to out of pocket maximum

5
3
2
ŝ
Ξ
æ
ĕ
Θ
⇉
ŭ
⋾
2

Benefit	Century Preferred Comp Mix	Bluecare POE	Century Preferred PPO	Lumenos HDHP
Pre-Admission Testing	Covered	Covered	Covered	20% after deductible up to out of pocket maximum
Diagnostic Lab & X-Ray	20% alter deductible up to the out of pocket maximum.  High Cost Diagnosite (MRI, MRA, CAT, CTA, FET, Spect) requires pror auth and a \$75 copary per service up to a \$275 calendar year maximum.	Covered Hign Cost Diagnostic (MR), MRA, CAT, CTA, PET, Spect) requires prior auth and a \$75 copay per service up to a \$375 cakendar year maxamum	\$15 Copay High Cost Diagnostic (MRI, MRA, CAT, CTA, FET, Spect) requires prior auth and a \$75 copay per service up to a \$375 calendar year maximum	Prior Aumonzation Required 20% alter deducitie up 10 out of pocket maximum
OTHER SERVICES				
Durable Medical Equipment (Including Prosthetics)	20% alter deductible	Covered at 100%	Covered at 100%	20% alter deductible up to out of pocket maximum
Home Health Care		Covered	Covered	20% after deductible up to out of pocket maximum
	20%, Deductible waived up to life out of pocket maximum	200 Visits	200 Visits OON-\$50 Deductible & 20% Consurance	100 Days Per Calendar Year
Haspice	20% after accustone up to the out of packet maximum	Covered up to Last 6 Months of Life	Covered up to Last 6 Months of Life	20% atter deductible up to out of pocket maximum Covered up to Last 6 Months of Life
Acupuncture	Not Covered	Not Covered	Not Covered	Not Covered
Orthotics	Not Covered	Not Covered	Not Covered	Not Covered
TMJ	Not Covered		Not Covered	Not Covered
Gastric Bypass	Not Covered	Not Covered	Not Covered	Not Covered
Interuity	20% after peductible up to the but of pocket maximum State Manate Level-box Auth required Some Resinctions May Apply	\$25 Office Visat Copay State Mandate Level-Pror Auth required Some Restructions May Apply	\$25 Ollice Visit Copay State Mandate Level-Prior Auth required Some Restrictions May Apply	20%, atler deductible up to out of pocket maximum State Mandale Level-Print Auft required Some Restrictions May Apply
Drug Rider	\$10\$25/\$40 Mail order \$10.\$50/\$80 30/90 aay supply Mandatory Generic and Mail order	\$10,\$25/\$40 Mail order \$10,\$50,\$80 30/90 day supply Mandatory Generic and Mail order	\$10/\$25/\$40 Mail order \$10/\$50/\$80 30/90 day supply Mandatory Generic and Mail order	After deductible-\$10,525,540 Mait order \$10/\$50/\$6 30/90 day supply

This does not constitute the actual health plan or insurance policy. It is only a co

	CURRENT OPTION (BC-1)
BENEFIT	Bluecare POS
MEDICAL SERVICES	
Medical Office Visit (OV)	
	\$5 copay PCP
	\$10 copay Specialist
Physical or Occupational	
Therapy	\$10 copay
	Unlimited Coverage
	No prior authorization required
Speech	
Therapy	\$10 copay
	Unlimited Coverage
	No prior authorization required
Outpatient Chiropractic	\$10 copay
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Unlimited Coverage
	No prior authorization required
Allergy Services	
	\$10 Copay for office visits and testing
S. Marchael Walford Co.	No copay for injections
Diagnostic Lab & X-ray	60 visits in 2 years
	Covered
	MRI/CAT \$0
Inpatient Medical Services	
and the state of the state of	Covered
Surgery Fees	Covered
Office Surgery	Covered
	Covered
Outpatient MH/SA	
(no referral required)	\$10 copay
PREVENTIVE CARE	
Preventive Care	
Pediatric	\$0 for child up to age 12
(age-based schedule)	\$0 for ages 13 thru 22
	7 exams birth to one years
	7 exams on to five years
	1 exam per year 5 through 22 years

Adult	
(age-based schedule)	30 copay
	22+ one a year
Obstetrics / Gynecological Well Exam - I per Year	SO copay
Mammographic Services	1 baseline - 35 to 39 years of age Once every year - 40 or over years of age In addition- as medically necessary
Immunizations ,	Covered in full - no copay
Vision Covered once every 24 months (no referral required)	\$0 copay
Hearing Screening part of physical exam	\$0 copay
INPATIENT HOSPITAL	
Inpatient General/Medical/	All hospital admissions require pre-cert
Surgical/Maternity (Semi-private)	\$0 Per Admission Copay
Ancillary Services (Medication, Supplies)	Covered
MH Psychiatric Biological	S0 Per Admission Copay
MH Phychiatric Non Biological	\$0 Per Admission Copay 60 Days per CalanderYear
Substance Abuse/ Detox	\$0 Per Admission Copay 45 Days per Calander Year
Rehabilitative	S0 Per Admission Copay 60 Days per Calendar Year
Skilled Nursing Facility	\$0 Per Admission Copay 90 Days per Calendar Year
OUTPATIENT HOSPITAL	
Outpatient Surgery Facility Charges (Prior Authorization Required)	\$0 copay
Diagnostic Lab & X-ray MRI, CT	Covered MRI/CAT
Pre-Admission Testing	Covered

EMERGENCY CARE		
Emergency Room		
Emergency Room	\$50 Copay (waived if admitted)	
Urgent Care		
	\$25 Copay	
Walk-in Centers		
	\$10 copay	
Ambulance		
	No charge	
	maximum : Land - unlimited; Air - \$4,000 per tris	
OTHER SERVICES		
Durable Medical Equipment		
(Prior Authorization Required)		
	100% covered	
Prosthetics		
	100% covered	
Home Health Care		
(Prior Authorization Required)	Covered	
	OON - \$50 Ded & 20% Coinsurance	
Acupuncture		
	Not Covered	
Orthotics		
그는 그를 맞게 된다. 주시	Limited to Specific Items & Diagnosis	
TMJ	<del> </del>	
	Not Covered	
Skilled Nursing	No Copay	
Facility	Up to 90 Consecutive days	
	Op to 90 Consecutive days	
Hospice		
	No Copay	
	Coverage up to 6 months	
nfertility		
merility	Phase I: \$10 OV copay	
	Phase It/III: 50% coinsurance up to \$5000 LT max	
DEPENDENT ELIGIBILITY	2.00	
Children/Dependents	T- A 00	
v.	To Age 26	
OUT OF NETWORK		
OST SHARES		
Deductible	\$250/500/750	
Cornsurance	20%	
Coinsurance Maximum	\$1500/\$4500/\$4500	
Jenne Maximum	In-NetworkUnlimited	
	Out-of-NetworkUnlimited	

POS plans: Infertitity and Preventive care are not covered OON; home health care OON subject to \$50 deductible & 20% coins. This does not constitute the actual insurance policy. It is only a general description of the plan. Please refer to plan documents

### City of New Haven 3-Tier Drug Rider

	New Plan	
	- Managed Three Tier Drug Rider	
Network	Access to over 680 Pharmacies in CT Access to over 65,000	
Network	pharmacies nationwide	
Participating Pharmacy		
Retail Copay-Generic	\$10.00	
Listed Brand Copay	\$25.00	
Non-Listed Brand Copay	\$40.00	
Non-Participating Pharmacy		
Deductible	\$0	
Coinsurance*	20%	
Supply Limits		
	30 day -1 copay	
Retail	30 day -1 copay	
Retail Mail Order Copays	30 day -1 copay 31-90 day supply-1 copay on generic, or 2 copay on brand	
Mail Order Copays		
Mail Order Copays Mail Order Program	31-90 day supply-1 copay on generic, or 2 copay on brand	
Mail Order Copays Mail Order Program * <sup>1</sup> Mandatory Mail Order	31-90 day supply-1 copay on generic, or 2 copay on brand  Yes-Mandatory On Maintenance Medications	
Mail Order Copays  Mail Order Program  * <sup>1</sup> Mandatory Mail Order  Drug Rider Maximums	31-90 day supply-1 copay on generic, or 2 copay on brand  Yes-Mandatory On Maintenance Medications  Unlimited per member per calendar year	
Mail Order Copays  Mail Order Program  * 1 Mandatory Mail Order  Drug Rider Maximums  2 Dispensed As Written Clause	31-90 day supply-1 copay on generic, or 2 copay on brand  Yes-Mandatory On Maintenance Medications  Unlimited per member per calendar year  MD Override not allowed  yes yes (up to 85% of prescription	
Mail Order Copays  Mail Order Program  * 1 Mandatory Mail Order  Drug Rider Maximums  2 Dispensed As Written Clause  3 Age / Gender	31-90 day supply-1 copay on generic, or 2 copay on brand  Yes-Mandatory On Maintenance Medications  Unlimited per member per calendar year  MD Override not allowed  yes	
Mail Order Copays  Mail Order Program  *1 Mandatory Mail Order  Orug Rider Maximums  *2 Dispensed As Written Clause  3 Age / Gender	31-90 day supply-1 copay on generic, or 2 copay on brand  Yes-Mandatory On Maintenance Medications  Unlimited per member per calendar year  MD Override not allowed  yes  yes (up to 85% of prescription needs to be completed)	
Mail Order Copays  Mail Order Program  *1 Mandatory Mail Order  Orug Rider Maximums  *2 Dispensed As Written Clause  3 Age / Gender  4 Refill Too Soon  5 Duplicate Therapy	31-90 day supply-1 copay on generic, or 2 copay on brand  Yes-Mandatory On Maintenance Medications  Unlimited per member per calendar year  MD Override not allowed  yes  yes (up to 85% of prescription needs to be completed)  yes	
Mail Order Copays  Mail Order Program  *1 Mandatory Mail Order  Orug Rider Maximums  *2 Dispensed As Written Clause  *3 Age / Gender  *4 Refill Too Soon  *5 Duplicate Therapy  *6 Quantity Limits	31-90 day supply-1 copay on generic, or 2 copay on brand  Yes-Mandatory On Maintenance Medications  Unlimited per member per calendar year  MD Override not allowed  yes  yes (up to 85% of prescription needs to be completed)  yes  yes	
Mail Order Copays  Mail Order Program  *1 Mandatory Mail Order  Orug Rider Maximums  *2 Dispensed As Written Clause  *3 Age / Gender  *4 Refill Too Soon  *5 Duplicate Therapy  *6 Quantity Limits  *7 Step Therapy	31-90 day supply-1 copay on generic, or 2 copay on brand  Yes-Mandatory On Maintenance Medications  Unlimited per member per calendar year  MD Override not allowed  yes  yes (up to 85% of prescription needs to be completed)  yes  yes  yes  yes	

<sup>\*</sup>Non-par pharmacists reimbursed at 80% of in network allowance. Member is also responsible for the difference between Anthem Blue Cross and Blue Shield's payment and the pharmacist's actual charge

<sup>\*1</sup> Mandatory Mail Order-You are required to use mail order on maintenace medication after 3 refills at the retail

copay when the doctor writes "Dispensed as Written" on the prescription. If the doctor fails to write "Dispensed as Written" on the prescription and member requests the brand with the generic available, the member will pay the difference between the cost of the generic and brand drug and the brand drug co-pay

<sup>\*3</sup> Age Gender-No benefits are available for medications prescribed outside the FDA age/gender recommendations

<sup>\*\*</sup>Refill Too Soon-Benefits will not be available for refill medications until a percentage of the prior medication has been used. (see % listed above)

<sup>\*5</sup>Duplicate Therapy-Identifies drugs with the same therapeutic value and can prevent toxicity

<sup>\*6</sup> Quantity Limits-Certain medications will be limited to quantities recommended to maintain clinically appropriate utilization and administration

<sup>\* 2</sup> Step Therapy-No benefits are available for Step Therapy protocol drugs without documented other medication failure

<sup>\*\*</sup>Prior Authorization-Certain medications will require a prior authorization prior to receiving the medication

# **APPENDIX A-2**

Elm City Local Pla	ans 10-17-19 Effective 12/01/19		
Benefit	Century Preferred PPO-2018	Bluecare POE-2018	Lumenos HDHP/H.S.A. Plan
Cost Shares	In-Network services subject to copays. Out-of- Network services subject to deductible and coinsurance.	In-Network Services only subject to copays	\$2,000 Ind /\$4,000 family shared in and out of network In-Network Medical covered at 100% after deductible Out of Network covered at 70/30% after deductible
	Copay-\$15 EPHC PCP Other PCP provider \$25 \$30 Specialist OV	Copay-\$15 EPHC PCP Other PCP provider \$25 \$30 Specialist OV	Out of Pocket Maximum \$4000/\$6850 In-Network Out of Pocket Maximum- \$4000/\$8000 Out-Of-Network
	\$150 Emergency Room/Ambulatory Services \$100/Urgent Care \$100	\$150 Emergency Room/Ambulatory Services \$100/Urgent Care \$100	RX covered with rx copays after the deductible
	\$200 Outpatient Surgery, \$250 Hospital Admission	\$200 Outpatient Surgery, \$250 Hospital Admission	
	\$75 High Cost Diagnostic up to \$375 maximum Lifetime Max. In/Out Network-Unlimited	\$75 High Cost Diagnostic up to \$375 maximum Lifetime Maximum In Network-Unlimited	Lifetime Maximum - Unlimited
Health Savings Account			
	N/A	N/A	Set up by City for each Member Funded at 65% of Deductible first year by City. Additional funding by member
			with pre tax \$\$\$ up to \$3,500/ \$7,000 combined annual limit in 2019
Out of Network Benefit			
	OON Network Deductible-\$2000/4000 Coinsurance-20%	No Out of Network Benefits  Members Must Use the Bluecare Provider Network to	OON Network Deductible shared with In network-\$2000/4000 Coinsurance-70/30%
	Out of Pocket Maximum-\$6000/\$12000 Lifetime Max. In/Out Network-Unlimited	receive payment on services. Lifetime Maximum for In network Services is Unlimited	Out of Pocket Maximum- \$4,000/\$8,000 out of network Lifetime Max In-Ntwrk Unlimited/Out-Ntwrk-Unlimited
Out of State Benefit			
	Uses the National Network and Bluecare PPO	Out of State Benefits are Covered Only in an Emergency or Urgent Situation	Uses the National Network and Bluecard PPO
In State Network			
	Uses the Cent Preferred PPO Network for In-Network Services	Members Must Use the Bluecare POE Provider Network	Uses the Cent Preferred Network for In-Network.
	Benefits for any other providers would be an Out of Network Benefit	to receive payment on services.	Benefits for any other providers would be an Out of Network Benefit
PREVENTIVE CARE	All Preventive services are provided in accordance with	All Preventive services are provided in accordance with	All Preventive services are provided in accordance with
PREVENTIVE CARE	guidelines established by Health Care Reform	guidelines established by Health Care Reform	guidelines established by Health Care Reform
Pediatric	No Copay	No Copay	Deductible Waived-No Copay
	7 exams Birth to One	7 exams Birth to One	7 exams Birth to one
	7 exams 1-5 years	7 exams 1-5 years	7 exams 1-5 years
	age 5 -22 years-Preventative exams allowed once a year	age 5 -22 years-Preventative exams allowed once a year	age 5-22 Preventive exams allowed once a year
Adult	No Copay	No Copay	Deductible Waived-No Copay
	22 and over-Preventative exams allowed once a year	22 and over-Preventative exams allowed once a year	22 and over preventive exams allowed once a year
Immunizations	Per Healthcare Reform guidelines	Per Healthcare Reform guidelines	Per Healthcare Reform Guidelines
Gynecological / Obstetrics	\$0 Copay for annual exam \$30 Copay Maternity-First Visit Only	\$0 Copay for annual exam \$30 Copay Maternity-First Visit Only	Deductible waived-\$0 Copay for annual exam  After deductible 100% In Network
Mammography	Age 35-39 Base Line Screening	Age 35-39 Base Line Screening	Age 35-39 Base Line Screening
wammography	40 and over once a year	40 and over once a year	40 and over once a year
	(Add'l Exams Available if Recommended by Doctor)	(Add'l Exams Available if Recommended by Doctor)	(Add'l Exams Available if Recommended by Doctor)
Hearing	No Copay (once every 2 calendar years)	No Copay (once every 2 calendar years)	No Copay (once every 2 calendar years)
	.10 Jopay (onoo overy 2 calendar years)	. 10 Jopay (Gride Gvery 2 deleridal years)	Deductible Waived
Vision-(See also BVV rider fact sheet for additional	No Copay (once every 2 calendar years)	No Copay (once every 2 calendar years)	No Copay (once every 2 calendar years)
vision benefits)			Deductible Waived

MEDICAL SERVICES			
	PCP Designation-Members must designate a PCP for subscribers and dependents	PCP Designation-Members must designate a PCP for subscribers and dependents	PCP Designation-Members must designate a PCP for subscribers and dependents
Medical office visits	·	·	·
	\$15 Copay EPHC PCP	\$15 Copay EPHC PCP	After Deductible - 100% Co-Insurance In-Network
	\$25 Other PCP Provider	\$25 Other PCP Provider	70% Out of Network
	\$30 Specialist	\$30 Specialist	
		providers have committed to providing enhanced care in your overall health	
Physical or Occupational	\$30 Copay	\$30 Copay	After Deductible 100% Co-Insurance in network; 70% out of network
Therapy	30 Combined Visits for pt, ot st	30 Combined Visits for pt, ot st	50 Combined visits for pt ot st and chiro
.,	20 visit for chiro-prior auth is required on pt/ot	20 visit for chiro-prior auth is required on pt/ot	excess rolls to out of network
Speech Therapy	\$30 Copay	\$30 Copay	After Deductible 100% Co-Insurance in network; 70% out of network
	30 Combined Visits for pt, ot st	30 Combined Visits for pt, ot st	50 Combined visits for pt ot st and chiro
	20 visit for chiro-prior auth is required on pt/ot	20 visit for chiro-prior auth is required on pt/ot	excess rolls to out of network
Chiropractic Services	\$30 Copay	\$30 Copay	After Deductible 100% Co-Insurance in network; 70% out of network
	30 Combined Visits for pt, ot st	30 Combined Visits for pt, ot st	50 Combined visits for pt ot st and chiro
	20 visit for chiro-prior auth is required on pt/ot	20 visit for chiro-prior auth is required on pt/ot	excess rolls to out of network
Allergy Services	\$30 Copay	\$30 Copay	After Deductible 100% Co-Insurance in network; 70% out of network
	80 visits in 3 years	80 visits in 3 years	Unlimited Injections
Lab & X-Ray	Covered	Covered	Covered
High Cost Diagnostics	High Cost Diagnostic (MRI, MRA, CAT, CTA, PET, Spect)	High Cost Diagnostic (MRI, MRA, CAT, CTA, PET, Spect)	After Deductible
•	requires prior auth and a \$75 copay per service up to a \$375 calendar year maximum	requires prior auth and a \$75 copay per service up to a \$375 calendar year maximum	High Cost Diagnostic (MRI, MRA, CAT, CTA, PET, Spect)
			After Deductible 100% Co-Insurance in network; 70% out of network
Outpatient Mental Health &	\$25 Copay	\$25 Copay	After Deductible 100% Co-Insurance in network; 70% out of network
Substance Abuse	Unlimited Visits	Unlimited Visits	Unlimited Visits
	Prior auth required	Prior auth required	Prior auth required
EMERGENCY CARE			
Emergency Room	\$150 Copay (waived if admitted)	\$150 Copay (waived if admitted)	After Deductible 100% Co-Insurance in network; 70% out of network
Urgent Care	\$100 Copay	\$100 Copay	After Deductible 100% Co-Insurance in network; 70% out of network
Walk-In Centers	\$25 Copay	\$25 Copay	After Deductible 100% Co-Insurance in network; 70% out of network
Ambulance	Unlimited for Land and Air	Unlimited for Land and Air	After Deductible 100% Co-Insurance in network; 70% out of network

INPATIENT HOSPITAL-			
Inpatient-General / Medical / Surgical / Maternity (Semi- Private)	All Hospital Admissions Require Pre-Cert \$250 Per Admission Copay	All Hospital Admissions Require Pre-Cert \$250 Per Admission Copay	All Hospital Admissions Require Pre-Cert After Deductible 100% in Network; 70% Out of Network
Ancillary Services- Medications and Supplies	Covered	Covered	All Hospital Admissions Require Pre-Cert After Deductible 100% in Network; 70% Out of Network
Mental Health	\$250 Copay Per Admission Copay	\$250 Copay Per Admission Copay	All Hospital Admissions Require Pre-Cert After Deductible 100% in Network; 70% Out of Network
	Unlimited Days	Unlimited Days	Unlimited Days
Substance Abuse	\$250 Per Admission Copay	\$250 Per Admission Copay	All Hospital Admissions Require Pre-Cert After Deductible 100% in Network; 70% Out of Network
	Unlimited Days	Unlimited Days	Unlimited Days
Rehabilitative Services	\$250 Per Admission Copay	\$250 Per Admission Copay	All Hospital Admissions Require Pre-Cert After Deductible 100% in Network; 70% Out of Network
	60 Days Per Calendar Year	60 Days Per Calendar Year	100 Days Per Calendar Year
Skilled Nursing Facility	\$250 Per Admission Copay	\$250 Per Admission Copay	All Hospital Admissions Require Pre-Cert After Deductible 100% in Network; 70% Out of Network
	120 Days Per calendar Year	120 Days Per calendar Year	120 Days Per calendar Year
Outpatient Surgery	Prior Authorization Required	Prior Authorization Required	Prior Authorization Required
(Facility Charges)	\$200 Copay	\$200 Copay	After Deductible 100% Co-Insurance in network; 70% out of network
	Ambulatory surgery - \$100	Ambulatory surgery- \$100	Ambulatory surgery (in a hospital setting) After Deductible 100% / 70%
Pre-Admission Testing	Covered	Covered	After Deductible 100% Co-Insurance in network; 70% out of network
Lab & X-Ray	Covered	Covered	Covered
High Cost Diagnostics	High Cost Diagnostic (MRI, MRA, CAT, CTA, PET, Spect)	High Cost Diagnostic (MRI, MRA, CAT, CTA, PET, Spect)	Prior Authorization Required
	requires prior auth and a \$75 copay per service up to a \$375 calendar year maximum	requires prior auth and a \$75 copay per service up to a \$375 calendar year maximum	High Cost Diagnostic (MRI, MRA, CAT, CTA, PET, Spect)
			After Deductible 100% Co-Insurance in network; 70% out of network
OTHER SERVICES			
Durable Medical Equipment	Covered at 100%	Covered at 100%	After Deductible 100% Co-Insurance in network 70% out of network
(Including Prosthetics)			
Foot Orthotics	Not Covered	Not Covered	After Deductible 100% Co-Insurance in network 70% out of network
Home Health Care	Covered	Covered	After Deductible 100% Co-Insurance in network 70% out of network
	200 Visits OON-\$50 Deductible & 20% Coinsurance	200 Visits	200 visits 80 aide visits
Hospice	Covered	Covered	After Deductible 100% Co-Insurance in network; 70% out of network
Acupuncture	\$30 Copay	\$30 Copay	Unlimited After Deductible 100% Co-Insurance in network; 70% out of network
			unlimited visits

TMJ	Not Covered	Not Covered	Not Covered	
Gastric Bypass	Covered	Covered	After Deductible 100% Co-Insurance in network; 70% out of network	
Infertility	\$30 office Visit Copay	\$30 Office Visit Copay	After Deductible 100% Co-Insurance in network; 70% out of network	
	State Mandate Level-Prior Auth required	State Mandate Level-Prior Auth required	State Mandate Level-Prior Auth required	
	Some Restrictions May Apply	Some Restrictions May Apply	Some Restrictions May Apply	
Oral Surgery	Not Covered	Not Covered	After Deductible 100% Co-Insurance in network; 70% out of network	
			Removal of impacted teeth, cutting procedures, full or partial dentures, fixed bridgework and prompt repair to natural teeth due to accidental injury while covered-including Dental Anesthesia	
Private Duty Nursing	No Copay	No Copay	After Deductible 100% Co-Insurance in network; 70% out of network	
	Up to a \$15,000 Maximum per member per calendar year	Up to a \$15,000 Maximum per member per calendar year	Up to a \$15,000 Maximum per member per calendar year	
Prescriptions				
Tier 1 - Generics	\$5	\$5	After deductible, \$5	
Tier 2 - Formulary Brand	\$30	\$30	After deductible, \$15	
Tier 3 - Non-Formulary	\$50	\$50	After deductible, \$25	
Tier 4 - Speciality	Specialty Drugs	Specialty Drugs		
Mail Order				
(up to 90 day supply) Tier 1 - Generics	\$10	\$10	After deductible, \$10	
	\$10 \$60	\$60	After deductible, \$10  After deductible, \$30	
Tier 2 - Formulary Brand Tier 3 - Non-Formulary	\$100 \$100	\$100	After deductible, \$50	
Tier 4 - Speciality	Specialty Drugs	Specialty Drugs	Aitel deductible, \$50	
	Mandatory Mail Order / Mandatory Generic	Mandatory Mail Order / Mandatory Generic	Mandatory Generic	
	Step Therapy	Step Therapy	Step Therapy	
	Prior Authorization	Prior Authorization	Prior Authorization	
	Quantity Limits	Quantity Limits	Quantity Limits	
			Diabetic medication is subject to deductible and Rx copays	
Mandatory Specialty	With Half Fill program	With Half Fill program	·	

## APPENDIX B

# **City of New Haven Health Incentive Plan (HIP)**

Under the Health Incentive Plan (HIP) the member will be required to:

- 1. Designate a PCP, each covered individual will have to identify a doctor as their personal physician.
- 2. Have the recommended preventative screenings and/or physical examination with a physician as is age and gender appropriate, including:
  - Annual Biometric screenings, BMI, glucose, blood pressure & cholesterol (for most members this is part of the annual physical)
  - Cervical cancer screening for females over 21 every 3 years
  - Baseline mammogram for females over 40
  - Baseline colonoscopy for all after 50
  - Prostate screening for males over 50
  - At least one routine dental checkup and cleaning annually
- 3. Chronic Health Compliance Members who have been identified with certain chronic health conditions must participate in the ConditionCare Disease Management program. Compliance is based solely on participation, for example, does the member take the phone call from the nurse case manager who will monitor medication usage and the like. It is not based on any clinical outcome.

More particularly, members are identified based on clinical data by Anthem, and then they are contacted by a case manager from Anthem, who reviews their treatment and medication, etc. to help insure they are managing their condition properly. Please note that ConditionCare is already part of your plan today. Members with these diseases are already being contacted. All the HIP does is require them to take the phone call and interact with the case manager and not ignore the call as sometimes happens today.

Tracking Compliance - Compliance will be tracked on a calendar year basis, then it will take several months to contact those not in compliance before instituting the penalty payment the following July 1st. It will work as follows:

The City would not actually begin tracking HIP compliance until calendar year 2020. The City will receive data from Anthem in February 2021 for the previous calendar year and contact all those not in compliance. They would then have until June to get in compliance or furnish documentation that they were already in compliance. Those that do not, would begin paying the additional monthly medical deduction in July 2021. They will pay that additional fee for each month they remain non-compliant; as soon as they are in compliance, however, the additional fee will be removed.

The penalty will be an additional monthly charge for medical of Single coverage: \$50 / Two Person coverage: \$75 / Family coverage: \$100. It does not matter how many items you are in non-compliance on, one or more, the penalty is the same. The member can appeal the penalty to the City's Plan Administrator. More

importantly, they will have been notified several times in writing prior to any penalty being implemented. The City will review for compliance annually on a calendar year basis. Any penalties will not be assessed until the following July 1st.

No member will ever be fined for following the advice of their doctor. The ConditionCare program and the nurse case manager are only involved to reinforce what the doctor is advising, not replace it.

## APPENDIX C

### WELCOME TO BLUE VIEW VISION!

Good news—your vision plan is flexible and easy to use. This benefit summary outlines the basic components of your plan, including quick answers about what's covered, your discounts, and much more!



# Group Name Effective Date



# Blue View Vision<sup>SM</sup> A.20.20 130.130

## Your Blue View Vision network

Blue View Vision offers you one of the largest vision care networks in the industry, with a wide selection of experienced ophthalmologists, optometrists, and opticians. Blue View Vision's network also includes convenient retail locations, many with evening and weekend hours, including LensCrafters®, Sears Optical®, JCPenney® Optical and most Pearle Vision® locations. Best of all – when you receive care from a Blue View Vision participating provider, you can maximize your benefits and money-saving discounts. Members may call Blue View Vision toll-free at (866) 723-0515 with questions about vision benefits or provider locations.

#### Out-of-network services

Did we mention we're flexible? You can choose to receive care outside of the Blue View Vision network. You simply get an allowance toward services and you pay the rest. (In-network benefits and discounts will not apply.) Just pay in full at the time of service and then file a claim for reimbursement.

### YOUR BLUE VIEW VISION PLAN AT-A-GLANCE

TOOM BLOC VIEW VIOLO	T LAN AT A GLANGE		
VISION CARE SERVICES		IN-NETWORK	OUT-OF-NETWORK
Routine eye exam - once every calendar year		\$20 copay, then covered in full	\$48 allowance
Eyeglass frames Once every calendar year you following allowance toward the	may select an eyeglass frame and receive the purchase price:	\$130 allowance then 20% off any remaining balance	\$64 allowance
Eyeglass lenses (Standard) Factory scratch coating inclu Polycarbonate lenses included Transitions® lenses included	uded led for children under 19 years old. If for children under 19 years old.		
Once every calendar year you m.  Standard plastic s  Standard plastic b  Standard plastic tr		\$20 copay, then covered in full \$20 copay, then covered in full \$20 copay, then covered in full	\$36 allowance \$54 allowance \$69 allowance
Eyeglass lens upgrades When receiving services from a Blue View Vision provider, you may choose to upgrade your new eyeglass lenses at a discounted cost. Eyeglass lens copayment applies.  1 Please ask your provider for his/her recommendation as well as the progressive brands by tier. 2 Please ask your provider for his/her recommendation as well as the coating brands by tier. Contact lenses – once every	Lens Options  UV Coating  Tint (Solid and Gradient)  Standard Polycarbonate  Transitions® lenses  Progressive Lenses¹  Standard  Premium Tier 1  Premium Tier 2  Premium Tier 3  Standard Anti-Reflective Coating²  Premium Tier 1 Anti-Reflective Coating²  Premium Tier 2 Anti-Reflective Coating²  Other Add-ons and Services	\$15 \$15 \$15 \$40 \$75 \$65 \$91 \$97 \$103 \$45 \$57 \$68 20% off retail price	Discounts on lens upgrades are not available out-of-network
calendar year Prefer contact lenses over glasses? You may choose contact lenses instead of eyeglass lenses and receive an allowance toward the cost	Elective Conventional Lenses	\$130 allowance then 15% off any remaining balance	\$105 allowance
	Elective Disposable Lenses	\$130 allowance (no additional discount)	\$105 allowance
of a supply of contact lenses.	Non-Elective Contact Lenses	Covered in full	\$210 allowance
Your contact lens allowance can only be applied toward the first purchase of contacts you make during a benefit period.	Any unused amount remaining cannot be used for subsequent purchases made during the same benefit period, nor can any unused amount be carried over to the following benefit period.		

Transitions and the swirf are registered trademarks of Transitions Optical, Inc. Photochromic performance is influenced by temperature. UV exposure and lens material

#### VISION CARE SERVICES

#### Contact lens fitting and follow-up

A contact lens fitting and two follow-up visits are available to you once a comprehensive eye exam has been completed.

Standard contact fitting\*

Premium contact lens fitting\*\*

### IN-NETWORK **Member Cost** Fitting and follow up visits up to \$55 10% off retail price

#### **OUT-OF NETWORK**

Discounts not available out-of-network

\*A standard contact lens fitting includes spherical clear contact lenses for conventional wear and planned replacement. Examples include but are not limited to disposable and frequent replacement.

\*\*A premium contact lens fitting includes all lens designs, materials and specialty fittings other than standard contact lenses. Examples include but are not limited to toric and multifocal.

Discounts - Savings on additional eyewear and accessories - After you use your initial frame or contact lens allowance, you can take advantage of discounts on additional prescription eyeglasses, conventional contact lenses, and eyewear accessories courtesy of Blue View Vision network providers.

#### **BLUE VIEW VISION ADDITIONAL SAVINGS** MEMBER SAVINGS **Additional Pair of Complete** 40% discount off retail\* Eyeglasses Contact Lenses - Conventional 15% off retail price (Discount applied to materials only) Eyewear Accessories 20% off retail price Includes some non-prescription sunglasses, lens cleaning supplies, contact lens solutions and eyeglass cases, etc. \*items purchased separately are

#### LASER VISION CORRECTION SURGERY

Glasses or contacts may not be the answer for everyone. That's why we offer further savings with discounts on refractive surgery. Pay a discounted amount per eye for LASIK Vision correction. For more information, go to SpecialOffers at anthem.com and select vision care.

## USING YOUR BLUE VIEW VISION PLAN

The Blue View Vision network is for routine eye care only. If you need medical treatment for your eyes, visit a participating eye care physician from your medical network.

#### **OUT-OF-NETWORK**

If you choose an out-of-network provider, please complete the out-ofnetwork claim form and submit it along with your itemized receipt to the below fax number, email address, or mailing address. When visiting an out-of-network provider, you are responsible for payment of services and/or eyewear materials at the time of service.

To Fax: 866-293-7373

To Email: oonclaims@eyewearspecialoffers.com

To Mail: Blue View Vision Attn: OON Claims

P.O. Box 8504 Mason, OH 45040-7111

#### **EXCLUSIONS & LIMITATIONS**

discounted 20% off the retail price Blue View Vision's Additional Savings

Program is subject to change without

This is a primary vision care benefit and is intended to cover only eye examinations and corrective eyewear. Covered materials that are lost or broken will be replaced only at normal service intervals indicated in the plan design; however, these materials and any items not covered below may be purchased at preferred pricing from Blue View Vision provider. In addition, benefits are payable only for expenses incurred while the group and insured person's coverage is in force.

Combined Offers. Not combined with any offer, coupon, or in-store advertisement. Experimental or Investigative. Any experimental or investigative services or

Crime or Nuclear Energy. Conditions that result from: (1) insured person's commission of or attempt to commit a felony; or (2) any release of nuclear energy, whether or not the result of war, when government funds are available Uninsured. Services received before insured person's effective date or after

coverage ends.

Excess Amounts. Any amounts in excess of covered vision expense Routine Exams or Tests. Routine examinations required by an employer in

connection with insured person's employment.

Work-Related. Work-related conditions if benefits are recovered or can be recovered. either by adjudication, settlement or otherwise, under any workers' compensation, employer's liability law or occupational disease law, even if insured person does not claim those benefits.

Government Treatment. Any services actually given to the insured person by a local, state or federal government agency, except when payment under this plan is expressly required by federal or state law. We will not cover payment for these services if insured person is not required to pay for them or they are given to the Services of Relatives. Professional services or supplies received from a person who

lives in insured person's home or who is related to insured person by blood or

Voluntary Payment. Services for which insured person is not legally obligated to pay. Services for which insured person is not charged. Services for which no charge is made in the absence of insurance coverage

Not Specifically Listed. Services not specifically listed in this plan as covered

Private Contracts. Services or supplies provided pursuant to a private contract between the insured person and a provider, for which reimbursement under the Medicare program is prohibited, as specified in Section 1802 (42 U.S.C. 1395a) of Title XVIII of the Social Security Act.

Eye Surgery. Any medical or surgical treatment of the eyes and any diagnostic testing. Any eye surgery solely or primarily for the purpose of correcting refractive defects of the eye such as nearsightedness (myopia) and/or astigmatism. Contact lenses and eyeglasses required as a result of this surgery.

Sunglasses. Sunglasses and accompanying frames. Safety Glasses. Safety glasses and accompanying frames.

Hospital Care. Inpatient or outpatient hospital vision care.

Orthoptics. Orthoptics or vision training and any associated supplemental testing. Non-Prescription Lenses. Any non-prescription lenses, eyeglasses or contacts. Plano lenses or lenses that have no refractive power.

Lost or Broken Lenses or Frames. Any lost or broken lenses or frames, unless insured person has reached a new benefit period. Frames. Discount is not available on certain frame brands in which the

manufacturer imposes a no discount policy.

Disclaimer:

This information is intended to be a brief outline of coverage. All terms and conditions of coverage, including benefits and exclusions, are contained in the member's Policy, which shall control in the event of a conflict with this overview.

This benefit overview insert is only one piece of your entire enrollment package. Exclusions and limitations are listed in the enrollment brochure

Arithem Blue Cross and Blue Shield is the trade name of: In Connecticut: Anthem Health Plans, Inc. In Maine: Anthem Health Plans of Maine, Inc. In New Hampshire: Anthem Health Plans of New Hampshire: In Connecticut: Anthem Health Plans of Maine, Inc. In New Hampshire: Anthem Health Plans of New Ha

#### Full Dental Plan

The Full Dental Plan is designed to cover diagnostic, preventive and restorative procedures necessary for adequate dental health.

#### Covered services include:

- ♦ Oral Examinations
- · Periapical and bitewing x-rays
- Topical fluoride applications for those under age 19
- ♦ Prophylaxis, including cleaning, scaling and polishing
- Repair of dentures
- Palliative emergency treatment
- Routine fillings consisting of silver amalgam and tooth color materials; including stainless steel crowns (primary teeth)\*
- ♦ Simple extractions\*\*
- Endodontics including pulpotomy, direct pulp capping and root canal therapy (excluding restoration)
- \* Payment for an inlay, onlay or crown will equal the amount payable for a three-surface amalgam filling when the member is not covered by the Dental Amendatory Rider A.
- \*\* Payment for a surgical extraction or a hemisection with root removal will equal the amount payable for a simple extraction when the member is not covered by Dental Amendatory Rider A.

#### ACCESSING BENEFITS:

#### Participating Dentists Benefits.

When receiving care from one of over 1,800 Participating Dentists, the member simply presents an identification card showing dental coverage. The dentist bills us directly for all covered services.

For dental care provided by a participating Dentist, we pay the lesser of the dentist's usual charge or the Usual, Customary and Reasonable Charge as determined by us. The dentist accepts our reimbursement as full payment and may not bill the member for any additional charges.

#### Non-Participating Dentists Benefits

For covered dental services provided by a Non-Participating Dentist, in or out of Connecticut, we pay an amount equal to the dentist's usual charge or the applicable allowance for the procedure, as determined by us. The member is responsible for any difference between the amount paid by us and the fee charged by the dentist.

This does not constitute our health plan or insurance policy. It is only a general description for the purposes of this Request for Proposal, of the Anthem Blue Cross & Blue Shield Full Dental Plan. Refer to your Master Group Policy or Description of Benefits, on file with your employer, for a complete listing of benefits, maximums, exclusions and limitations.

## DENTAL AMENDATORY RIDER A ADDITIONAL BASIC BENEFITS

In addition to the services provided under your dental program, the following additional basic benefits are provided:

- Inlays (not part of bridge)
- Onlays (not part of bridge)
- Crown (not part of bridge)
- Space Maintainers
- Oral Surgery consisting of fracture and dislocation treatment, diagnosis and treatment of cyst and abscess, surgical extractions and impaction
- Apicoectomy

## The dental services listed above are subject to the following qualifications:

- We will pay for individual crowns, inlays and onlays only when amalgam or synthetic fillings would not be satisfactory for the retention of the tooth, as determined by us.
- We will not pay for a replacement provided less than five (5) years following a placement or replacement which was covered under this Rider. We will not pay for individual crowns, inlays or onlays to alter vertical dimension, for the purpose of precision attachment of dentures, or when they are splinted together for any reason.
- If the member is not covered by Dental Amendatory Rider C (Prosthodontics) we will pay
  for the following types of crowns, inlays or onlays, but only when there is clinical evidence
  that amalgam or synthetic fillings would not be satisfactory for the retention of the tooth:
  - One tooth on either side or two teeth on one side of a replacement for missing teeth, as part of a fixed bridge.
  - 2. No benefits will be provided for the tooth replacements.
  - Space maintainers payment will be made for devices to preserve space due to
    premature loss of primary teeth, but not for interceptive orthodontic devices. Payment
    will be made for up to two devices per member per lifetime.

#### ACCESSING BENEFITS

#### Participating Dentists Benefits

Anthem Blue Cross & Blue Shield will pay the lesser of fifty percent of the dentist's usual charge or fifty percent of the Usual, Customary and Reasonable Charge, as determined by us, for the dental services described in this Rider. Dentists who participate in our dental programs agree to accept our allowance as full payment and may not bill the member for any additional charges except for the remaining coinsurance balance.

## Non-Participating Dentists Benefits

In the event a non-participating dentist renders these services, we will pay to the member the lesser of fifty percent of the dentist's charge or fifty percent of the applicable allowance for the procedure as determined by us. The member is responsible for any difference between the amount paid by us and the fee charged by the dentist.

This does not constitute your health plan or insurance policy. It is only a general description of the Anthem Blue Cross and Blue Shield Dental Amendatory Rider A.

# DENTAL AMENDATORY RIDER B PROSTHODONTICS

The following prosthetic services are provided under Dental Amendatory Rider B:

- Denture, full and partial
- Bridges, fixed and removable
- · Addition of teeth to partial dentures to replace extracted teeth

The dental services listed above are subject to the following qualifications:

Anthem Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Connecticut will pay for standard procedures for prosthetic services as determined by us. For fixed bridges, we will pay for the replacement of missing teeth and for one tooth on either side or two teeth on one side of the replacement. We will not pay for a denture or bridge replacement, which is provided less than five years following a placement or replacement, which was covered under the contract. We also not pay for crowns splinted together for any reason.

#### ACCESSING BENEFITS:

## **Participating Dentists Benefits**

Anthem Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Connecticut will pay the lesser of fifty percent of the dentist's usual charge or fifty percent of Usual, Customary and Reasonable Charge, as determined by us, for the dental services described in this Rider. Dentists who participate in our dental programs agree to accept our allowance as full payment and may bot bill the member for any additional charges except for the remaining coinsurance balance.

### Non-Participating Dentist Benefits

In the event a non-participating dentist renders these services, we will pay to the member the lesser of fifty percent of the dentist's charge of fifty percent of the applicable allowance for the procedure as determined by us. The member is responsible for any difference between the amount paid by us and the fee charged by the dentist.

This does not constitute your health plan or insurance policy. It is only a general description for the purposes of this Request for Proposal, of the Anthem Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Connecticut Dental Amendatory Rider B. Refer to your Master Group Policy or Description of Benefits, on file with your employer, for a complete listing of benefits, maximums, exclusions and limitations.

# DENTAL AMENDATORY RIDER C PERIODONTICS

Periodontal services consisting of:

- Gingival curettage
- Gingivectomy and gingivoplasty
- Osseous surgery, including flap entry and closure
- Mucogingivoplastic surgery
- Management of acute infection and oral lesions

The maximum benefit we will provide for periodontal services per person per year is \$500.00.

#### ACCESSING BENEFITS:

#### Participating Dentists Benefits

Anthem Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Connecticut will pay the lesser of fifty percent of the dentist's usual charge or fifty percent of the Usual, Customary and Reasonable Charge, as determined by us, for the dental services described in the Rider. Dentists who participate in our dental programs agree to accept our allowance as full payment and may not bill the member for any additional charges except for the remaining coinsurance balance.

## Non-Participating Dentists Benefits

In the event a non-participating dentist renders these services, we will pay to the member the lesser of fifty percent of the dentist's charge of fifty percent of the applicable allowance for the procedure as determined by us. The member is responsible for any difference between the amount paid by us and the fee charged by the dentist.

This does not constitute your health plan or insurance policy. It is only a general description for the purposes of this Request for Proposal, of the Anthem Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Connecticut Dental Amendatory Rider C. Refer to your Master Group Policy or Description of Benefits, on file with your employer, for a complete listing of benefits, maximums, exclusions and limitations.

# DENTAL AMENDATORY RIDER D ORTHODONTICS

The following Orthodontic services are provided:

Handicapping malocclusion for a member under age 19, consisting of the installation of orthodontic appliances and orthodontic treatments concerned with the reduction or elimination of an existing malocclusion through the correction of malposed teeth.

The maximum amount payable for orthodontic services is \$600.00 per member per lifetime.

#### ACCESSING BENEFITS:

## **Participating Dentists Benefits**

Anthem Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Connecticut will pay sixty percent of the Usual, Customary and Reasonable Charge, as determined by us, for the dental services described in this Rider. Dentists who participate in our dental programs agree to accept our allowance as full payment and may not bill the member for any additional charges except for the remaining coinsurance balance.

## Non-Participating Dentists Benefits

In the event a non-participating dentist renders these services, we will pay to the member the lesser of sixty percent of the dentist's charge or sixty percent of the applicable allowance for the procedure as determined by us. The member is responsible for any difference between the amount paid by us and the fee charged by the dentist.

This does not constitute your health plan or insurance policy. It is only a general description for the purposes of this Request for Proposal, of the Anthem Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Connecticut Dental Amendatory Rider D. Refer to your Master Group Policy or Description of Benefits, on file with your employer, for a complete listing of benefits, maximums, exclusions and limitations.